# University of KwaZulu-Natal

# The governance-institutions nexus in water management for climate change adaptation in smallholder irrigation schemes in Zimbabwe

By

Liboster Mwadzingeni

A Thesis Submitted in Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) in Food Security School of Agricultural, Earth and Environmental Sciences

College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science

University of KwaZulu-Natal

South Africa

December 2021

### ABSTRACT

Smallholder irrigation schemes (SISs) are crucial for improving food and income security in rural communities in a changing climate. However, despite huge investments and substantial development, most of the schemes have been performing below expectations. This study synthesizes governance-institutional nexus in water management from climate change adaptation in SISs, highlighting the linkage between scheme management and climate change. This study used qualitative and quantitative surveys to collect data from 317 scheme farmers in Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu irrigation schemes of Midlands province, Zimbabwe.

The overall objective of this study was to explore the governance-institutions nexus in water management for climate change adaptation in SISs. The specific objectives of the study were: (1) to assess livelihood vulnerability of households in SISs to climate change, (2) to assess the impacts of institutional and governance factors on the adaptive capacity of SISs, (3) to identify gendered perception on the prevalence and management of pests in SISs given climate variability and change, and (4) to assess the water footprint and nutrient content for the crops grown in the schemes. To achieve these objectives, different studies were conducted.

In the first component of the study, the Livelihood Vulnerability Index (LVI) and the Livelihood Vulnerability Index—Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (LVI-IPCC) was used to compare vulnerability to climate change in the Exchange, Insukamini, and Ruchanyu SISs in the Midlands Province of Zimbabwe. Results show higher exposure and sensitivity to climate change in the Insukamini irrigation scheme despite the higher adaptive capacity. Both LVI and LVI-IPCC show that households in Insukamini irrigation scheme are more vulnerable to climate change than in Exchange and Ruchanyu irrigation schemes, attributed to water insecurity, poor social networks, and droughts. The study recommends that development and investment in Insukamini and Ruchanyu should prioritize improving social networks while Exchange should primarily focus on improving livelihood strategies. Vulnerability analysis using LVI-IPCC is crucial to better understand the vulnerability of smallholder irrigation schemes farmers to climate change. For instance, it can be used to explore the contribution of socio-economic, institutional and governance factors to the vulnerability of the SIS communities. This will contribute to improved water management for climate change adaptation.

This chapter reveals factors that can be considered to increase the resilience SISs in a more variable climate.

In the second component of the study, socio-demographic, governance and institutional factors that influence adaptive capacity in Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu irrigation schemes were explored. Questionnaire-based interviews, group discussions and key informant interviews were used for data collection. Adaptive capacity calculated using the livelihood vulnerability model was used as the dependent variable. Ordinary least square regression was used to assess socio-demographic, institutional and governance factors influencing adaptive capacity in the smallholder irrigation schemes. We accept the hypothesis that stronger institutions positively influence the adaptive capacity of smallholder irrigation systems. The study reveals that adaptive capacity was significantly ( $P \le 5\%$ ) influenced by a margin of 0.026 for age squared, 0.073 for gender, 0.087 for education, 0.137 for household size, -0.248 for satisfaction with irrigation committee, 0.356 for participation in irrigation water scheduling, and -0.235 for participation formulation of rules. This chapter reveals factors that can be considered to adaptation to climate change in SISs.

In the third component of the study, Mann-Whitney U test was employed to assess perception on the prevalence of pests between male and female farmers. Findings from this study depict that the females perceived a higher prevalence of cutworms (*Agrotis Ipsilon*) ( $P \le 0.01$ ), red spider mites (*Tetranychus urticae*) ( $P \le 0.01$ ), maize grain weevils (Sitophilus Zeamais) ( $P \le 0.01$ ), and termites (*Isoptera*) ( $P \le 0.01$ ) than males, while men perceive a higher prevalence of fall armyworms (*Spodoptera Frugiperda*) ( $P \le 0.01$ ), bollworms (*Helicoverpa armigera*) ( $P \le 0.01$ ) and whiteflies (*Aleyrodidae*) ( $P \le 0.1$ ) than females. Perception of the prevalence of pests was based on farmers' experience and shapes how they manage pests. Utilisation of gendered perception on pest in this chapter enables institutions and governance systems to consider gendered perception on climate change adaptation. Meanwhile, understanding water footprint is crucial to advise farmers to grow water use efficiency crops.

Lastly, water footprint approach was used to assess the water metrics and nutrient-water matrix of food crops grown in three SISs in Midlands Province, Zimbabwe. The nutritional matrix of food crops was calculated based on the study done in Exchange, Insukamini, and Ruchanyu Irrigation Schemes in Zimbabwe. Given that the average yield ranges from 1.04 t/ha for sugar beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) to 30.60 t/ha for cucumber (*Cucumis Sativus*), the water footprint ranges from

278.85 m<sup>3</sup>/t for cucumber to 4762.98m<sup>3</sup>/t for sugar beans. Maize (*Zea Mays*) and wheat (*Triticum Aestivum*) are energy and carbohydrates rich crops with lower water footprints. Sugar beans have a higher protein content and water footprint, okra have high zinc content and low water footprint, while wheat has higher iron content and low water footprints. Interventions should focus on improving water footprint and opt for crops with the higher nutrient value of key nutritional elements like protein, zinc, and iron to fight hidden hunger. Climate change adaptation in SISs needs understanding of water footprint and nutrient security of the scheme communities.

## DECLARATION

I, Liboster Mwadzingeni, declare that:

1. The research reported in this thesis, except where otherwise indicated, is my original research.

2. This thesis has not been submitted for any degree or examination at any other University.

3. This thesis does not contain other persons' data, pictures, graphs or other information, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other persons.

4. This thesis does not contain other persons' writing, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other researchers. Where other written sources have been quoted, then:

a. Their words have been re-written, but the general information attributed to them has

been referenced.

b. Where their exact words have been used, then their writing has been placed in italics and inside quotation marks and referenced.

5. This thesis does not contain text, graphics or tables copied and pasted from the internet, unless specifically acknowledged, and the source being detailed in the thesis and in the references sections.

Signed

.....

Liboster Mwadzingeni

As the candidate's supervisors, we agree to the submission of this thesis:

.....

Prof. Paramu L Mafongoya (Supervisor)

.....

Dr. Raymond Mugandani (Co-Supervisor)

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Glory be to Almighty God for protecting me while I was studying.

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my supervisors Prof Paramu L Mafongoya and Dr Raymond Mugandani, for dedicating their time, knowledge, wisdom, expertise, and resources to encouraging, guiding, and supporting throughout the duration of this study. I gained knowledge from their constructive advice, comments, and review of my work. In appreciation of all their efforts and investment in me, I will strive to continue contributing until I achieve their intended goals.

I would like to acknowledge the National Research Foundation of South Africa (NRF-SA) for funding my studies.

I would also want to acknowledge Agricultural Technical and Extension Service (AGRITEX) Management in the Midlands Province (headed by Magwenzi) for their support on logistical arrangements and providing technical information about the three SISs during the study. We would also like to thank the extension workers and farmers in Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu irrigation schemes for their patience in responding to the questionnaire. We also acknowledge the enumerators who worked relentlessly during the survey period.

Many thanks to all my friends and colleagues at the University of KwaZulu-Natal for their moral and technical support.

I am grateful to my family is highly appreciated for unwavering support throughout this study.

# DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to Phyllis, Kangamwiro and Learnmore.

BSTRACT
DECLARATIONiv
DEDICATION v
ABLE OF CONTENTS
IST OF TABLES x
IST OF FIGURES xi
IST OF ACRONYMSxii
HAPTER 1:
NTRODUCTION
1.1 Background to thesis
1.2 Problem Statement
1.3 Justification
1.4 Research Questions
1.5 Objectives
References
2HAPTER 2
HAPTER 2
THAPTER 2
CHAPTER 2    1      OYNAMICS OF VULNERABILITY IN SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES TO    1      CHANGING CLIMATE IN ZIMBABWE    1      bstract    1
CHAPTER 2    1      DYNAMICS OF VULNERABILITY IN SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES TO    1      CHANGING CLIMATE IN ZIMBABWE    1      .bstract    1      .1 Introduction    1
CHAPTER 2    1      DYNAMICS OF VULNERABILITY IN SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES TO    1      CHANGING CLIMATE IN ZIMBABWE    1      Ibstract    1      .1 Introduction    1      2.3 Potential impact of climate change on SISs    1'
CHAPTER 2    1      DYNAMICS OF VULNERABILITY IN SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES TO    1      CHANGING CLIMATE IN ZIMBABWE    1      Ibstract    1      .1 Introduction    1      2.3 Potential impact of climate change on SISs    1      .1 Impact on rainfall    1
2HAPTER 2    1      2YNAMICS OF VULNERABILITY IN SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES TO    1      2HANGING CLIMATE IN ZIMBABWE    1      abstract    1      bstract    1      1 Introduction    1      2.3 Potential impact of climate change on SISs    1      2.3.1 Impact on rainfall    1      2.3.2 Impact on temperature    1
2HAPTER 2    1      DYNAMICS OF VULNERABILITY IN SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES TO    1      2HANGING CLIMATE IN ZIMBABWE    1
EHAPTER 2    1      DYNAMICS OF VULNERABILITY IN SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES TO    1      EHANGING CLIMATE IN ZIMBABWE    1      .bstract    1      .l Introduction    1      2.3 Potential impact of climate change on SISs    1'      2.3.1 Impact on rainfall    16      2.3.2 Impact on temperature    19      2.3.3 Impact of droughts, cyclones, and floods    19      2.3.4 Impact on water resources    20
HAPTER 2    1      DYNAMICS OF VULNERABILITY IN SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES TO    1      CHANGING CLIMATE IN ZIMBABWE    1      .bstract    1      .1 Introduction    1      .2.3 Potential impact of climate change on SISs    1'      2.3.1 Impact on rainfall    1'      2.3.2 Impact on temperature    1'      2.3.3 Impact of droughts, cyclones, and floods    1'      2.3.4 Impact on water resources    2'      2.3.5 Impact of climate change on SISs    2'
HAPTER 2    1      DYNAMICS OF VULNERABILITY IN SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES TO    1      HANGING CLIMATE IN ZIMBABWE    1      .bstract    1      .bstract    1      .1 Introduction    1      2.3 Potential impact of climate change on SISs    1'      2.3.1 Impact on rainfall    1'      2.3.2 Impact on temperature    1'      2.3.3 Impact of droughts, cyclones, and floods    1'      2.3.4 Impact on water resources    2'      2.3.5 Impact of climate change on SISs    2'      2.3.5.1 Water stress    2'
HAPTER 2    1      DYNAMICS OF VULNERABILITY IN SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES TO    1      HANGING CLIMATE IN ZIMBABWE    1      .bstract    1      .1 Introduction    1      2.3 Potential impact of climate change on SISs    1'      2.3.1 Impact on rainfall    1      2.3.2 Impact on temperature    19      2.3.3 Impact of droughts, cyclones, and floods    19      2.3.4 Impact on water resources    20      2.3.5 Impact of climate change on SISs    2      2.3.5.1 Water stress.    2      2.3.5.2 Competing needs    2
HAPTER 2    1      DYNAMICS OF VULNERABILITY IN SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES TO    1      HANGING CLIMATE IN ZIMBABWE    1      .bstract    1      .1 Introduction    1      2.3 Potential impact of climate change on SISs    1'      2.3.1 Impact on rainfall    1'      2.3.2 Impact on temperature    1'      2.3.3 Impact of droughts, cyclones, and floods    1'      2.3.4 Impact on water resources    2'      2.3.5 Impact of climate change on SISs    2'      2.3.5.1 Water stress    2'      2.3.5.2 Competing needs    2'      2.3.5.3 Pests    2'

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.4.1 Socio-economic conditions	
2.4.2 Water management	
2.5 Gaps, limitations and areas for future research	
2.5.1 Gaps and limitations of vulnerability studies	
2.5.2 Area of future research	
2.6 Conclusion	
References	
CHAPTER 3	
ASSESSING VULNERABILITY TO CLIMATE CHANGE IN SMALLHOLDER	
IRRIGATION SCHEMES OF ZIMBABWE	
Abstract	
3.1. Introduction	
3.2. Materials and methods	
3.2.1. Study area	
3.2.2. Data collection	
3.2.3. Data analysis	
3.2.4. IPCC framework of calculating LVI	
3.3. Results	
Comparing LVI among schemes	
3.4. Discussion	
IPCC framework of calculating LVI	58
3.5. Conclusions	59
References	60
CHAPTER 4	
SOCIO-DEMOGRAPHIC, INSTITUTIONAL AND GOVERNANCE FACTORS	
INFLUENCING ADAPTIVE CAPACITY OF SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCH	EMES IN
ZIMBABWE	
Abstract	
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Methodology	71
4.2.1 Study area	71
4.2.2 Data collection	

4.2.3 Data analysis
4.3 Results
4.3.1 Socio-demographic characteristics
4.2 Governance and institutional factors
4.3 Factors affecting adaptive capacity
4.4 Discussion
4.5 Conclusion
References
CHAPTER 5
GENDERED PERCEPTIONS OF PEST PREVALENCE AND MANAGEMENT IN
ZIMBABWE SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES
Abstract
5.1. Introduction
5.2 Methodology
5.2.1 Study area
5.2.2 Data collection
5.2.3 Data analysis
5.3. Results
5.3.1 Perception of change on pest prevalence in irrigation schemes under climate change 99
5.3.2 Gendered perception on the prevalence of pests in SISs under climate change 100
5.4. Discussion
5.4.1 Policy implications of the study
5.4. Conclusions
References 111
CHAPTER 6
CROP WATER PRODUCTIVITY AND NUTRIENT DENSITY IN SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES OF ZIMBABWE
Abstract
6.1 Introduction
6.2 Methodology 122
6.2.1 Study site

6.2.2 Data collection	
6.2.3 Data analysis	124
6.3 Results	125
6.3.1 Blue water footprint and nutrition content of crops grown in the schemes	125
6.4 Discussion	128
6.4.1 Yield and water footprint	129
6.4.2 Water footprint and nutrient content	
6.5 Conclusion	
References	135
CHAPTER 7	
CONCLUSIONS, RECOMMENDATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH	
7.1 Conclusions	
7.2 Recommendations	
7.3 Implications	
7.4 Areas of future research	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 2. 1: Proposed smallholder irrigation development from 2021-2025
Table 2. 2: Policies, acts, programs and strategies relevant for SIS in Zimbabwe
Table 2. 3: Natural hazards occurrence and damage in Zimbabwe from 1900 -2017    18
Table 3. 1: Sub-components, components, and LVI of Exchange, Insukamini, and Ruchanyuirrigation schemes.48Table 4. 1: Characteristics of Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu Irrigation schemes.72
Table 4. 2: Sampling design
Table 4. 3: Socio-demographic variables of scheme farmers 76
Table 4. 4: Ranking of effectiveness of institutional factors by Exchange, Insukamini and
Ruchanyu Irrigation Schemes Farmers
Table 4. 5: Ranking of participation in Governance factors by Exchange, Insukamini and
Ruchanyu Irrigation scheme farmers
Table 4. 6: Effects of socio-demographic factors, governance and institutional factors on
adaptive capacity
Table 5. 1: Socio-demographic factors 99
Table 5. 2: Crops grown by gender
Table 5. 3: Ranks of gendered perception on pest prevalence
Table 5. 4: Mann-Whitney U test for perception on pest prevalence 102
Table 5. 5: Major pests, perception of pest prevalence and strategies used to control pest 103
Table 5. 6: Frequency of spraying chemical pesticides by scheme farmers    103
Table 6. 1: Yield and blue water footprint of crops grown by scheme farmers    125
Appendix 3. 1. Variable selection for LVI-IPCC
Appendix 3. 2: LVI sub-component values, minimum and maximum for Exchange, Insukamini
and Ruchanyu
Appendix 3. 3: Contributing factors to LVI-IPCC

# LIST OF FIGURES

## LIST OF ACRONYMS

AEZs - agro-ecological zones

AGRITEX - Agricultural Technical and Extension Services

CPRs – Common-pool resources

CSES – Complex socio-ecological systems

DANIDA – Danish International Development Agency

- DIRR Department of Irrigation
- ESAP Economic Structural Adjustment Program
- FAO Food and Agricultural Organization
- FAW Fall armyworm
- GCMs General Circulation Models
- GFFW Global Fund for Women
- FGDs Focus Group Discussions
- FSA Food Safety Authority
- GDP Gross Domestic Product
- GMB Grain Marketing Board
- GoZ Government of Zimbabwe
- GVP Gross value of production
- HIV/AIDS human immunodeficiency virus/ acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
- HLPE High Level Panel of Experts
- IFAD International Fund for Agriculture Development
- IMCs Irrigation management committees
- IMT Irrigation management transfer
- IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
- IPPC International Plant Protection Convention
- IWRM -- International Water Resources Management
- KIIs Key Informant Interviews
- KW Kilowatt

LIV - Livelihood Vulnerability Index

- LIV-IPCC Livelihood Vulnerability Index-Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
- MLAWCRR Ministry of Lands, Agriculture, Water, Climate and Rural Resettlement
- MSD Metrological Services Department
- NAPs National Adaptation Plans
- NCSs Nutrient content scores
- NGOs Non-Governmental Organisations
- RCP Representative Concentration Pathway
- SDGs Sustainable Development Goals
- SIRP Smallholder Irrigation Revitalization Programme
- SISs smallholder irrigation schemes
- SMSs Small Massaging Services
- SSA Sub-Sahara Africa
- TVs Televisions
- UN United Nations
- UNESCO United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
- UNFCCC United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
- UNSCN United Nations System Standing Committee on Nutrition
- WHO World Health Organisation
- WRPID Water Resources Planning and Irrigation Development
- ZAPF Zimbabwe Agricultural Policy Framework
- ZIMSTAT Zimbabwe National Statistics Agency
- ZINWA Zimbabwe National Water Authority

# CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

#### **1.1 Background to thesis**

The contribution of the agricultural sector to the economies of most countries in sub-Sahara Africa (SSA) can never be exaggerated. The sector directly employs 175 million people and employs more than 50 % of the total labor, provides a source of livelihood for the majority of the smallholder farmers who own more than 80% of farms in the region (Rapsomanikis, 2015). In SSA, agriculture is important for national food and nutritional security and provides farmers with extra income (FAO, 2012). The sector is failing to guarantee the food and nutrition status due to low yields which have been attributed to heavy dependency on rain-fed agriculture and underutilization of available water resources to increase the resilience of farming systems in a changing climate (Mbira and Moyo., 2018). In fact, SSA, faces an enormous challenge of feeding the projected 1.4 billion people by 2030 and 2.1 billion people by 2050 (UN, 2019).

There is a wide gap between actual and yield potential due to insufficient moisture, low soil fertility, poor crop management, and increased incidences of droughts (Mueller *et al.*, 2012). The yields, which have stagnated or declined in the majority of the countries in the region, are expected to decline further as the majority of the General Circulation Models (GCMs) project that the frequency and severity of droughts are expected to increase across Africa (Pinto *et al.*, 2018, Freeman *et al.*, 2019), especially in SSA. Resulting in region food insecurity given the mismatch between population increase and food demand by 2050. Moreover, only about 4% of the land is under irrigation in SSA despite the huge potential in closing the yield gap that can be realized by expanding the area under irrigation (van Ittersum *et al.*, 2016). In the absence of adequate adaptation measures, especially in the water-related sectors, a majority of countries in SSA will fail to meet their food and nutritional security objectives. At the same time, an estimated 60% of the population in the region currently resides in the communal areas, depending on rain-fed agriculture for food, nutrition and income security (Githira *et al.*, 2020).

Irrigation schemes complements other strategies strategy to increase the resilience of smallholder rain-fed farming systems in the face of climate change given that the area under irrigation in SSA

is just too low, less than 5% (Cooper *et al.*, 2008). Governments, local and international aid agencies, have over the years made substantial investments in irrigated agriculture in the region. They present a huge opportunity for SSA where agricultural output has to increase by 60 - 70 percent in order to meet the food demands of a growing population (UN, 2019). However, despite the huge investments, SISs in SSA have failed to meet the food security and nutritional objectives due to their poor performance (van Ittersum *et al.*, 2016). This poor performance has been linked to climate-related challenges, including water stress, pests and diseases, poor water governance and weak institutions (FAO, 2011). However, there is cursory scholarship literature on the link between governance and institutional capacity and water resources management in irrigated areas in smallholder farming systems in SSA, particularly in Zimbabwe. Moreover, it is very difficult to achieve the intended outcome of reducing the vulnerabilities of smallholder farmers in the face of climate change without focusing on governance. Institutional frameworks and weak institutions for water governance can lead to frequent water shortages and conflicts among smallholder farmers.

Thus, a contextual and empirical understanding of governance and institutional frameworks in a changing climate is pertinent for the development of practical solutions that can configure the trajectory of smallholder irrigation schemes in SSA in general and Zimbabwe in particular. Accordingly, management systems need to be productive and resilient, where alternative approaches align short-term gains with long-term benefits that seek to reconcile economic and environmental goals (Shinbrot *et al.*, 2019). Smallholder farmers adopt a wide range of short-term tactics and long-term strategies with different environmental and economic outcomes (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2014). However, agricultural water management that includes a wide range of technical, infrastructure, economic and social factors is needed (Iglesias and Garrote., 2015). The additional problem of deep uncertainties resulting from climate change is likely to increase in the next decade (Campbell *et al.*, 2016); hence, there is urgent need to develop institutions that can cope with these challenges for sustainably increasing agricultural productivity especially in SISs. How rapidly governance and institutions in water management adjust to changes in their environment is a central question in climate change adaptation and is important for policy design across climate change adaptation domains.

According to Mubaya and Mafongoya (2017), the success of these adaptation efforts generally hinges upon the nature of existing formal and informal rural institutions. Therefore, climate change adaptation is a broader development challenge that can potentially be addressed through broader adaptation pathways within the development framework (Campbell *et al.*, 2016, Mubaya and Mafongoya, 2017). The rationale of this study is to link climate change adaptation to broader development efforts with the purpose of developing a link among governance, institutions nexus, and climate change adaptation.

#### **1.2 Problem Statement**

Irrigated agriculture, which allows smallholder farmers to grow crops all year round, might increase food security globally, especially SSA, where crop yields are constrained by erratic rainfall patterns (Pittock et al., 2020). Thus, this is supposed to reduce vulnerability of smallholder farmers to climate change. However, the dismal failure of the SISs to improve food security, reduce poverty and improve national economic outlook due to well documented poor performance of these schemes shows that these farmers remain vulnerable to climate. Hence, SISs, which are complex socio-ecological systems (CSES), are experiencing economic loss in the face of worsening drought conditions in the region (Bjornlund et al., 2018). However, much of this increased vulnerability does not fall from the sky (Pittock et al., 2020), given the multifarious challenges faced by these CSES, something that has received less significant attention from designers, funders and managers of the SISs (Bjornlund et al., 2018). In addition, factors that make these CSES has received less research traction. The effects of drought may not be eradicated among the rural poor if the livelihood vulnerability of smallholder farmers is not explored. Livelihood vulnerability varies spatially, temporary and among social groups; therefore, there is urgent need to explore the factors contributing to the current livelihood vulnerability of the smallholder irrigation scheme farmers.

The sustainability of SISs is being threatened by the worsening state of climate change challenging water access without management to cope with the existing magnitude of climate change (Berbel *et al.*, 2015, McCornick *et al.*, 2013). The poor performance of SISs has been attributed to a combination of socio-economic, climatic, political, institutional and design factors (Mutambara *et al.*, 2016).

In addition to the above, it is crucial to mention that the success of irrigation management transfer (IMT) depends on both collective action and institutionalization (Rahman *et al.*, 2012). Formal and informal institutions affect natural resource management by communities and local regulatory regimes, respectively (Rahman *et al.*, 2012). The complex institutional landscape can improve water productivity. Therefore, governance and institutions are critical factors of water management in adaptation and resilience to climate change. However, there is limited empirical research exploring how governance and institutions affect the adaptive capacity in smallholder irrigation schemes. This makes it difficult to establish the reasons for low and decreasing crop and water productivity in SISs, leading to continued poverty, unemployment, hunger and starvation (Mutambara *et al.*, 2016). Such risks need urgent actions to ensure the resilience of Zimbabwe's agricultural sector against climate change impacts. Therefore, there is a need to assess the response of governments and institutions to climate change to draw clear anticipation on the necessary adaptation measures.

Climate change will likely change the patterns of outbreak of pests and diseases, increase the frequency and severity of pest events, thus making agricultural systems at higher risk during the 21<sup>st</sup> century (Bebber *et al.*, 2013). Thus, smallholder irrigation scheme farmers need to effectively control pests to reduce crop losses and ensure food security. Pests are responsible for crop damages, accounting for more than 40% worldwide (Mafongoya et al., 2019). The spread and outbreak of pest species are being facilitated by climate change and dynamic weather patterns (Mafongoya et al., 2019). On the other hand, new microclimates as a result of irrigation together with monoculture practices, the introduction of higher-yielding varieties have been proffered as possible reasons for the worsening proliferation of new pests (Rathee & Dalal, 2018). Several inventions have been developed in the field of controlling pests like crop rotation, chemical pests and biological control, yet there is a persistent outbreak of pests in face of climate change. Food insecurity is likely to be more severe if there are no adequate measures to curb the outbreak of pests in the country and the region. Given that changes in pest outbreak is likely to be location specific depending on management, farming systems, and existing institutional capacity, one would expect the challenge of pests and diseases and solutions to such to be context specific. Although similar cases have been observed in the region, there is a knowledge gap on the current outbreak of indigenous and exotic pests among irrigation schemes in Zimbabwe. Knowledge about

the current state of emerging pests will help to map the vulnerability of SISs farmers to emerging pests in face of climate change.

Malnutrition, which is connected to rising illness, mortality and substantial healthcare costs, is an increasing world health concern (Vassilakou, 2021). The Covid-19 pandemic has increased global pressure of food security, poverty, hunger and undernutrition, thus, challenging achievement of SDGs 1, 2 and 3. The number of people facing hunger jumped from about 650 million in 2019 to 768 million in 2020 (FAO *et al.*, 2021).

SISs offer a real opportunity to address global malnutrition. However, given the narrow opportunity for readdressing food, hunger and nutritional insecurity due to increased water stress, there is urgent to identify nutrient-dense crops which have high water use efficiency in the alignment of the freshwater use planetary boundary of 4000 km<sup>3</sup>/year blue water consumption (Gleeson *et al* 2020). This threshold has already been surpassed (Leng and Hall, 2021, Sokolow *et al.*, 2019, Gleeson *et al.*, 2020). Despite accounting for a small component of the global water, renewable freshwater is the base in freshwater and terrestrial ecosystems (Jackson *et al.*, 2001). Thus, it is crucial to increase water productivity in SISs. Irrigation currently account for 70% of the global freshwater withdrawals (FAO, 2011, Damerau *et al.*, 2019). Thus, it is critical to address nutritional and water insecurity challenges using a nexus approach (Brewis *et al.*, 2020) for adaptation planning, particularly in rural areas (Bacon *et al.*, 2021). However, to the best of our knowledge, there is dearth of scholarship literature exploring the link between nutrient density and water footprint in SISs of Zimbabwe. Such information is crucial to inform decision makers on how to address malnutrition and water insecurity while improving environmental sustainability.

#### **1.3 Justification**

Prioritizing irrigation schemes in communal areas will ensure food and nutritional security at both household and regional levels; hence the detrimental effects of climate change will be scaled down (Muchara *et al.*, 2016). Governments in Africa support smallholder irrigation schemes to alleviate poverty, create jobs, boost pro-poor sustainable agriculture and economic growth (van Koppen *et al.*, 2017). Therefore, the promotion of smallholder irrigation is a strategy that paves the way to enhanced income generation, increases food security, and reduces persistent poverty among poor farmers in SSA (Burney and Naylor, 2012). This study is an instrument for the government, NGOs and policymakers to combat hunger and food and nutrition insecurity at household, national and

regional levels through the development of policies that promote operational efficiency of irrigation schemes in drought-prone areas. This will translate to the reduction of treasury expenditure on food security and increased government focus on the provision of public goods.

### **1.4 Research Questions**

The main question governing the study is; what are the roles of water governance and institutions on climate change adaptation among smallholder irrigation schemes in Zimbabwe?

The research questions addressed by the study are:

- 1. How vulnerable are households in smallholder irrigation schemes to climate change?
- 2. What are the impacts of institutional and governance factors on the adaptive capacity of SISs?
- 3. What is the gendered perception of the prevalence and management of pests in smallholder irrigation schemes given climate variability and change?
- 4. What are the water footprint and nutrient content for the crops grown in the schemes?

#### 1.5 Objectives

The aim of this study is to explore the governance-institutions nexus in water management.

The study, therefore, seeks to do the following:

- a) To assess livelihood vulnerability of households in smallholder irrigation schemes to climate change.
- b) To investigate the impacts of institutional and governance factors on the adaptive capacity of smallholder irrigation schemes.
- c) To identify gendered perception on the prevalence and management of pests in SISs given climate variability and change.
- d) To evaluate the water footprint and nutrient content for the crops grown in the schemes.

## References

Bacon, S.L., Lavoie, K.L., Boyle, J., Stojanovic, J. and Joyal-Desmarais, K., 2021. International assessment of the link between COVID-19 related attitudes, concerns and behaviours in

relation to public health policies: Optimising policy strategies to improve health, economic and quality of life outcomes (the iCARE Study). BMJ open, 11(3), p.e046127.

- Berbel J., Gutiérrez-Martín C., Rodríguez-Díaz J.A., Camacho E. and Montesinos P. 2015. Literature review on rebound effect of water saving measures and analysis of a Spanish case study. *Water Resource Management*, 29(3):663–678.
- Bebber, D.P., Ramotowski, M.A. and Gurr, S.J., 2013. Crop pests and pathogens move polewards in a warming world. Nature climate change, 3(11), pp.985 988.
- Bjornlund, H., Parry, K., Pittock, J., Stirzaker, R., Van Rooyen, A.F., Moyo, M., Mdemu, M., de Sousa, W., Cheveia, E., Munguambe, P. and Kimaro, E. 2018. Transforming smallholder irrigation into profitable and self-sustaining systems in southern Africa. Technical Report. K-water and the International Water Resources Association (IWRA). <a href="http://oar.icrisat.org/10966/1/SWM-report-final-web.pdf">http://oar.icrisat.org/10966/1/SWM-report-final-web.pdf</a>. Accessed on 1/12/2021.
- Brewis, A.A., Piperata, B., Thompson, A.L. and Wutich, A., 2020. Localizing resource insecurities: A biocultural perspective on water and wellbeing. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water, 7(4), p.e1440.
- Burney, J.A. and Naylor, R.L., 2012. Smallholder irrigation as a poverty alleviation tool in sub-Saharan Africa. *World Development*, 40(1):110 – 123.
- Campbell, B.M., Vermeulen, S.J., Aggarwal, P.K., Corner-Dolloff, C., Girvetz, E., Loboguerrero, A.M., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Rosenstock, T., Sebastian, L., Thornton, P.K. and Wollenberg, E., 2016. Reducing risks to food security from climate change. *Global Food Security*, 11:34 43.
- Cooper, P.J., Dimes, J., Rao, K.P.C., Shapiro, B., Shiferaw, B. and Twomlow, S., 2008. Coping better with current climatic variability in the rain-fed farming systems of sub-Saharan Africa: An essential first step in adapting to future climate change? *Agriculture, Ecosystems* & *Environment*, 126(1-2):24 – 35.
- Damerau, K., Waha, K. and Herrero, M., 2019. The impact of nutrient-rich food choices on agricultural water-use efficiency. Nature Sustainability, 2(3), pp.233-241.
- FAO, 2011. Climate change, water and food security. FAO water report. FAO, Rome.

- FAO, 2012. Promoting the Production, Processing and Marketing of Small Grains in the Marginal Areas of Zimbabwe. Terminal statement project TCP/ZIM/3202. (Available from FAOZW)
- Freeman, B., Sunnarborg, J. and Peterson, A.T., 2019. Effects of climate change on the distributional potential of three range-restricted West African bird species. The Condor. 63.
- Githira, D., Wakibi, S., Njuguna, S.I., Rae, G., Wandera, S. and Jane Ndirangu., 2020. Analysis of Multiple Deprivation of Secondary Town in SSA. *Analysis Report. UNICEF and UN Habitat.* London, United Kingdom.
- Gleeson, T., Wang-Erlandsson, L., Zipper, S.C., Porkka, M., Jaramillo, F., Gerten, D., Fetzer, I., Cornell, S.E., Piemontese, L., Gordon, L.J. and Rockström, J., 2020. The water planetary boundary: interrogation and revision. One Earth, 2(3):223 – 234.
- Iglesias, A. and Garrote, L., 2015. Adaptation strategies for agricultural water management under climate change in Europe. *Agricultural water management*, 155:113 124.
- Jackson, R.B., Carpenter, S.R., Dahm, C.N., McKnight, D.M., Naiman, R.J., Postel, S.L. and Running, S.W., 2001. Water in a changing world. *Ecological applications*, 11(4):1027 – 1045.
- Leng, G. and Hall, J. W., 2021. Where is the Planetary Boundary for freshwater being exceeded because of livestock farming? *Science of the Total Environment*, 760, 144035.
- Mafongoya, P., Gubba, A., Moodley, V., Chapoto, D., Kisten, L. and Phophi, M., 2019. Climate Change and Rapidly Evolving Pests and Diseases in Southern Africa. *In New Frontiers in Natural Resources Management in Africa* (41 – 57). Springer, Cham.
- McCornick, P.; Smakhtin, V.; Bharati, L.; Johnston, R.; McCartney, M.; Sugden, F.; Clement, F.; McIntyre, B. 2013. Tackling change: Future-proofing water, agriculture, and food security in an era of climate uncertainty. Colombo, Sri Lanka: International Water Management Institute (IWMI). 36p. doi: 10.5337/2013.213.
- Mbira, L. and Moyo, S., 2018. Drivers of Agricultural Funding in a Post Partially Dollarized Zimbabwe. *Journal of Economics and Behavioral Studies*, 10(3):52 59.

- Mubaya, C.P. and Mafongoya, P., 2017. The role of institutions in managing local level climate change adaptation in semi-arid Zimbabwe. *Climate Risk Management*, *16*:93 105.
- Muchara, B., Ortmann, G., Mudhara, M. and Wale, E., 2016. Irrigation water value for potato farmers in the Mooi River Irrigation Scheme of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa: A residual value approach. *Agricultural Water Management*, 164:243 252.
- Mueller, N.D., Gerber, J.S., Johnston, M., Ray, D.K., Ramankutty, N. and Foley, J.A., 2012. Closing yield gaps through nutrient and water management. Nature, 490(7419), pp.254 – 257.
- Mutambara, S., Darkoh, M.B. and Atlhopheng, J.R., 2016. A comparative review of water management sustainability challenges in smallholder irrigation schemes in Africa and Asia. *Agricultural Water Management*, 171:63 72.
- Pittock, J., Bjornlund, H. and van Rooyen, A., 2020. Transforming failing smallholder irrigation schemes in Africa: a theory of change. *International Journal of Water Resources Development*, 36(sup1):S1-S19.
- Rahman, H.T., Hickey, G.M. and Sarker, S.K., 2012. A framework for evaluating collective action and informal institutional dynamics under a resource management policy of decentralization. *Ecological economics*, 83:32 – 41.
- Rapsomanikis, G. 2015. The economic lives of smallholder farmers: An analysis based on household data from nine countries. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- Rathee, M. and Dalal, P., 2018. Emerging insect pests in Indian agriculture. Indian Journal of Entomology, 80(2), pp.267 281.
- Rodriguez, D., Cox, H., deVoil, P., and Power, B., 2014. A participatory whole farm modelling approach to understand impacts and increase preparedness to climate change in Australia. *Agricultural Systems*. 126, 50–61.
- Sarker, M.N.I., Wu, M., Alam, G.M. and Shouse, R.C., 2019. Livelihood Vulnerability of Riverine-Island Dwellers in the Face of Natural Disasters in Bangladesh. Sustainability, 11(6):1623.

- Shinbrot, X.A., Jones, K.W., Rivera-Castañeda, A., López-Báez, W. and Ojima, D.S., 2019. Smallholder Farmer Adoption of Climate-Related Adaptation Strategies: The Importance of Vulnerability Context, Livelihood Assets, and Climate Perceptions. *Environmental management*, 63(5):583 – 595.
- Sokolow, J., Kennedy, G. and Attwood, S., 2019. Managing Crop tradeoffs: A methodology for comparing the water footprint and nutrient density of crops for food system sustainability. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 225, 913 – 927.
- UN, 2019. World population prospects 2019. Washington D.C. UN.
- Van Ittersum, M.K., Van Bussel, L.G., Wolf, J., Grassini, P., Van Wart, J., Guilpart, N., Claessens, L., De Groot, H., Wiebe, K., Mason-D'Croz, D. and Yang, H., 2016. Can sub-Saharan Africa feed itself? Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113(52), pp.14964-14969.
- van Koppen, B., Nhamo, L., Cai, X., Gabriel, M. J., Sekgala, M., Shikwambana, S., Tshikolomo, K., Nevhutanda, S., Matlala, B. & Manyama, D., 2017. *Smallholder irrigation schemes in the Limpopo Province, South Africa.* International Water Management Institute (IWMI). Pretoria.
- Vassilakou, T., 2021. Childhood malnutrition: time for action. Children, 8(2), p.103.
- Pinto, I., Jack, C. and Hewitson, B., 2018. Process-based model evaluation and projections over southern Africa from Coordinated Regional Climate Downscaling Experiment and Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 5 models. *International Journal of Climatology*, 38(11):4251 – 4261.

## **CHAPTER 2**

## DYNAMICS OF VULNERABILITY IN SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES TO CHANGING CLIMATE IN ZIMBABWE<sup>1</sup>

#### Abstract

Irrigation have been portrayed as a panacea to negative impacts of climate change. However, there is an emerging discourse that established schemes are becoming vulnerable to increased climate variability and change. This paper reviews the existing knowledge on vulnerability to climate change and variability of smallholder irrigation schemes in Zimbabwe. In addition, this paper highlights adaptation options to climate change in smallholder irrigation schemes. Data for this review was collected systematically from peer-reviewed and published literature. The literature used for this study showed that smallholder irrigation schemes in Zimbabwe are beset with water stress, competing water needs and the outbreak of pests and diseases, which have been identified with climate change and variability. Challenges related to governance-institutional nexus contribute to vulnerability of scheme farmers. The existence of these challenges affects smallholder irrigation schemes' productivity and decimates the livelihoods of scheme farmers. The review suggests that for smallholder irrigation schemes to obtain a new state of resilience from adverse effects of increased climate variability and change, there is a need for increased adsorptive, adoptive and transformational capacity. This review recommends the need to understand and prioritize vulnerability to climate change in smallholder irrigation schemes. In addition, there is a need to continuously monitor and address water stress, competing water needs and incidences of pests and diseases in smallholder irrigation schemes in the wake of climate variability and change.

Keywords: rainfall, drought, temperature, water stress, pests, diseases

#### **2.1 Introduction**

The physical science basis of climate change strengthened by huge financial research investments is now a mature discourse. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has concluded that human-induced climate change is unequivocal (IPCC, 2014), while 97% of climate experts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This chapter has been submitted to journal *Climate Risk Management*. Liboster Mwadzingeni, Raymond Mugandani, Paramu L Mafongoya, Dynamics of vulnerability in smallholder irrigation schemes to changing climate in Zimbabwe. ID: CLRM-D-21-00162

agree about human-induced climate change (Cook *et al.*, 2016). The change in climate experienced world-wide already has negative implications for 21<sup>st</sup>-century agriculture in Zimbabwe (Gukurume, 2013). Human-induced climate change are human activities that fundamentally result in global warming (Cook *et al.*, 2016). Globally, the major abrupt influence of a changing climate in the agricultural sector will be through a more variable precipitation pattern, increased temperatures and an increase in the frequency and severity of extreme weather events, such as cyclonic activities, droughts and floods (Kotir, 2011). The impacts of climate change on water resources, including quantity and quality of water, are a growing concern in smallholder farming systems, particularly in those areas already experiencing water stress (Kotir, 2011, Muzari *et al.*, 2016, Benitez *et al.*, 2018). Some authors have documented the possible impacts of climate change on new and emerging pests and diseases (Mafongoya *et al.*, 2019, Kutywayo *et al.*, 2013, Brazier, 2015). However, addressing the impact of climate change must be considered in the broader picture of socio-economic conditions, including policies, institutional, investments, financial and technical factors which affect the vulnerability of systems to climate change.

There is mounting evidence that large investments have been made in Zimbabwe's smallholder irrigation schemes (SISs) in an attempt to depart from rain-fed agriculture through judicious harnessing of available water resources (GoZ, 2021a). However, there is a rising concern about need to build the resilience of these schemes to protect investments in light of a more variable climate.

In this article, climate variables and socio-economic factors are reviewed to inform decisionmakers on possible action to build resilience with a particular emphasis on SISs in Zimbabwe. This review seeks to explore vulnerability of SISs in Zimbabwe to climate change. The study hypothesizes that SISs in Zimbabwe are vulnerable to climate change.

#### 2.2 Development and investments in SISs, status and trends

Since pre-independence era, the development of SISs has been spearheaded using different management models (GoZ, 2021a). Over the past forty years, the Government of Zimbabwe (GoZ) has made significant investments in SISs. During the post-colonial era (1980 to date), the government intensified the development of SISs. In 1980, about 4 400 ha were under SISs (Rukuni, 1984, Rukuni, 1988). At the same time, 81 SISs were operational (Rukuni, 1984). In 2000, the total area under SISs rose to 11 860ha while the number of SISs increased to 187 (Makadho *et al.*,

2001). The area under SIS farming as a percentage of the total irrigated area rose from 3.4% in 1980 (Rukuni, 1984) to 9.8% in 2000 (Makadho *et al.*, 2001). Between 2000 and 2020, the area under SIS rose by about 119% to 26 000 ha (GoZ, 2021a). The land redistribution programme resulted in an increase in land under SIS farming as the land was acquired from large-scale commercial farmers and divided into smallholder irrigation plots (ADBG, 2011). According to GoZ (2015), Zimbabwe has a potential irrigable area of approximately 600 000 ha. As indicated in Table 1, the government proposed to develop 29 000 ha of SISs, increasing area under SISs by 112% to 55 000ha by 2025 (GoZ, 2021a).

Year	Area (ha)	Percentage	Total area under SISs (ha)
Base	year		26 000
(2020)			
2021	4 000	15.38	30 000
2022	5 000	34.62	35 000
2023	5 000	53.85	40 000
2024	5 000	73.08	45 000
2025	10 000	111.54	55 000

Table 2. 1: Proposed smallholder irrigation development from 2021-2025

Adapted from (GoZ, 2021a)

Meanwhile, the GoZ has managed to mobilize funds for development and revitalization of SIS annually after independence (Zawe *et al.*, 2015).

Among its initiatives, the GoZ has bilateral agreements with Brazilian, Chinese and Indian governments towards the development of SISs. Ministry of Lands, Agriculture, Water, Climate and Rural Resettlement (MLAWCRR) mobilized a loan of US\$98 million from the Brazilian government for SIS development (Mosello *et al.*, 2017). The Government of China is focusing on transferring technology to SISs (Mosello *et al.*, 2017). International Fund for Agriculture Development (IFAD) initiated Smallholder Irrigation Support Programme (SISP) and Smallholder Irrigation Revitalization Programme (SIRP) to rehabilitate existing schemes and facilitate development of new SISs (IFAD, 2016).

In order to improve operational efficiency and guide the operation of SISs, Zimbabwe has developed strategies and policies since 1980. Currently, the SISs are mainly guided by Zimbabwe Agricultural Policy Framework (ZAPF) (1995-2020) (Zawe *et al.*, 2015). The National Water Act of 1998 is the basis for financing the management of water resources under the Zimbabwe National Water Authority (ZINWA) (Zawe *et al.*, 2015). At the same time, several national policies have sections devoted to SISs.

These policies are effective instruments for implementing and managing activities in SISs in Zimbabwe (Matsika, 2021). Policies are among the pathways of SIS development, considering the need for improved water utilization management across scales and sectors. Policies, that evolved over the years, have shaped the practice and performance of SISs in Zimbabwe (Mosello *et al.*, 2017). Despite the prominence of irrigation development on the government development agenda, little attention has been paid on scheme management (Moyo *et al.*, 2017). Recently, Zimbabwe unveiled the irrigation policy (Accelerated irrigation rehabilitation and development plan 2021 – 2025) (GoZ, 2021a) after years of relying on other policies/sector strategies shown in Table 2.2.

Policy/Strategy	Relevance in the context of SISs	Reference
1998 Water Act	Gives authority to catchment council to allocate water to	GoZ (1998)
	SISs.	
	Gives regulations of how schemes operate.	
1998Zimbabwe	Establishes the ZINWA as a parastatal agency – in charge	GoZ (2000a)
National Water	of water permits and water allocations, including for SIS	
Authority Act	use.	
2002 Environmental	Introduces mandatory environmental impact assessments	GoZ (2002)
Management Act and	for SIS development.	GoZ (2003)
2003 Environmental		
Agency Act		
2000 Land Acquisition	Empowers the government to compulsorily acquire land for	GoZ (2000b)
Act	SIS development purposes.	
Zimbabwe's Agenda for	Used to set the objective of increasing the area under SIS	GoZ (2013a)
Sustainable Socio-	through rehabilitation and modernisation of irrigation	
Economic		

Table 2. 2: Policies, acts, programs and strategies relevant for SIS in Zimbabwe

Transformation (Zim				
Asset) 2013–2018	irrigation.			
Zimbabwe's National	Mainstreaming climate change in all key sectors of the	GoZ (2015)		
Climate Change	economy; calls for integrated management and			
<b>Response Strategy 2015</b>	development of agricultural water resources.			
	Promotes rehabilitation of SISs			
Comprehensive	Includes provisions for rehabilitating and modernising SIS	GoZ (2012)		
Agricultural Policy				
Framework 2012–2032	strengthening research on irrigation development and new			
	technologies (objective 7.3).			
Water Policy 2012	Ensure the availability of good quality and affordable water			
	in adequate quantity for all at all times.			
Zimbabwe's	Aims to redesign and rehabilitate SIS infrastructure.	GoZ (2013b)		
Agricultural Investment				
Plan 2013–2017				
Medium-Term Plan	Focuses on rehabilitation of existing SIS infrastructures	GoZ (2011)		
2011–2015				
	agricultural production.			
National Development	Intensification of construction and rehabilitation of SIS	GoZ (2021b)		
Strategy 1 2021 - 2025	infrastructure including dams and funding of irrigation			
	development			
National Agricultural	Development of low-cost technology investment in SIS,	GoZ (2018)		
Framework (2018-2030)	capacitation and enhancing skills for irrigation technicians			
	and promotion of low-cost finance for irrigation			
	development, investment in irrigation development and			
	water harvesting technologies			
Accelerated Irrigation	Rehabilitation and revitalisation of over 450 SISs in			
Rehabilitation and	communal areas, on 26 000 ha and a concomitant farmer			
Development 2021 –	capacitation, governance overhaul and business model			
2025	transformation to ensure viability and sustainability of			
	Development of various SISs in the Lowveld Green Zone			
	Irrigation Development and projects linked to dams in			
	communal and resettlement areas.			

To improve access to finance, inputs, markets and overcome governance and business systems at irrigation schemes.

Reliable market arrangements for produce from SISs

Investment in expanding SISs needs to be coupled with measures to allocate water effectively and equitably. The MLAWCRR is responsible for the development and implementation of agriculture and irrigation policies. The Department of Water Resources Planning and Irrigation Development (WRPID) is responsible for planning, identifying, designing, constructing, operating and managing SISs at the national, provincial and district levels (Mosello et al., 2017). The MLAWCRR formulates policies for the utilization of water resources. The Water Law of 1998 emphasizes water management through decentralization and stakeholder participation in line with Integrated Water Resources Management (IWRM) (Zawe et al., 2015). Catchment Councils manage water permits in seven catchments which are subdivided into sub-catchments. Governance structures of SISs vary with scheme type. GoZ partly operates and maintains jointly managed schemes. Farmer-managed schemes were developed by GoZ but owned and managed by farmers through irrigation management committees (IMCs) (Zawe et al., 2015). However, the effectiveness of IMCs varies from one scheme to another. Traditional chiefs allocate land for scheme development. Multilateral and bilateral donors exclusively support SISs in communal areas by funding to ensure farmers' food security. The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) supports MLAWCRR in policy formulation and coordinates effort by donors and GoZ to partner in irrigation sector (Mosello et al., 2017).

Both GoZ and donor communities have introduced some initiatives to improve the productivity of SISs. They have financed the maintenance of SISs to enhance their productivity. Moreover, GoZ injects input subsidies to enhance crop productivity (Moyo *et al.*, 2017). The GoZ prescribes the cropping program, which schemes depend on to sustain production (Mosello *et al.*, 2017).

Surprisingly, there is a minimal critical reflection in the literature on limitations of SISs as a climate change adaptation strategy in different contexts (Mosello *et al.*, 2017). However, the primary concern of this paper is the need to understand the impact of climate change on SISs. This

paper summarizes the impact of climate change and variability in Zimbabwe, an overview of implications of climate change on SISs and socio-economic conditions.

#### 2.3 Potential impact of climate change on SISs

The potential impact of climate change on SISs depends on a combination of exposure, sensitivity and resilience of the system to potential water supply and demand changes, hence, vary considerably from one scheme to another. Agricultural communities are exclusively at risk due to reliance of their livelihoods on farming, the little scope of diversification of livelihoods options and their high exposure to climate variability (Palombi and Sessa, 2013). Zimbabwe is evidently experiencing effects of climate change through a notable increase in frequency and intensity of extreme weather events, which lead to chronic food insecurity (Mosello et al., 2017). Changes in climate will result in water stress, rendering land marginal for agriculture, threatening the nation's economy and livelihoods. Agricultural sector in Zimbabwe is among the most vulnerable entities their dependence on natural resources (World Bank, 2020, IFAD, 2016) (Table 2.3). The relative dependence of SISs in Zimbabwe on surface water makes livelihoods of its communities more vulnerable to climate change and variability, as the existing resources often dry up (Chigumira, 2018), leading to water stress. The depletion of resilience sources increases the SISs' vulnerability in Zimbabwe through loss of revenue, poor access to credit due to weak tenure security and degradation of irrigation infrastructure (Hanusch et al., 2019). Although the SISs are touted as a panacea to withstand impact of climate change and variability (Moyo et al., 2020, Mosello et al., 2017, GoZ, 2018), they face increasing water stress. This challenge is stimulated by the decrease in precipitation, increasing temperature leading to changes in evaporative demand, increase in the frequency of weather extremes and increased depletion of water resources. On the other hand, outbreak of pests and diseases, including new and emerging pests, is expected to increase due to changes in rainfall and temperature (Mafongoya *et al.*, 2019).

Natural Hazards	Subtype	Events Count	Total Deaths of People	Total Number of People Affected	Total damage (Million USD)
Drought	Drought	7	-	19 122 618	551
Epidemic	Bacterial disease	17	4 900	111 349	-
_	Parasitic disease	1	1 311	500	-
	Viral disease	2	55	1 338	-
	Others	2	71	10 102	-
Floods	Flash floods	1	3	1002	20
	Riverine floods	9	271	313 002	272.9
	Others	2	259	30 128	103.6
Storm	Convective storms	2	41	2.475	-
	Tropical cyclone	2	8	-	1.2
	Others	1	11	-	-

Table 2. 3: Natural hazards occurrence and damage in Zimbabwe from 1900 -2017

Adapted from World Bank (2020)

The impact is expected to vary across the five agro-ecological zones (AEZs) of Zimbabwe (World Bank, 2020, Mugandani *et al.*, 2012). The impact of all the above challenges will not be homogeneous given the heterogeneity in management and institutions; therefore, resilience and adaptive capacity are different in SIS.

## 2.3.1 Impact on rainfall

In Zimbabwe, the rainy season stretches from October to March (Mazvimavi, 2010, World Bank, 2020). The country's rainfall patterns are influenced by El Nino-Southern Oscillation events, which have a 30% chance of causing drought (Mazvimavi, 2010). Evidence of desiccation, below average, and increased rainfall variability has been noted in most parts of the country (Mazvimavi, 2010, Chamaillé-Jammes et al., 2007, Mugandani *et al.*, 2012). Most parts of Zimbabwe, arid or semi-arid, are increasingly becoming drier due to climate change (Moyo *et al.*, 2017, World Bank, 2020). Besides, even AEZ II and III are becoming arid, as noted by a remarkable decrease by 49% and 14% of its precipitation, respectively (Manyeruke *et al.*, 2013, World Bank, 2020, Mugandani *et al.*, 2012, Manatsa et al., 2020). Rainfall patterns and intensity are highly variable and are projected to be uncertain in the second half of the 21<sup>st</sup> century (Muronzi and Mukarwi, 2019). Zimbabwe's monthly precipitation is projected to decrease by 3.3mm, 5.1mm, 7.4mm, and 8.2mm in the 2030s, 2050s, 2070s, and 2090s under Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) 8.5, respectively (World Bank, 2020, Ebi *et al.*, 2014). According to IPCC, seasonal rainfall

characteristics like onset, duration, dry spell frequencies, and intensity have changed significantly in the region (Ebi *et al.*, 2014). However, the recent decline in agricultural production is linked to more frequent and severe droughts (World Bank, 2020, Mazvimavi, 2010). Mazvimavi (2010) advocates for planning and managing water resource systems to adapt to changing climate.

#### **2.3.2 Impact on temperature**

There is variation in temperature across AEZs in Zimbabwe (Nangombe, 2015). The average annual temperature varies between 18°C and 25°C in areas with a higher altitude (approximately 1500m) in the Eastern Highlands and the highveld and between 22°C and 25°C in lower altitudes (northern and southern regions) (Nangombe, 2015, Manatsa et al., 2020). The Metrological Services Department (MSD) of Zimbabwe has reported that the daily minimum temperature rose by approximately 2.6°C, while the daily maximum temperature rose by 2°C over the last century (Scoones *et al.*, 2019). The rise in temperature is attributed to the recent increase in the number of hot days and nights and decreasing the number of cold days and nights in recent decades. Temperature across the country is projected to rise in the 21<sup>st</sup> century and beyond. However, the increase in temperature will depend on greenhouse gas emission scenarios as Zimbabwe's monthly temperature is projected to rise by 1.2°C, 2.2°C, 3.4°C and 4.5°C in the 2030s, 2050s, 2070s, and 2090s under RCP8.5, respectively (World Bank, 2020, Ebi *et al.*, 2014). The highest temperature increases are projected from June to September (Ebi *et al.*, 2014).

### 2.3.3 Impact of droughts, cyclones, and floods

Droughts have devastating impacts on stream run-off and irrigation water availability, the nation's economy and contributes to the terminal vulnerability of the majority of its communities (Frischen *et al.*, 2020). Devastating droughts recently affecting Zimbabwe (January to March 2021) are strongly correlated to El Niño (FAO, 2016). Zimbabwe's agricultural sector, which contributes nearly 12% of the nation's Gross Domestic Product (GDP), is severely affected by droughts (Frischen *et al.*, 2020). Approximately 70% of the national population depends directly on agriculture (Frischen *et al.*, 2020). Climate-induced water stress has crippled agricultural and economic productivity, further resulting in an upward spiral of poverty and insecurities (Frischen *et al.*, 2020). Since 1990, severe incidences of droughts have been recorded in 1991 – 1992, 1994 – 1995, 2002 – 2003, 2015 – 2016, and 2018-2019 seasons (Nangombe, 2015, Frischen *et al.*, 2020). Isolated droughts patterns varied spatially in 2003 – 2004, 2006 – 2007, 2011 – 2012, and

2017 – 2018 farming seasons (Frischen *et al.*, 2020, Nangombe, 2015). Although droughts are a common feature in all the provinces, they are more severe in south-western provinces – Matabeleland North and South – and less severe in the eastern provinces – Manicaland and Mashonaland East (Manyeruke *et al.*, 2013). The bulk of droughts in the past century occurred in the past two decades, although most of them were mild (Nangombe, 2015). Droughts have culminated in the stagnation of rural livelihoods over the past three decades through hunger, decimating crops and livestock production, environmental degradation and a declining socio-economic status (Nangombe, 2015). In Zimbabwe, ad hoc measures to address drought focus on alleviating its impacts rather than encompassing the full cycle of drought management to ensure adaptation and copying at the individual, national and regional levels in the unforeseeable future (Muzari *et al.*, 2016).

Cyclones and extreme flooding have destroyed irrigation infrastructure in Zimbabwe over the years (GoZ, 2018). Cyclone Eline of 2000, Cyclone Dineo of 2017, and Cyclone Idai of 2019 are the most disastrous and fatal cyclones over the past two decades (Mavhura, 2020). The communication system, dwellings, and infrastructure were destroyed by cyclones and floods (Masasi and Ng'ombe, 2019, Mavhura, 2020). Cyclone Eline destroyed Mutema Irrigation Scheme infrastructure, including three boreholes, resulting in the scheme operating only at 10% capacity (Masasi and Ng'ombe, 2019). Cyclone Japhet destroyed a dam in the Chirume communal land in Shurugwi, making the community more sensitive to drought (Brown *et al.*, 2012). Cyclone Idai damaged ten SISs in Chimanimani district and eight SISs in Chipinge district (GoZ et al., 2019). Specifically, 2 293.50 ha were damaged, affecting 5 041 scheme farmers (GoZ *et al.*, 2019). In addition to this, other support infrastructures like roads, power supply lines and schools were also damaged, while some crops under irrigation were also lost (GoZ *et al.*, 2019). According to estimates, a total of US\$4 890 000 will be required to rehabilitate the schemes (GoZ *et al.*, 2019).

#### 2.3.4 Impact on water resources

Zimbabwe's water resources, which amount to 20 000 million m<sup>3</sup> per year, or 1 413 m<sup>3</sup> per capita, are dominantly surface water resources since there are limited groundwater resources (FAO, 2016). The country has 2 200 dams, including 260 large dams with a total capacity of 99 930 m<sup>3</sup> (FAO, 2016). The water resources in the country vary across five AEZs (Brazier, 2015). The impact of climate change is projected to severely reduce Zimbabwe's water resources (Brazier,

2015). Rainfall simulations in the Odzi, Gwayi and Sebakwe catchment areas has shown a decrease in precipitation by 15 – 18% and an increase of evaporation by 7.5 – 13%. This was projected to result in a 50% decrease in the runoff by 2075 (UNFCCC, 1998). Runde and Mzingwane catchments, where an average rainfall could decrease by between 12% and 16% by 2050, are anticipated to face the largest decline (Brazier, 2015). Also, the recharge rate of wetland and aquifers is expected to be reduced, impacting water availability for irrigation farming (Brazier, 2015). Also, water demand for domestic purposes, irrigation, livestock, industry and energy generation is expected to grow as population, cities, industries and evaporation are projected to rise gradually (UNFCCC, 1998). Further, land degradation particularly water erosion that led to siltation of surface water bodies is in on the increase (Nyakudya and Stroosnijder, 2014). World Bank (2020) states that climate change will result in a 38% decline in national per capita water availability by 2050 in the best-case scenario, pushing inhabitants of Zimbabwe to depend on groundwater sources.

The surface and groundwater resources are challenged by climate change and variability due to unpredictable seasonal rainfall and losses from evaporation, low runoff and sedimentation in reservoirs (Ngara, 2017, Chitata *et al.*, 2014). Water resources are gradually moving towards the level where current irrigation technology will not be sustainable. Therefore, users of resources responsible for managing the available water resources has a responsibility to formulate water resource utilization policies (FAO, 2016).

### 2.3.5 Impact of climate change on SISs

### 2.3.5.1 Water stress

The relationship between climate change and water stress could be the main contributing factor to vulnerability among SISs. Projected reduction in rainfall translates to reduction in runoff and refill of water bodies (Brazier, 2015). Dams, rivers and catchment areas are susceptible to drying, resulting in inadequate water supply for irrigation purposes. Also, groundwater recharge is predicted to be more severe in arid and semi-arid regions due to a decline in runoff (Palombi and Sessa, 2013). Therefore, a rise in temperature and a decrease in rainfall are predicted to worsen water stress among SISs (Magrath *et al.*, 2014, Mosello *et al.*, 2017). Increased warming will increase irrigation water demand by triggering a rise in evapotranspiration (Nhemachena *et al.*, 2020). Moreover, siltation of surface water bodies due to erosion is resulting in loss of surface
water reserves (Nyakudya and Stroosnijder, 2014), straining further available water resources for irrigation use.

Water stress among SISs in Zimbabwe is associated with a combined effect of rising water deficit in catchment areas, increase in population, rapid urbanization, and industrialization (Mutekwa, 2009, Mutambara et al., 2017, Muronzi and Mukarwi, 2019). For example, a fall of the lake's water level in mid-2013 resulted in the diversion of water from the Ruti Irrigation Scheme and allocating it to sugar estates, making the problem of the SIS farmers more acute (Magrath et al., 2014). This was followed by the dam's total drying up in September 2013, resulting in the loss of the entire cropping season (Magrath et al., 2014). Also, Hanusch et al (2019) anticipate SIS performance to decline in the face of climate change and variability, coupled with depleted sources of resilience in the country. In Mkoba Irrigation Scheme, only 20% of irrigated land was utilized in 2015 as the dam could not meet irrigation water requirements (Moyo et al., 2017). The absence of an accessible and reliable water source following the destruction of a dam in the Chirume community in 2008 has resulted in crop loss due to water stress during prolonged mid-season droughts (Brown et al., 2012). Low rainfall experienced in Zimbabwe due to climate change leads to poor crop yields resulting in massive economic, environmental and social costs (Nangombe, 2015). The 1991/1992 drought resulted in water stress, reducing Zimbabwe's agriculture production and gross domestic product (GDP) by 45% and 11%, respectively (Bhaga et al., 2020). The increasing trend and severity of similar events resulting from climate change cripples the national economy and livelihoods of rural people (Nangombe, 2015).

Several studies have shown excessive water stress-related yield decline in most SISs in the western parts of the country, particularly Matabeleland South and North (Nangombe, 2015, Muronzi and Mukarwi, 2019, Mutambara *et al.*, 2017). The water stress is projected to particularly affect schemes in AEZ IV and V (Mugandani *et al.*, 2012, Muronzi and Mukarwi, 2019). Climate change is likely to worsen potential evaporation in Zimbabwe, especially in the Lowveld, where it is higher (< 2 200mm), while precipitation is a paltry (< 300mm) (FAO, 2016). However, there is challenge of scarcity of data and accurate simulations of the potential effect of climate change on water sources and catchment areas in Zimbabwe (Mapani *et al.*, 2017). The projected rise in irrigation water demand of 7% to 21% by the 2080s due to a surge in evapotranspiration water demand (Palombi and Sessa, 2013) will worsen water stress in SISs. Some studies suggest that increased

temperature and low rainfall are altering water available for irrigation purposes (Nkomozepi and Chung, 2012, Magadza, 1994); therefore, the decline in water availability for irrigation diminishes productivity and livelihoods of scheme farmers.

#### 2.3.5.2 Competing needs

Irrigation water has multiple uses among rural communities where most schemes are located. Water, an essential element in biological, social and economic systems (Meinzen-Dick, 1997), has competing uses that affect water discharge to SISs. Competing water needs vary from one AEZ to another, while it is likely to intensify with climate change. High-level pressure on water resources due to the combined demand of agriculture and other sectors has resulted in water scarcity in Zimbabwe's rivers, impacting water users and the environment (Mutekwa, 2009, Mutambara *et al.*, 2017). In rural Zimbabwe, water is needed for livelihood needs, including domestic uses, gardening, fishing, irrigation, recreation, reeds, dip tanks and livestock watering (Katsi *et al.*, 2007, Senzanje *et al.*, 2008). However, in Mkoba and Silalatshani irrigation schemes in the Midlands and Matabeleland South provinces respectively, water is diverted from irrigation canals to home gardens (Moyo *et al.*, 2017). While in Chakohwa Irrigation Scheme in Manicaland, water from canals was used to irrigate sugarcane and bananas (Samakande *et al.*, 2004). An increase of average irrigation water requirement of 33%, 66% and 99% is expected in the 2020s, 2050s and 2090s time slices, respectively, from a baseline of 67 mm for maize production in Zimbabwe (Nkomozepi and Chung, 2012).

Water, energy, and food are closely linked. Water use for energy generation, representing 15% of global water withdrawal, competes with water demands for food production (HLPE, 2015). Energy is essential for making water available for irrigation, food processing, and wastewater treatment (HLPE, 2015). Electrification is lacking in rural areas in Zimbabwe, with those connected to the grid suffer frequent power cuts (Mutambara *et al.*, 2017), making pumping of water for irrigation purposes challenging. Moreover, there are limited prospects of expanding the national grid to rural areas, as it will be more costly than in dense urban settlements (Mutambara *et al.*, 2017).

Meaningful development opportunities are missed where there is no clear link between water use, energy supply and mainstream agricultural livelihood in Zimbabwe (Pittock *et al.*, 2015). The nexus' effectiveness among SISs in Zimbabwe can be determined by community institutions' strength, ownership and management structure (Pittock *et al.*, 2015). The variable climate and

recurrent droughts in the country make the water supply sporadic, affecting hydropower's potential in Zimbabwe. Competing community needs around water use have been seen in the development and use of SISs and hydropower stations. Sophisticated and organized community structure at a scheme in Chipendeke in Manicaland province has integrated 80 KW hydropower plant and irrigation (Pittock *et al.*, 2015). Electricity from the power plant is used to pump water for irrigation and power cold storage facility to keep their produce fresh for sale (Pittock *et al.*, 2015). However, conflict arises between users of electricity and farmers who need water for irrigation, especially during the dry season when there is a need to ration water for irrigation and power generation, forcing switching water between the two as an incentive to resolve the tension (Pittock *et al.*, 2015). Multiple uses of available water resources can result in conflicts and lead to the possibility of multiple but independent failures in the water supply system in the face of climate change (Magadza, 1994). According to Palombi and Sessa (2013), climate change exacerbates tensions and increases competition for water.

#### 2.3.5.3 Pests

Climate change will lead to new and emerging pests, whose effects vary with AEZs. Crop loss will be increased by a myriad of climate change-related factors that include decrease in host plant resistance, reduction in the efficacy of pesticides and the arrival of alien pest species (Gemmill-Herren et al., 2019, Mafongoya et al., 2019). Changes in both precipitation and temperature will lead to increased infestations of pests like white flies and disease outbreaks, reducing crop and animal productivity and driving up expenditure on pesticides, herbicides and veterinary drugs (Brazier, 2015, Kutywayo et al., 2013). Change in pest distribution is among the most commonly reported biotic response to climate change (Kutywayo et al., 2013, Mafongoya et al., 2019). A study in Mutare District shows that coffee white stem borers respond more to precipitation factors (Kutywayo et al., 2013). Mafongoya et al (2019) postulate that incidences of pests in Zimbabwe respond to changes in seasonality, temperature and rainfall patterns. Projected climate changerelated temperature and precipitation changes will likely result in crop losses due to increased biotic stress from weeds, insects, fungi, viruses, nematodes and rodents. Pests cause yield loss at all stages of the production cycle, from planting to postharvest (Gemmill-Herren et al., 2019). It is projected that yield loss of major staple crops due to increased pests alone will expand by 10 to 25% for each degree of global mean surface warming (Brazier, 2015). Temperature enhances

development rates of pests, a shift in pests species composition and increased spread of invasive pests into new zones as their suitable climatic conditions change (Mafongoya *et al.*, 2019).

Zimbabwe's smallholder farmers are projected to face a wave of new pests spreading to Southern Africa, including fall armyworm (*Spodoptera frugiperda*), tomato leaf miner (*Tuta absoluta*), and cotton mealy bug (*Phenacoccus solenopsis*) (World Bank, 2020). Mid-season and prolonged dry spells may promote the occurrence of insect pests, such as armyworms (Mutekwa, 2009). Fall armyworm destroyed 20% of the nation's maize crops during the 2016-2017 farming season, worsening the nation's food status with over 4 million of its population dependents on food aid (World Bank, 2020). New and emerging pests that are suited to change in conditions make farming difficult in Zimbabwe (World Bank, 2020, Mafongoya *et al.*, 2019). However, characteristically poor smallholder farmers have no option to deal with new pests. A countrywide survey by Mafongoya *et al* (2019) in Zimbabwe found out that smallholder farmers perceived an increase in abundance of aphids, whiteflies, stem borers, ball worms, red spider mite, termites and diamondback moths, and the emergence of new pests due to shortening winter, increasing heating and lengthy dry spells.

The population in need of agricultural transformation is the one that is most vulnerable to climate change impact due to water scarcity and increased pests and diseases. Farmers are struggling to cope with the impact of climate change, which is projected to alter the magnitude, timing and distribution of pests resulting in crop loss. Smallholder farming in Zimbabwe has experienced greater vulnerability to climate change hazards due to endemic poverty, restricted access to capital and technology and substandard infrastructure, impacting food and nutrition security. The projected increase in rainfall variability, temperature and extreme events exacerbate the predominantly rainfed farming system's vulnerability affecting its response to national food needs.

#### 2.4 Institutional arrangement and capacity

# 2.4.1 Socio-economic conditions

There are limited statistics on the contribution of SISs to the national GDP; however, evidence that SISs contribute to food security, nutritional security, income and general well-being than rainfed farmers is overwhelming (Rukuni, 1988, FAO and SAFR., 2000, Hanusch *et al.*, 2019, Dube, 2016). In addition, SISs provide rural people with an alternative source of employment and income (IFAD, 2016). However, gendered plot ownership exists in SISs in Zimbabwe, where males

household heads own approximately 67.9% of plots despite that most scheme labour is provided by women (FAO SAFR, 2000).

Climate change impact on SISs is worsened by non-climatic factors, including population growth, urbanization, global economic growth, rising competition for natural resources, agronomic management, technological innovations, trade and food prices (Palombi and Sessa, 2013). These factors have an immediate impact on water resources, hence need to be understood and incorporated in climate change adaptation discourse in SISs (Palombi and Sessa, 2013). The population of Zimbabwe of 16.6 million people, rising at the rate of 2.3% per annum and is projected to reach 22.2 and 33.2 million by 2030 and 2050, respectively (Nyoni and Bonga, 2017, FAO, 2016). Per capita water availability will decline by 38% from 2.45ml per capita per year in 2012 to 1.52ml per capita per year by 2050 in Zimbabwe (Davis and Hirji, 2014).

Zimbabwe has experienced a deteriorating socio-economic environment following the Economic Structural Adjustment Program (ESAP) of the 1980s and the downwards macroeconomic trends in the 2000s, which impact the supply of basic agricultural inputs (fertilizers, seeds, crop chemicals, and electricity) (IFAD, 2016, Chirisa, 2019, Mosello *et al.*, 2017). In the 2000s, a decline in the country's GDP was noted (IFAD, 2016). The economic downturn perpetuated widespread poverty and loss of livelihood opportunities, particularly in rural areas, mostly in semi-arid and arid regions where 76% of people live below the national poverty datum line (Scoones *et al.*, 2019, Manzungu, E., 2004a). The turn of events has deteriorated the schemes' ability to cope and transform to match temporal and permanent changes in climatic conditions.

Also, Zimbabwe has endured HIV/AIDS, which remains higher above 15%, decimating the labour force and diverting income from scheme farming (Muzari *et al.*, 2016). The current outbreak of Corona Virus pandemic / epidemic (2020 into 2021) and its associated control measures like lockdowns negatively affects small and medium enterprises in Zimbabwe, which are mainly agrobased (Nyanga and Zirima, 2020).

Conflict and insecurity, inequitable land distribution, low education, poor infrastructure, gender inequality, dependence on natural resources and low health status perpetuate vulnerability at the household level in Zimbabwe (Muzari *et al.*, 2016). Zimbabwe's drought and food insecurity situation were projected to result in 1.5 million people (16%) being food insecure by 2050 (World Bank, 2020).

#### 2.4.2 Water management

Zimbabwe has limited conceptual and practical analysis of the management of SISs, as much of the recent studies focused on the quantitative performance of SISs. According to Manzungu (1999) SISs in Zimbabwe are threatened by management problems. Water management in SISs in Zimbabwe is characterised by inefficient and inflexible scheduling, making it challenging to maximize yield and profit (Moyo *et al.*, 2020, Manzungu, E., 2004b). Poor water management, low input use, relatively small irrigated plots, and complex group dynamics have been implicated for low crop yields in SISs in Zimbabwe (GoZ, 2021a). However, the recent development of Accelerated Irrigation Rehabilitation and Development Plan 2021 – 2025 has ended the challenges of adopting other policies to address SISs challenges. In addition, SISs in Zimbabwe's primary focus on food security at the expense of economic growth has resulted in farmers' failure to meet the schemes' maintenance and development demands (Mosello *et al.*, 2017).

Water pricing is among tools used to manage water scarcities and competing demands to protect the resource and its quality (HLPE, 2015). Therefore, water pricing policies can incentivize water conservation, construction, operation and maintenance of the systems (Mudhara and Senzanje, 2020). However, use of water pricing impacts availability of water for agricultural uses especially for marginalized populations (HLPE, 2015). A case study in irrigation projects in Nyanyadzi, Zimbabwe, noted that communities view irrigation as a development expenditure for the government and donors in their pursuit to ensure food security among rural communities (Chifamba *et al.*, 2013). This, in turn, diminishes the proportion of cost recovery, threatening the viability and sustainability of SISs (Chifamba *et al.*, 2013).

Given that the country's agricultural system is heavily subsidized, cost recovery of water delivery is arduous and complicated (Chifamba *et al.*, 2013). Fundamental planning, designing and maintaining the water delivery system is constrained by stakeholders' inability to address the budget deficit challenge in SISs (Chifamba *et al.*, 2013). Mutambara *et al* (2017) suggest that low productivity, dependency syndrome, poor services and political interference in water governance in SISs in Zimbabwe affect farmers' contribution towards water bills. Failure to pay water bills directly affects water access, water resource planning and infrastructure maintenance, hampering the system's ability to adapt and mitigate the souring climate change impact (Mudhara and Senzanje, 2020, Mutambara *et al.*, 2017).

SISs in Zimbabwe can exploit short- and long-term adaptation and management practices. Conservation agriculture, crop rotation and mulching are common adaptation practices implemented in Zimbabwe (Milne *et al.*, 2019, Brazier, 2015). However, the usefulness of the policies is limited by a lack of appropriate mechanization, making it labour-intensive (Milne *et al.*, 2019). Conservation agriculture is mostly implemented among rain-fed farmers and its consideration for SISs farming is minimal (Milne *et al.*, 2019).

#### 2.5 Gaps, limitations and areas for future research

## 2.5.1 Gaps and limitations of vulnerability studies

The literature remains unclear about the future patterns and impact of climate change on water availability for SISs farming in Zimbabwe. All models might not point to the same scenario, as there are large variations in the assessment of runoff and recharge. Several studies projected a general decline in rainfall and rise in temperature across the country (Brazier, 2015, Benitez *et al.*, 2018, IPCC, 2014, Mazvimavi, 2010), while others suggest a redistribution of the AEZs (Mugandani *et al.*, 2012). Some studies suggest shrinkage of more productive regions, while others suggest a shift in AEZs, making existing zones obsolete and misleading (Chanza and Gundu-Jakarasi, 2020). There is a dearth of literature on combined insights from quantitative predictive models with quantitative explanatory models, especially for rural areas where data availability is limited. The inclusion of climate change in SISs in Zimbabwe in the existing literature is negligible, although its impact on schemes is overwhelming. A multidimensional risk analysis is needed to assess climate change impact on water availability for SIS farming. However, the bottom-up approach gives opportunities to build resilience and develop vulnerable communities.

### 2.5.2 Area of future research

The SISs provide employment, fight hunger and 'hidden hunger' in rural communities (IFAD, 2016, FAO SAFR, 2000), which account for 66% of Zimbabwe's population (Nyoni and Bonga, 2017). However, literature has shown the collapse and underperformance of SISs due to climate change to be more severe, particularly in semi-arid and arid regions of the country (GoZ, 2018, Masasi and Ng'ombe, 2019, Brown *et al.*, 2012). However, the assessment of the vulnerability of SISs to climate change is limited. To better understand vulnerability to climate change in SISs for future adaptation policy formulation, development and funding, there is a need to assess their vulnerability. This will enable stakeholders to be advised on how to develop local strategies to

adapt to climate change. Investigating vulnerability in SISs is important for more vulnerable schemes to be identified and provide a database for the nature of support needed in each area. Also, investigating the institutions and governance aspects that affect smallholder irrigation adaptation to climate change is key in addressing climate change vulnerability in SISs.

#### **2.6 Conclusion**

This article has reviewed the impact of climate change in Zimbabwe's SISs and identified associated adaptation options implemented based on available literature. In Zimbabwe, climate change has resulted in a rise in temperature and a decrease in rainfall. Studies show the sensitivity of SISs to climate change as recharge of surface and underground water bodies deteriorate, impacting water access among schemes. The crop growing area was reported to shift as climatic conditions become harsher in primary production zones. Therefore, climate change results in a decline in the productivity of schemes and increases production costs beyond the reach of scheme farmers. Literature has shown that existing adaptation strategies fail to catch up with climate change effects as more schemes are reported as having collapsed, especially in drier regions. However, local institutional actors play a key role in the adaptation of SISs to climate change. They formulate policies and offer critical support by maintaining existing schemes, providing subsidies and establishing new schemes. For a successful adaptation of SISs to climate change, there is a need to assess vulnerability further and advise stakeholders based on policy and investment options needed at local and national levels. Engaging with scheme farmers and stakeholders at local level is required to understand vulnerability based on their lived experience, yet this issue is not documented in Zimbabwe.

## References

- ADBG., 2011. Infrastructure and Growth in Zimbabwe An Action Plan for Sustained Strong Economic Growth. TUNIS Belvédère: ADBG.
- Benitez, P., Brown, M., Boehlert, B., Davies, R. and Van Seventer, D. E. N., 2018. Assessment of the Potential Impacts of Climate Variability and Shocks on Zimbabwe's Agricultural Sector. The World Bank. World Bank Report.
- Bhaga, T. D., Dube, T., Shekede, M. D. and Shoko, C., 2020. Impacts of Climate Variability and Drought on Surface Water Resources in Sub-Saharan Africa Using Remote Sensing: A Review. *Remote Sensing*, 12, 4184.

- Brazier, A., 2015. *Climate change in Zimbabwe: Facts for planners and decision makers*, Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung. <u>https://www.kas.de/web/simbabwe/publikationen/einzeltitel/-</u> /content/climate-change-in-zimbabwe (Accessed 15/5/2021).
- Brown, D., Chanakira, R. R., Chatiza, K., Dhliwayo, M., Dodman, D., Masiiwa, M., Muchadenyika, D., Mugabe, P. and Zvigadza, S., 2012. *Climate change impacts, vulnerability and adaptation in Zimbabwe*, International Institute for Environment and Development London.
- Chamaillé-Jammes, S., Fritz, H. and Murindagomo, F., 2007. Detecting climate changes of concern in highly variable environments: Quantile regressions reveal that droughts worsen in Hwange National Park, Zimbabwe. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 71, 321 – 326.
- Chanza, N. and Gundu-Jakarasi, V., 2020. Deciphering the climate change conundrum in Zimbabwe: an exposition. *Global Warming and Climate Change*. IntechOpen.
- Chifamba, E., Nyanga, T. and Gukurume, S., 2013. Irrigation water pricing and cost recuperation for sustainability of irrigation projects in Nyanyadzi, Zimbabwe. *Russian Journal of Agricultural Socio-Economic Sciences*, 15.
- Chigumira, E., 2018. Political ecology of agrarian transformation: The nexus of mining and agriculture in Sanyati District, Zimbabwe. *Journal of rural studies*, 61, 265-276.
- Chirisa, I., 2019. The Sustainability Ethic in the Management of the Physical, Infrastructural and Natural Resources of Zimbabwe, Langaa RPCIG.
- Chitata, T., Mugabe, F. T. and Kashaigili, J. J., 2014. Estimation of small reservoir sedimentation in semi-arid southern Zimbabwe. <u>http://www.suaire.sua.ac.tz/handle/123456789/1402</u> [Accessed 15/04/2021].
- Cook, J., Oreskes, N., Doran, P. T., Anderegg, W. R., Verheggen, B., Maibach, E. W., Carlton, J. S., Lewandowsky, S., Skuce, A. G. and Green, S. A., 2016. Consensus on consensus: a synthesis of consensus estimates on human-caused global warming. *Environmental Research Letters*, 11, 048002.
- Davis, R. and Hirji, R., 2014. Climate change and water resources planning, development and management in Zimbabwe. An issues paper, World Bank, Harare.
- Dube, K., 2016. Implications of rural irrigation schemes on household economy. A case of Lower Gweru Irrigation Scheme, Zimbabwe. South African Journal of Agricultural Extension, 44, 75-90.

- Ebi, K. L., Ndebele-Murisa, M. R., Newsham, A. J. and Schleyer, M., 2014. IPCC WGII AR5 Chapter 22. Africa. <u>http://papadembafall.com/publications/IPCC%20WGIIAR5-</u> <u>Chap22 Africa.pdf</u> (Accessed 15/05/2021).
- FAO and SAFR., 2000. Socio-Economic Impact of Smallholder Irrigation Development in Zimbabwe. Case Studies of Ten Irrigation Schemes. SAFR/AGLW/DOC/002, Harare, Zimbabwe.
- FAO, 2016. AQUASTAT Country Profile Zimbabwe. Harare. http://www.fao.org/3/i9842en/I9842EN.pdf (Accessed 15/05/2021).
- Frischen, J., Meza, I., Rupp, D., Wietler, K. and Hagenlocher, M., 2020. Drought Risk to Agricultural Systems in Zimbabwe: A Spatial Analysis of Hazard, Exposure, and Vulnerability. Sustainability, 12, 752.
- Gemmill-Herren, B., Mtambanengwe, F., Mapfumo, P., Herren, G. L., Masehela, T. S., Stevenson,
  P. C. and Herren, J. K., 2019. 16 Harnessing ecosystem services in transforming agriculture in Southern Africa. *Transforming Agriculture in Southern Africa*, 143.
- GoZ, 1998. Water Act. Harare. Government Printers
- GoZ, 2000a. Zimbabwe National Water Authority Act. Harare. Government Printers
- GoZ, 2000b. Land Acquisition Act. Harare. Government Printers
- GoZ, 2003. Environmental Agency Act. Harare. Government Printers
- GoZ, 2011. Medium-Term Plan 2011–2015. Harare. Government Printers
- GoZ, 2012. Comprehensive Agricultural Policy Framework 2012–2032. Harare. Government Printers
- GoZ, 2013a. Zimbabwe's Agenda for Sustainable Socio-Economic Transformation (Zim Asset). Harare. Government Printers.
- GoZ, 2013b. Zimbabwe's Agricultural Investment Plan 2013–2017. Harare. Government Printers.
- GoZ., 2015. Zimbabwe's National Climate Change Response Strategy. Ministry of Environment, Water and Climate. Harare.
- GoZ, .2014. Zimbabwe National Climate Change Response Strategy. Republic of Zimbabwe Harare.
- GoZ, 2018. National Agricultural Framework 2018-2030. Harare. Government Printers.
- GoZ, BANK, W. & GFDRR 2019. Zimbabwe Rapid Impact and Needs Assessment (RINA). Harare

- GoZ, 2021a. Accelerated Irrigation Rehabilitation and Development 2021 2025. Ministry of Land Agriculture, Water and Rural development. Harare
- GoZ, 2021b. National Development Strategy 1 2021 2025. Harare. Government Printers.
- Gukurume, S., 2013. Climate change, variability and sustainable agriculture in Zimbabwe" s rural communities. *Russian Journal of Agricultural and Socio-Economic Sciences*, 14.
- Hanusch, M., Kwaramba, M., Janssen, W. G., Mekonnen, A. F., Herderschee, J., Ilieva, S., Swinkels, R. A., Maher, B. P., Pott, L. B. and Chigumira, E., 2019. Zimbabwe-Public Expenditure Review with a Focus on Agriculture. The World Bank.
- HLPE, 2015. Water for food security and nutrition. A report by the High Level Panel of Experts on Food Security and Nutrition of the Committee on World Food Security. <u>http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/user\_upload/hlpe/hlpe\_documents/HLPE\_Reports/HLPE-Reports/HLPE-Report-9\_EN.pdf</u> (Accessed 15/5/2021).
- IFAD, 2016. Smallholder irrigation revitalization programme detailed design report: Republic of Zimbabwe. <u>https://webapps.ifad.org/members/eb/118/docs/EB-2016-118-R-20-Project-design-report.pdf</u> (Accessed 15/5/2021).
- IPCC, 2014. ClimateChange 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part B: Regional Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth AssessmentReport of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (1757 – 1776). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Katsi, L., Siwadi, J., Guzha, E., Makoni, F. S. and Smits, S., 2007. Assessment of factors which affect multiple uses of water sources at household level in rural Zimbabwe–A case study of Marondera, Murehwa and Uzumba Maramba Pfungwe districts. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C*, 32, 1157 1166.
- Kotir, J. H., 2011. Climate change and variability in Sub-Saharan Africa: a review of current and future trends and impacts on agriculture and food security. *Environment, Development Sustainability* 13, 587 – 605.
- Kutywayo, D., Chemura, A., Kusena, W., Chidoko, P. and Mahoya, C., 2013. The impact of climate change on the potential distribution of agricultural pests: the case of the coffee white stem borer (Monochamus leuconotus P.) in Zimbabwe. *PLoS One*, 8, e73432.

- Mafongoya, P., Gubba, A., Moodley, V., Chapoto, D., Kisten, L. and Phophi, M., 2019. Climate Change and Rapidly Evolving Pests and Diseases in Southern Africa. *New Frontiers in Natural Resources Management in Africa.* Springer.
- Magadza, C., 1994. Climate change: some likely multiple impacts in Southern Africa. *Food Policy*, 19, 165 191.
- Magrath, J., Tshabangu, L. and Mativenga, S., 2014. Irrigation Schemes and Weather Extremes: The challenge for Zimbabwe. <u>https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/322350/cs-Zimbabwe-</u> irrigation-scheme-Ruti-100714-en.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y (Accessed 15/5/2021).
- Makadho, J., Matondi, P.B. and Munyuki-Hungwe, M., 2006. Irrigation development andwater resource management. In: Rukuni, M., Tawonezvi, P.H., Eicher, C.K., Munyuki-Hungwe, M., Matondi, P. (Eds.), Zimbabwe's Agricultural Revolutionrevisited. University of Zimbabwe Publications, Harare, 165 186.
- Manatsa et al. (2020). Revision of Zimbabwe's Agro-Ecological Zones. This is particularly in relation to climate change .
- Manyeruke, C., Hamauswa, S. and Mhandara, L., 2013. The effects of climate change and variability on food security in Zimbabwe: a socio-economic and political analysis. *International Journal of Humanities Social Science*, 3, 270 286.
- Manzungu, E., 1999. Strategies of smallholder irrigation management in Zimbabwe. Wageningen University.
- Manzungu, E., (2004). Public institutions in smallholder irrigation in Zimbabwe. In (Eds. Henk A.G., Leeuwis, Action. Experiences from Zimbabwe. Pp.27 55.
- Manzungu E. (2004) Farmers' elected bodies and smallholder irrigation in Zimbabwe. 2004. In: (Eds. Henk A.G., Leeuwis, Manzungu, E., and Vincent, L.F.) Agrarian Institutions between Policies and Local Action. Experiences from Zimbabwe. Pp 165 – 187.
- Mapani, B., Magole, L., Makurira, H., Meck, M., Mkandawire, T., Mul, M. and Ngongondo, C., 2017. Integrated water resources management and infrastructure planning for water security in Southern Africa. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, 100:1 – 2.
- Masasi, B. & Ng'ombe, J. N., 2019. Does a market systems approach revitalize smallholder irrigation schemes? Evidence from Zimbabwe. *Sustainable Agriculture Research* 8, 2: 36.

- Matsika, O., 2021. Smallholder farmers' perceptions of policies affecting/influencing sustainability of irrigation projects in Zvimba District, Zimbabwe. *International Journal of Education Humanities and Social Science* 4, 02; 155 169.
- Mavhura, E., 2020. Learning from the tropical cyclones that ravaged Zimbabwe: policy implications for effective disaster preparedness. *Natural Hazards*, 1 15.
- Mazvimavi, D., 2010. Investigating changes over time of annual rainfall in Zimbabwe. *Hydrology Earth System Sciences*, 14, 2671.
- Meinzen-Dick, R., 1997. Valuing the multiple uses of irrigation water. *Water: Economic, Management and Demand*, 50 – 58.
- Milne, G., Mekonnen, A. F. and Benitez Ponce, P. C., 2019. Zimbabwe-Climate Smart Agriculture Investment Plan. The World Bank.
- Mosello, B., Oates, N. and Jobbins, G., 2017. Pathways for irrigation development: Policies and irrigation performance in Zimbabwe. <u>https://media.africaportal.org/documents/Hi\_Res\_Zimbabwe14\_02\_17.pdf</u> (Accessed 15/5/2021)
- Moyo, M., Van Rooyen, A., Bjornlund, H., Parry, K., Stirzaker, R., Dube, T. and Maya, M., 2020.
   The dynamics between irrigation frequency and soil nutrient management: transitioning smallholder irrigation towards more profitable and sustainable systems in Zimbabwe.
   *International Journal of Water Resources Development*, 1 25.
- Moyo, M., Van Rooyen, A., Moyo, M., Chivenge, P. and Bjornlund, H., 2017. Irrigation development in Zimbabwe: Understanding productivity barriers and opportunities at Mkoba and Silalatshani irrigation schemes. *International Journal of Water Resources* Development, 33, 740 – 754.
- Mudhara, M. and Senzanje, A., 2020. Assessment of policies and strategies for the governance of smallholder irrigation farming in Kwazulu-Natal Province, South Africa. *WRC*.
- Mugandani, R., Wuta, M., Makarau, A. and Chipindu, B., 2012. Re-classification of agroecological regions of Zimbabwe in conformity with climate variability and change. *African Crop Science Journal*, 20, 361 – 369.
- Muronzi, H. and Mukarwi, L., 2019. Smallholder Farmers' Adaptive Capacity to Climate Change and Variability in Zimbabwe. *The Sustainability Ethic in the Management of the Physical, Infrastructural Natural Resources of Zimbabwe*, 301.

- Mutambara, S., Darkoh, M. B. and Atlhopheng, J. R., 2017. Water supply system and the sustainability of smallholder irrigation in Zimbabwe. *International Journal of Development and Sustainability*, 6, 497 – 525.
- Mutekwa, V., 2009. Climate change impacts and adaptation in the agricultural sector: The case of smallholder farmers in Zimbabwe. *Journal of Sustainable Development in Africa*, 11, 237 – 256.
- Muzari, W., Nyamushamba, G. and Soropa, G. 2016. Climate change adaptation in Zimbabwe" s agricultural Sector. *International Journal of Science Research*, *5*, 1762 1768.
- Nangombe, S., 2015. Drought conditions and management strategies in Zimbabwe. Proceedings of the regional workshops on capacity development to support national drought management policies for eastern and southern Africa and the near east and north Africa Regions, *Meteorological Services Department*, Harare, Zimbabwe. 84 89.
- Ngara, T., 2017. Climate-Smart Agriculture Manual for Agriculture Education in Zimbabwe. https://www.ctc-n.org/sites/www.ctc-n.org/files/resources/climatesmart\_agriculture\_manual\_0.pdf. (Accessed 15/5/2021).
- Nhemachena, C., Nhamo, L., Matchaya, G., Nhemachena, C. R., Muchara, B., Karuaihe, S. T. and Mpandeli, S., 2020. Climate Change Impacts on Water and Agriculture Sectors in Southern Africa: Threats and Opportunities for Sustainable Development. *Water*. 12, 2673.
- Nkomozepi, T. and Chung, S. O., 2012. Assessing the trends and uncertainty of maize net irrigation water requirement estimated from climate change projections for Zimbabwe. *Agricultural Water Management*, 111, 60 67.
- Nyakudya, I.W. and Stroosnijder, L., 2014. Effect of rooting depth, plant density and planting date on maize (Zea mays L.) yield and water use efficiency in semi-arid Zimbabwe: Modelling with AquaCrop. Agricultural Water Management, 146, pp.280 – 296.
- Nyanga, T. and Zirima, H., 2020. Reactions of small to medium enterprises in masvingo, Zimbabwe to covid 19: Implications on productivity. *Business Excellence and Management*, 10, 22 – 32.
- Nyoni, T and Bonga, W. G., (2017). Population Growth in Zimbabwe: A Threat to Economic Development? DRJ *Journal of Economics and Finance*, 2 (6): 29 39. https://www.researchgate.net/publications/318211505

- Palombi, L. and Sessa, R., 2013. Climate-smart Agriculture: Sourcebook. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.http://www.fao.org/docrep/018/i3325e/i3325e.pdf.
- Pittock, J., Orr, S., Stevens, L., Aheeyar, M. and & Smith, M., 2015. Tackling trade-offs in the nexus of water, energy and food. *Aquatic Procedia*, 5, 58 68.
- Rukuni, M., 1984. Organisation and management of smallholder irrigation: the case of Zimbabwe. *Agricultural Administration*, 17, 215 – 229.
- Rukuni, M., 1988. The evolution of smallholder irrigation policy in Zimbabwe: 1928–1986. *Irrigation and Drainage Systems*, 2, 199–210.
- Samakande, I., Senzanje, A. and Manzungu, E., 2004. Sustainable water management in smallholder irrigation schemes: Understanding the impact of field water management on maize productivity on two irrigation schemes in Zimbabwe. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C,* 29, 1075 – 1081.
- Scoones, I., Murimbarimba, F. and Mahenehene, J., 2019. Irrigating Zimbabwe after land reform: The potential of farmer-led systems. *Water Alternatives*, 12, 88 – 106.
- Senzanje, A., Boelee, E. and Rusere, S., 2008. Multiple use of water and water productivity of communal small dams in the Limpopo Basin, Zimbabwe. *Irrigation and Drainage Systems*, 22, 225 – 237.
- UN, 2019. World Population Prospects 2019. *Highlights*. Department of Economic and Social Affairs Population Division. New York, USA.
- UNFCCC, 1998. Zimbabwe's initial national communication on climate change. United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change.
- World Bank, 2019. Zimbabwe Public Expenditure Review with a Focus on Agriculture. World Bank.
- WORLD BANK, 2020. Climate Risk Profile: Zimbabwe [Online]. The World Bank Group.
   Available: <u>https://climateknowledgeportal.worldbank.org/sites/default/files/2020-06/14956-ZimbabweCountryProfile-WEB\_v1.pdf</u>. (Accessed 02/08/2020).
- You, L., Ringler, C., Wood-Sichra, U., Robertson, R., Wood, S., Zhu, T., Nelson, G., Guo, Z. and Sun, Y., 2011. What is the irrigation potential for Africa? A combined biophysical and socioeconomic approach. *Food Policy*, 36, 770 – 782.

Zawe, C., Madyiwa, S. and Matete, M., 2015. Trends and Outlook: Agricultural Water Management in Southern Africa Country Report Zimbabwe. cgiar.

# **CHAPTER 3**

# ASSESSING VULNERABILITY TO CLIMATE CHANGE IN SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES OF ZIMBABWE<sup>2</sup>

# Abstract

Globally, climate change poses enormous threats to the livelihoods of rural communities in arid and semi-arid regions. Assessing the extent of vulnerability is critical to identify climate hot spots and develop appropriate adaptation policies and strategies. This paper uses the Livelihood Vulnerability Index (LVI) and the Livelihood Vulnerability Index-Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (LVI-IPCC) to compare vulnerability to climate change in the Exchange, Insukamini, and Ruchanyu smallholder irrigation schemes (SISs) in the Midlands Province of Zimbabwe. A questionnaire was used to collect data from a sample of 317 randomly selected households. Results show higher exposure and sensitivity to climate change in the Insukamini irrigation scheme despite the higher adaptive capacity. Both LVI and LVI-IPCC show that households in Insukamini irrigation scheme are more vulnerable to climate change than in Exchange and Ruchanyu irrigation schemes, attributed to water insecurity, poor social networks, and natural disasters and climate variability. The study recommends that development and investment in Insukamini and Ruchanyu should prioritize improving social networks while Exchange should primarily focus on improving livelihood strategies. Using the LVI-IPCC framework is a key methodology for understanding the vulnerability of communities in SISs and identifying areas that need prime development and investment. These results have implications on implementing investments and livelihood policies in SISs of Zimbabwe.

Keywords: exposure; adaptive capacity; sensitivity; livelihood vulnerability index; adaptation

# 3.1. Introduction

Climate change poses a significant threat to smallholder agricultural systems in arid and semi-arid regions (Mavhura *et al.*, 2015), in which a greater proportion of the population depends on the agricultural sector for food and income security (Mukwada and Manatsa, 2018). The risk posed by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This chapter has been accepted by *Sustainability*: Mwadzingeni Liboster, Mugandani Raymond, Mafongoya Paramu L. Assessing Vulnerability to Climate Change in Smallholder Irrigation Schemes of Zimbabwe. Sustainability. 2021 Jan;13(18):10023. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su131810023</u>. Published by Sustainability.

climate change is now greater in developing countries, given high exposure and sensitivity coupled with a low adaptive capacity (Leal Filho *et al.*, 2019). Understanding localised vulnerability of livelihood systems of poverty-stricken communities is highly prioritised given the need to develop National Adaptation Plans (NAPs). Currently, many countries in southern Africa, including Zimbabwe, are developing NAPS for improved adaptation to climate change as stipulated in the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) (Chagutah, 2010). Available evidence suggests that Africa's climate is changing, and the negative implications are direct in communities deriving livelihoods from climate-sensitive sectors (Kotir, 2011, Perez *et al.*, 2015). In southern Africa, there has been an increase in both the frequency and severity of extreme events, particularly droughts (Davis and Vincent, 2017), with negative consequences on the livelihoods of communities dependent on climate-sensitive sectors such as agriculture and natural resources (Davis and Vincent, 2017, Kula *et al.*, 2013). In the absence of adaptation strategies, climate change poses a significant threat to the achievement of sustainable development.

Zimbabwe is one of the countries in southern Africa regarded as a climate hot spot. Over the past century, daily maximum and daily minimum temperatures in the country, have increased by 2.6 °C and 2.0 °C, respectively (Bhatasara, 2017, Simba et al., 2012), while rainfall has dropped by ap-proximately 10% over the same period (Bhatasara, 2017, Simba et al., 2012). Meanwhile, cyclones and droughts have become more severe in the past decade (Bhatasara, 2017). Empirical evidence suggests that climate change is expected to result in increased temperature and a more variable precipitation pattern, including high frequency and intensity of extreme weather events (IPCC, 2014) with severe implications for human welfare (Mpambela and Mabvurira, 2017, Brown et al., 2012, Manyeruke et al., 2013). The minimum temperature in Zimbabwe is projected to rise by 0.99 °C to 1.18 °C and by 1.55 °C to 1.98 °C in the 2030s and 2050s, respectively (World Bank, 2020). Similarly, the maximum temperature is expected to increase by 1.08 °C to 1.31 °C and by 1.8 °C to 2.27 °C in the 2030s and 2050s, respectively (World Bank, 2020). Meanwhile, projections for rainfall indicate that it will change its pattern, frequency, and intensity (IPCC, 2014). As a result, there is increased expectation that warm spell durations and heatwaves will escalate (IPCC, 2014), with droughts and cyclones following suit. The droughts are projected to increase by 21% and 47% in the 2050s and 2080–2090s, respectively (World Bank, 2020), while days of the subsequent dry spell are projected to increase by thirteen and twenty-five days per annum in the 2050s and 2090s, respectively (World Bank, 2020). Thus, a decline in precipitation pattern, a warming trend and an increase in the severity of weather extremes are expected to be the new norm for southern Africa, where Zimbabwe is located. However, the evaporation rate of 5.1 mm at maximum temperature of 24.9 °C reported in Zimbabwe will increase as climate change impacts worsen (Simba *et al.*, 2013).

Zimbabwe, with 13.1 million people (ZIMSTAT, 2016), is an agro-based economy (Green, 2020, Chanza and Gundu-Jakarasi, 2020). It pro-vides 60% of inputs to manufacturing industries (Simba et al., 2013), it is a market to 40% of industrial outputs (ZIMSTAT, 2016, Chanza and Gundu-Jakarasi, 2020), contributes 30% of export earnings (Chanza and Gundu-Jakarasi, 2020), employs 60-70% of the national labour force, contributing up to 19% of the national GDP, and provides livelihoods for 70% of the national population (Chanza and Gundu-Jakarasi, 2020). In addition, it is a source of food and income security for over 67% of the population (World Bank, 2019). Despite the role of agriculture in socio-economic development, the sector, which is mainly rainfed, is highly vulnerable to climate change and extreme weather events, particularly droughts (World Bank, 2019, Brown et al., 2012). For example, the severe drought of 1991/1992 resulted in a decline of the nation's agricultural production by 45% and its GDP by 11%, respectively (Bhaga et al., 2020). These extremes have severe implications for poverty. Empirical evidence suggests that over the past three decades, extreme poverty rose from 29% (4.7 million people) in 2018 to 34% (5.7 million people) in 2019 due to sub-normal rainfall (Green, 2020). Poverty will worsen land and forest degradation, further reducing the capacity of communities to absorb climate shocks (Thomalla et al., 2006). In the absence of policies and strategies, smallholder farmers will have difficulties in sustainably increasing agricultural yields given high climate variability (Adu et al., 2018). Therefore, to develop appropriate policies and adaptation strategies, it is critical to carry out vulnerability assessments in light of the significant investments the country has made in smallholder irrigation schemes. In total, 216,000 ha of irrigation land were developed in Zimbabwe by 2020, of which 26,000 ha are under smallholder irrigation farming (GoZ, 2020), yet currently, only 175 000 ha are functional and predominantly under overhead irrigation (77%) (GoZ, 2020). Thus, assessing vulnerability of the SISs using credible methods and tools is a priority research area given the risk posed by climate change.

The most useful method of assessing vulnerability, which is recently in use at the society level, is the Livelihood Vulnerability Index (LVI) adapted to the IPCC framework (LVI-IPCC) (Hahn *et* 

al., 2009). LIV-IPCC indices, developed by Hahn et al. (2009), were widely used to quantify vulnerability to climate change and variability (Hahn et al., 2009, Sarker et al., 2019, Sujakhu et al., 2019, Abeje et al., 2019, Amuzu et al., 2018). LVI-IPCC maps LVI components into exposure, adaptive capacity, and vulnerability (Simane et al., 2016). The LVI-IPCC indices can synthesize complex situations where a broad range of factors contribute to individuals' and societies' vulnerability (Botero and Salinas, 2013). It recognizes diversity in natural hazards, climatic conditions, and the socio-economic setup of communities (Simane et al., 2016). LVI-IPCC can also be used to compare the vulnerability of systems by comparing factors that worsen vulnerability within the community (Simane et al., 2016). Different scholars have analysed the vulnerability of Zimbabwean communities to climate change and variability and tried to develop adaptation strategies to climate hazards (Brown et al., 2012, Jiri et al., 2017, Jiri and Mafongoya, 2018, Chanza, 2018, Utete et al., 2019). Since Hahn et al. (2009) conducted research using LVI-IPCC in 2009, no research was conducted using LVI-IPCC in Zimbabwe. The present research is the first of its kind to assess vulnerability using LVI-IPCC in Zimbabwe. The results of most of these studies are general and aggregate, and they do not focus on the vulnerability of smallholder farming communities in the nation. Although agriculture was identified among the extremely vulnerable sectors to climate change and variability in Zimbabwe (Chanza, 2018), most studies focus on rain-fed agriculture, leaving the smallholder irrigation farming, something that has the potential to plunge the country into disaster, unnoticed. A handful of studies on vulnerability were conducted in Gokwe District (Gwimbi, 2009), Muzarabani District (Mavhura et al., 2017), Epworth (Harare) (Tawodzera, 2011), and Kariba resort town (Dube and Nhamo, 2020). However, to the best of our knowledge, the vulnerability assessment studies conducted in the country do not capture the vulnerability of smallholder irrigation farmers in the country, nor do they use the LVI-IPCC approach. In order to close this lacuna, a study was undertaken in the Midlands province, which, despite having the presence of several SISs (Utete et al., 2019), is among the highly vulnerable provinces to climate change and variability in Zimbabwe (Moyo et al., 2017). Thus, it was essential to understand the sources of the vulnerability to climate change in the SISs in the province for informed decisions in adaptation planning.

#### 3.2. Materials and methods

#### 3.2.1. Study area

To address the objectives of this study, we assessed three SISs in the Midlands province of Zimbabwe (Figure 3.1). The Midlands province is among the top three provinces with the highest number of SISs in Zimbabwe (IFAD, 2016). Moreover, of the SISs in the province, only slightly above half (about 53%) are reportedly functional (IFAD, 2016). In addition, irrigation schemes in the province are presumably vulnerable to climate change (Mhembwe *et al.*, 2019). Therefore, this study will be of significant reference to the vulnerability of SISs in Zimbabwe and across the region to climate change.

This study looked at three SISs. First, the Exchange irrigation scheme in Zhombe communal land, Silobela in Kwekwe District is around 60 km North-West of Kwekwe town and 80 km North-West of the provincial town of Gweru (Nyamayevu et al., 2015). It has a total irrigable area of about 168.8 ha irrigated arable land, occupied by 982 scheme farmers. It is in agroecological Zone 4, which is characterised by semi-arid climatic conditions, with average rainfall ranging from 450-650 mm and an average temperature of 26 °C (Chanza et al., 2019, Chivandi et al., 2012). The soils are mainly clay loam with high fertility (Nyamayevu et al., 2015). The Exchange irrigation scheme was developed in two phases; 56 ha were developed from 1973 and 111.8 from 1985 (Chancellor and Hide, 1997). The scheme draws its water from the Exchange dam which is temporarily stored in a night storage reservoir. Concrete-lined channels are used to deliver water to the plots. The Ex-change irrigation scheme uses a surface irrigation system to deliver water at an application rate of 90 mm per ha per 6 days cycle (0.9 mega litres per ha). Maize and sugar beans have a gross irrigation water requirement of 450 to 600 mm per ha (4.5–6 mega litres) (SEEDCO, 2020). The main crops grown are maize and sugar beans. The scheme has an average yield of 7 tonnes for maize, 1 tonne for winter sugar beans, and 1.2 tonnes for summer sugar beans (Chancellor and Hide, 1997). However, the market does not favour high-value crops due to the extended distance from the nearest towns and poor road network (Hettige, 2006).

Second is the Insukamini irrigation scheme in the Lower Gweru district is approximately 46 km North-West of the provincial town of Gweru. The scheme has a total irrigable area of about 41 ha, occupied by 125 scheme farmers. It is in agroecological Zone 4 and receives annual precipitation between 600–800 mm and an average temperature of 16 °C (Mark, 2012). Its soils are

characterised as sandy loam and clay loam. Farmers in the scheme grow a wide range of crops, including wheat, maize, peas, rape, sugar beans, onions, cabbages, tomatoes, and garlic (Matsa, 2012). The scheme was established in 1988 by the government of Zimbabwe through its funded national resettlement programme following the construction of the Insukamini dam by Danish International Development Agency (DANIDA) in 1986 (Matsa, 2012). It draws its water from the Insukamini dam, which is delivered gravitationally via a 1.6 km long open concrete canal. The Insukamini irrigation scheme uses a surface irrigation system to deliver water at an application rate of 90 mm per 6 days cycle (0.9 mega litres per ha). Maize, wheat, and sugar beans have a gross irrigation water requirement of 450 to 600 mm per ha (4.5–6 mega litres) (Matandare, 2015). The scheme farmers attain an average yield of maize of 4.4 tonnes per hectare and yields of 1.9 tonnes for sugar beans (Matandare, 2015). Farmers in the Insukamini irrigation schemes market their crops mainly to Gweru and Bulawayo towns. They use various market channels, including hawkers, farmgate sales, Grain Marketing Board (GMB), shops, and urban deliveries (Matsa, 2012).

The third is the Ruchanyu irrigation scheme in Shurugwi District nearly 29 km South-West of Shurugwi town. It has a total irrigable area of 27 ha operated by 85 scheme farmers. The scheme uses sprinkler irrigation technique. The scheme is in agroecological Zone 3 and it receives an average annual rainfall between 650–850 mm and an average temperature of  $16 \,^{\circ}C$  (Mhembwe *et al.*, 2019). It was established in the early 1980s. The scheme uses engines to pump water from the Mutevekwi River, but its pumping is challenged by vandalism of irrigation equipment (water pumps) and regular power cuts (Mhembwe *et al.*, 2019). Soils are fertile sandy loam soils. Farmers market their product on the farm gate and in Shurugwi town. The Ruchanyu irrigation scheme uses a sprinkler irrigation system to deliver water at an ap-plication rate of 90 mm per 6 days cycle (0.6 mega litres per ha). Maize, the major crop grown in the scheme, has a gross irrigation water requirement of 450 to 600 mm per ha (4.5–6 mega litres per ha). However, the yields are low (less than 2 tonnes per hectare) due to the challenges of pumping water.



Figure 3. 1: Map of the study area.

# 3.2.2. Data collection

The study used questionnaire surveys, Focus Group Discussions (FGDs), and Key Informant Interviews (KIIs) to collect data. We collected data on demographic, livelihood strategies, food, water, health, social networks, and natural disaster profiles for estimating LVI. The questions that were asked under each profile were based on existing literature on vulnerability analysis. Nonetheless, we conducted a pilot study to determine the suitability of the questionnaire for the study. Random sampling was used to select households to be interviewed based on the homogeneity of the households in each scheme. A statistically significant sample of 317 households (192 from Exchange irrigation scheme, 88 from Insukamini irrigation scheme, and 37 from Ruchanyu irrigation scheme) was selected for the study ( $p \le 5\%$ ). The sample size stated above was considered for this study because it is moderately small and thus, yields stronger estimates (Sadiq *et al.*, 2019, Dechartres *et al.*, 2013). We used the power test to determine the chances of a null hypothesis being rejected because it is false (Sadiq *et al.*, 2019). We used stratified random sampling to obtain a reasonable sample from each scheme. To attain the desired power of estimates, we considered a margin error of 5%, a confidence level of 95%, and the assumption of a response rate of 50%. We randomly selected 10–15 household heads for the FGDs to help understand vulnerability to climate change in SISs. Key informant interviews provide expert information about the challenges of climate change in SISs. Data on rainfall, minimum, and maximum temperatures were obtained from the Department of Metrological Services of Zimbabwe.

# 3.2.3. Data analysis

The LVI-IPCC framework by Hahn *et al.* (2009) is the approach used for data analysis in this study. It was used to measure the vulnerability of each SIS to climate change and to compare the vulnerability of the schemes. It identifies the factors that contribute to the vulnerability of each scheme to climate change. The LVI score, which ranges from 0 (least vulnerable) to 1 (most vulnerable), was used. In this work, we adopted the vulnerability classes used by Thuy and Anh (2021), where LVI scores are classified into four categories: low (0–0.25), moderate (0.25–0.5), high (0.5–0.75), and very high (0.75–1). Similarly, we classified LVI-IPCC scores into the following categories: low (-1--0.5), moderate (-0.5-0), high (0-0.5), and very high (0.5-1). Following previous work by UNDP (2007), Equation 1, which is used when calculating life expectancy, was applied to standardize the different variables that were measured using different scales.

$$Index_{sd} = \frac{S_v - S_{min}}{S_{max} - S_{min}} \tag{1}$$

where  $S_{\nu}$  is the original subcomponent value of area  $\nu$  and  $S_{min}$  and  $S_{max}$  are the minimum and maximum value of the subcomponent, respectively. Equation (2) was used to produce the value of major components.

$$M_{dj} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \operatorname{Index} sdi}{n}$$
(2)

where  $M_{dj}$  is the value of major component d in area j, Index sdi is the indexed value of subcomponent i, and n is the number of subcomponents in major component  $M_{dj}$ .

The values of the seven major components—Socio-Demographic Profile (SDP), Livelihood Profile (LP), Social Network (SN), Health (H), Food (F), Water (W), or Natural Disasters and Climate Variability (NDCV)—were used to calculate LVI using Equations (3) and (4).

$$LVI_{j} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{7} W_{Md} M_{dj}}{\sum_{i=1}^{7} W_{Md}}$$
(3)

Equation (3) can be expanded to Equation (4)

$$LVI_{j} = \frac{W_{SDP}SDP_{j} + W_{LP}LP_{j} + W_{SN}SN_{j} + W_{H}H_{j} + W_{F}F_{j} + W_{W}W_{j} + W_{NDCV}NDCV_{j}}{W_{SDP} + W_{LP} + W_{SN} + W_{H} + W_{F} + W_{W} + W_{NDCV}}$$
(4)

where  $LVI_j$  is the livelihood vulnerability index of area j;  $W_{Md}$  is the weight of component d; and  $W_{SDP}$ ,  $W_{LP}$ ,  $W_{SN}$ ,  $W_H$ ,  $W_F$ ,  $W_W$ ,  $W_{NDSP}$  are the weighed values of SDP, LP, SN, H, F, W, and NDCV profiles, respectively.

# 3.2.4. IPCC framework of calculating LVI

Calculating LVI using Hahn *et al.*'s (2009) IPCC framework approach starts by combining seven major components of LVI into three contributing factors to LVI: exposure (E), sensitivity (S), and adaptive capacity (AC), as in Equation (5). Adaptive capacity is composed of Socio-Demographic Profile, Livelihood Strategies, and Social Networks; Sensitivity is quantified by Health, Food, and Water profiles; while exposure is made up of Natural Disasters and Climate Variability.

$$LVI - IPCC_{j} = (E_{j} - S_{j}) \times AC_{j}$$
(5)

where  $LVI - IPCC_j$ —LVI for area j expressed using IPCC vulnerability framework approach;  $E_j$ —calculated exposure score for area j;  $S_j$ —calculated sensitivity score for area j; and  $AC_j$ —calculated adaptive capacity score for area j.

#### 3.3. Results

The results of our analysis are presented in two sections. The first section makes a comparative and contrasting analysis of the livelihood vulnerability index of the three irrigation schemes using the seven major components and sub-components. The second section deals with LVI contributing factors and LVI-IPCC.

# **Comparing LVI among schemes**

Figure 3.2 illustrates the LVI indices of the seven major components for the Exchange, Insukamini, and Ruchanyu irrigation schemes. Subsequently, Table 3.1 displays the indices of the subcomponents of the LVI for each scheme. The results indicate that the dependency ratio was high among the three schemes as the number of orphans and aging household members are high. The female-headed households have a moderate vulnerability score in all schemes. The households headed by individuals without formal education have low vulnerability scores in all schemes. The majority of the household heads have attained at least a year of formal education.

Additionally, the households looking after orphans have a high vulnerability score in Ruchanyu, a moderate vulnerability score in Insukamini, and a low vulnerability score in Exchange. Insukamini has a high vulnerability score in relation to the age of household heads, whereas in Ruchanyu and Exchange, the vulnerability scores are moderate. Overall, the three schemes yielded a moderate vulnerability score on the socio-demographic profile index.

The households with members working in other communities have high vulnerability scores across the three schemes as youths in rural communities move to urban areas and neighbouring countries to seek employment. Furthermore, the households solely dependent on agriculture for their livelihoods have very high vulnerability scores in all three schemes. However, a low vulnerability score was attained in the three schemes for the livelihood diversification index. Most of the scheme farmers have various livelihood options: crafting, fishing, artisanal mining and gathering, trading wild fruits and wild insects. Ruchanyu has a high vulnerability score for livelihood strategies, while Exchange and Insukamini attained moderate vulnerability scores.

The receive-give ratio yielded very high vulnerability scores in all three schemes. However, all of them had moderate scores for the borrow-lend ratio. In addition, the households that have not received any assistance from the government and NGOs have a moderate vulnerability score in Insukamini but low scores in low Exchange and Ruchanyu.

The households dependent on the family farm for food have scored very high vul-nerability scores for the three schemes, as scheme farmers primarily rely on the family farm for food. Generally, households in rural areas rely on the family farm for food. Households in the three schemes have low vulnerability scores for the number of months households struggle to find enough food for their families during the year. They rely on ir-rigation farming for food and have a culture to save food for the future season. House-holds in Exchange and Ruchanyu have high vulnerability scores in relation to crop diver-sification index compared to Insukamini, which recorded a low vulnerability score for this sub-component. Farmers in Exchange are limited to the production of maize and sugar beans for household consumptions. In addition, farmers in Ruchanyu face challenges ac-cessing water due to pump breakdown, inability to pay electricity bills, and regular power cuts.

Moreover, the households that do not save harvested crops for consumption during the greater part of the year have low vulnerability scores in the three schemes. The house-holds that do not save seeds have a moderate vulnerability score in Exchange but low scores in Insukamini and Ruchanyu. Generally, vulnerability scores of food component were moderate in Exchange and Ruchanyu but low in Insukamini.

Water conflicts have moderate vulnerability scores across all schemes in the study. The vulnerability score in relation to the average time to clean water source was high in Insukamini, moderate in Exchange, and low in Ruchanyu. A moderate vulnerability score of lack of access to a constant clean water supply was observed among the households in Insukamini compared to the other two schemes, which scored low vulnerability scores. The Insukamini dam regularly dries up during the summer season of the year. In relation to the water-related subcomponents, the vulnerability scores of water were moderate in Insukamini and Exchange but low in Ruchanyu. Ruchanyu has high water sensitivity in relation to irrigation infrastructure maintenance compared to Insukamini with a moderate score and Exchange with a low score. The vulnerability score of households not satisfied with water distribution in the scheme was moderate for the three schemes. Similarly, poor conflict resolution in schemes attained a moderate vulnerability score for the three schemes. However, the three schemes reported high vulnerability scores on the decline in irrigation water supply. Households not participating in water scheduling yielded higher vulnerability scores in Exchange and Insukamini and low scores in Ruchanyu. Insuka-mini has a higher vulnerability score for households not participating in water-related training, while Exchange and Ruchanyu attained moderate scores.

Vulnerability in relation to time to the nearest health facility has low vulnerability scores in the three schemes. A moderate vulnerability score was obtained in Ruchanyu for the percentage of households with chronically ill members, while Exchange and Insuka-mini have low scores. However, Insukamini and Ruchanyu have both reported moderate vulnerability scores for the percentage of people who were so sick two weeks prior to the survey, while Exchange reported a

47

low score. Based on health-related sub-component, the three schemes recorded low vulnerability scores.

		e	1 000
			Statistic (p-
			Value)
Socio-Demographic profile0.3720.	.404	0.430	F = 2.776
Dependency ratio 0.802 0.	.689	0.804	$p \le 0.10$
Female household heads0.3650.	.409	0.297	
Household head did not attend school 0.005 0.	0.012	0.000	
Households with orphans 0.193 0.	0.364	0.568	
Average age of household heads0.4960.	0.544	0.482	
Livelihood Strategies 0.551 0.	.480	0.496	F = 5.081
Households with members working outside 0.661 0.	0.529	0.608	$p \le 0.01$
Households depending solely on agriculture 0.922 0.	0.830	0.811	
Livelihood diversification Index0.0700.	0.080	0.070	
Food 0.329 0.	.224	0.296	F = 0.298
Households' dependent on family farm for 0.870 0.	0.727	0.946	$p \ge 0.10$
food			
Number of months without food 0.062 0.	0.118	0.101	
Crop diversification index 0.37 0.	0.08	0.300	
HHs that do not save food 0.042 0.	0.068	0.081	
HHs that do not save seed 0.302 0.	0.136	0.054	
Water 0.379 0.	0.570	0.352	F =24.856
Water conflicts0.2650.	0.364	0.378	$p \le 0.01$
Time to water source0.4090.	0.584	0.122	
Households without constant water supply 0.068 0.	0.352	0.081	
Households not satisfied with irrigation 0.196 0.	0.452	0.616	

# Table 3. 1: Sub-components, components, and LVI of Exchange, Insukamini, and Ruchanyu irrigation schemes.

infrastructure maintenance

Household not satisfied with water	0.309	0.484	0.487	
distribution in scheme				
Households reporting poor conflict resolution	0.377	0.459	0.481	
in scheme				
Household reporting a decline in irrigation	0.823	0.859	0.687	
water supply				
Households not participating in water	0.698	0.722	0.189	
scheduling				
Households not participating in water related	0.268	0.853	0.311	
trainings				
Health	0.116	0.195	0.235	F = 3.955
Hours to health facility	0.201	0.188	0.112	$p \le 0.05$
Households with chronically ill members	0.068	0.068	0.297	
Households with sick members in the last 2	0.078	0.330	0.297	
weeks				
Social Networks	0.335	0.616	0.509	F = 9.762
Receive: Give ratio	0.954	0.840	0.846	$p \le 0.01$
Borrow: Lend ratio	0.302	0.409	0.405	
Households without assistance from	0.005	0.386	0.243	
government and NGOs				
Households without members in cooperatives	0.078	0.830	0.541	
Natural Disasters and Climate variability	0.444	0.503	0.442	F = 2.257
Household that does not receive warning	0.193	0.330	0.162	$p \ge 0.10$
about pending natural hazard				
Number of floods, droughts events in the past	0.317	0.550	0.400	
10 years				
Households with members lost or injured due	0.531	0.614	0.514	
to floods or drought in the past 10 years				
Households that lost livestock due to floods or	0.026	0.034	0.108	
drought in the past 10 years				

Households who report a rise in drought	0.943	0.955	0.811	
incidences				
Mean, standard deviation of monthly rainfall	0.609	0.609	0.609	
Mean, standard deviation of monthly average	0.536	0.536	0.536	
maximum daily temperature				
Mean, average of monthly average minimum	0.393	0.393	0.393	
daily temperature				
LVI	0.444	0.503	0.442	F = 4.462
				$p \le 0.05$

Insukamini has a very high vulnerability score for cooperative membership, while Ruchanyu has a high score and Exchange has a low score. The overall vulnerability scores of the social network component were high in Insukamini and Ruchanyu, while low in Exchange.

The percentage of households that did not receive warnings of pending natural hazards indicated a moderate vulnerability score in Insukamini and low scores in Ruchanyu and Exchange. The vulnerability score in relation to incidences of natural hazards (droughts and floods events) was high in Insukamini and moderate in Exchange and Ruchanyu. The percentage of livestock fatalities due to floods and droughts produced high vulnerability scores in the three schemes. The households that reported death or in-jury due to natural hazards reported low vulnerability scores in all schemes. The house-hold members that reported a rise in drought incidences have very high vulnerability scores among the three schemes. The mean standard deviation of monthly rainfall was high among all schemes. In addition, the mean standard deviation of monthly average maximum daily temperature showed high vulnerability scores in all the schemes. Overall, Insukamini has a high vulnerability score of natural disasters and climate variability index, whereas Ruchanyu and Exchange recorded moderate scores.

All three schemes have moderate vulnerability scores for LVI. The results of major components are illustrated using a graphical diagram, with a scale that ranges from 0 (less vulnerable) to 1 (more vulnerable) (Figure 3.2). Figure 3.2 shows that Insukamini is more vulnerable in terms of social networks, water, and natural disasters and climate variability, while Exchange is more vulnerable in terms of livelihood strategies and food. Ruchanyu has a comparatively higher vulnerability in terms of socio-demographic profile and health.

Figure 3.3 below shows LVI contributing factors for Exchange, Insukamini, and Ruchanyu irrigation schemes.



Figure 3. 2: Spider diagram of major components of the livelihood vulnerability of Exchange, Insukamini, and Ruchanyu irrigation schemes.



Figure 3. 3: Triangle diagram for contributing factors of LVI-IPCC.

# 3.4. Discussion

The use of indexed vulnerability analysis shows significant differences in the levels of vulnerability among the households in the three schemes ( $p \le 0.05$ ). Recently, indexed

vulnerability analysis has similarly found differences in vulnerability of communities in Bangladesh (Mudasser *et al.*, 2020), Ghana (Williams *et al.*, 2020), and Indonesia (Yulisa *et al.*, 2021). To better understand the sources of differences in vulnerabilities of the three schemes, the three contributing factors to vulnerability: exposure, sensitivity, and adaptive capacity were compared. Our results indicate that there were no significant differences in exposure among the three schemes ( $p \ge 0.10$ ). This revelation that shows that communities with the same exposure can have differences in vulnerabilities is consistent with literature that much of the vulnerability does not emerge from the sky (Ribot, 2013). The majority of the households in the schemes were affected by natural hazards such as droughts, cyclones, and floods.

Nevertheless, most of the farmers in the three schemes reported an increasing trend of droughts. It has been previously noted that schemes in Zimbabwe are facing increased water stress as drought worsens (Moyo *et al.*, 2017, Magrath *et al.*, 2014). Droughts are among the disasters that have been reported to be on the rise in Zimbabwe due to climate change (Matsa, 2012, Chigavazira and Zandamela, 2021). Vulnerability indices in Table 3.1 show that a high percentage of households in the three schemes lost their live-stock due to droughts. Previous studies have reported a loss of livestock during the drought periods of 1992 (Matope *et al.*, 2020, Belle *et al.*, 2017). Although the differences in exposure to climate change are high, households in Insukamini indicated limited access to natural disaster warnings. Early warnings of projected natural disasters and future weather patterns help households prepare, reduce, or prevent the impact of the climatic event (Amuzu *et al.*, 2018), enabling scheme farmers to develop and adopt water use strategies during such seasons to meet their crop water needs. Consequently, there is no significant variation in natural disasters and cli-mate among the households in the three schemes.

Nonetheless, there was cognisant of the existence of memory illusions when data are collected through toad science. Memory illusions refer to a situation where participants may exaggerate climate trends due to recent climate extremes experienced in an area (Labarrere *et al.*, 2011). The recent occurrence of climate extremes may mask the perception of people who tend to remember the recent extremes (Nhemachena and Warikandwa, 2019). To overcome the problem of memory illusion, standardising findings using the existing recorded trends is necessary. Most households in Insukamini recorded the highest number of members injured or died due to natural disasters. Most of the participants in Insukamini reported a rise in incidences of droughts over the years.

Climate data from Thornhill Airbase in Gweru were used as a standard for the three study sites since it was the only one containing rainfall and temperature data that have acceptable gaps. In Zimbabwe, meteorological trend analysis is hampered by inadequate weather network coverage. For example, at least two-thirds of the 64 synoptic stations in Zimbabwe are situated in the central watersheds, while there remains inadequate network coverage in arid and semi-arid regions of the country, where rainfall is highly erratic (GoZ, 2016). The limited coverage of rural communities makes tracking the impact of climate change in rural areas notoriously challenging and biased.

The sensitivity of the three schemes of the study significantly varies ( $p \le 0.05$ ) due to the schemes' variation of water and health components. However, the water challenges in Insukamini influence the scheme's overall sensitivity, given that Ruchanyu, with significantly high vulnerability, has a lower sensitivity index than Insukamini. Water is an essential source of livelihood in SISs in Zimbabwe; nevertheless, water conflicts are prevalent in smallholder irrigation farming across the country due to the systems' common pool resource nature and imbalance of demand and supply of freshwater (Duker et al., 2020). A moderate vulnerability score of water conflicts resolution in the three schemes reflects limited water access. Nonetheless, households in Insukamini are relatively more vulnerable regarding water ( $p \le 0.01$ ) due to higher distances to clean water sources and scarcity of water during dry seasons of the year. A majority of the farmers in Insukamini and Exchange travel long distances to the nearest water source during the dry season. On average, households in Exchange and Insukamini travel at least double the distance households in Ruchanyu travel to the water source. However, distance to water sources signifies water insecurity, diminishes available labour force, contributes to poor health, and worsens women's burden, given their primary responsibility of collecting water (Irianti and Prasetyoputra, 2019). Water becomes scarcer during the year's dry season, compromising Insukamini households' access to water for day-to-day use and irrigation purposes.

Similarly, the involvement of most households in the Insukamini irrigation scheme in commercial market gardening of vegetables that demand a constant water supply makes water supply challenges more visible than in other schemes (Dube, 2016). Improving water security is likely to improve the livelihoods of households in schemes since it is closely associated with food security, health security, and other livelihood options (Cook and Bakker, 2012). However, water scarcity is

projected to be more severe with climate change, worsening water stress and water shortages (Cook and Bakker, 2012).

Households in Ruchanyu reported poor participation in irrigation infrastructure maintenance. This study confirms the findings by Mutambara and Munodawafa (2014) that scheme farmers using sprinkler irrigation systems have limited participation in operation and maintenance. Limited knowledge of basic operation and maintenance of pumps and sprinkler systems have been cited as the basic limitation to scheme infra-structure maintenance. Challenges in conflict resolution might be related to satisfaction with water distribution since they both have a moderate vulnerability index in the three schemes. Conflicts affect the development of the scheme (Mutambara and Munodawafa, 2014). The high vulnerability score for the decrease in irrigation water supply reported in the three schemes is related to cli-mate change and increased demand for water from other sectors. In Exchange and Insukamini, the scheme committees are responsible for the watering schedule.

Although households in the Exchange irrigation scheme reported a longer average time to the nearest clinic, households in Ruchanyu are more vulnerable regarding the health index ( $p \le 0.05$ ). The study shows that it takes almost twice as much time to reach the nearest healthcare centre in Exchange compared to Insukamini and Ruchanyu. This reflects lack of access to health services. Ruchanyu has reported relatively more households with chronically ill members and more households with members who have been sick in the past two weeks. The higher prevalence of chronic illness and ill members in the past two weeks relates to the higher proportion of the working-age population involved in artisanal mining (Mutambara et al., 2021, Makore and Zane, 2012). The dominance of artisanal mining leads to increased prevalence of infectious diseases such as the HIV/AIDS pandemic in Shurugwi following in-creased moral decay as prostitutes and drug abusers invade the area (Mutambara et al., 2021). Mutambara and Munodawafa (2014) postulate that diseases including HIV/AIDS makes smallholder irrigation farming more vulnerable to shocks such as climate change. HIV/AIDS hit the rural population hard in the late 1990s, making households more vulnerable (Mushongah and Scoones, 2012). However, basing vulnerability analysis on current illness incidences undermines the harm caused by previous health incidences in current and future vulnerability to climate change.

The households in the three schemes have moderate vulnerability scores for food component with minimal differences ( $p \ge 0.10$ ). The majority of households in the three schemes of the study depend on the family farm for food. Households that primarily de-pend on the family farm for food have lesser scope to diversify their livelihood (Mukherjee and Siddique, 2020). How-ever, the number of months without food was low as the majority of the households save food. The study reveals that the majority of the households in the schemes save seed. Our findings support findings by Moyo *et al.* (2017) that most scheme farmers depend on retained seed that is poor yielding and disease-prone, making them more vulnerable to cli-mate change. Households in the three schemes practice diversified farming since vulnerability based on crop diversification is low. High diversification index could be a strategy to adapt to climate change (Mushongah and Scoones, 2012).

Variation in adaptive capacity among the three schemes was attributed to their significant differences in socio-demographic profiles, livelihood strategies, and social net-work components. Households in the three schemes have a high dependency ratio, and this translates to a lower active working population than minors and aging household members compared to Insukamini and Exchange. Our findings concur with other findings in rural areas in Zimbabwe, where the dependency ratio was found to be high (Frischen et al., 2020, Musemwa and Musara, 2020). The higher dependency ratio in Ruchanyu was attributed to higher numbers of orphans compared to the other two schemes. This implies that a smaller sized labour force will actively engage in minimum livelihood activities. This is worsened by the need to divert their labour for the dependent household members (Frischen et al., 2020). Households with a larger labour force have a higher affinity for engaging in multiple livelihood activities (Makate et al., 2019). High de-pendency ratio may likely contribute to households' financial exclusion in the Ruchanyu irrigation scheme, affecting their ability to participate in economic activities fully and challenging their adaptation to climate change (Agyemang-Badu et al., 2018). Such findings suggest that a high dependency ratio diminishes household income. However, a high dependency ratio and large numbers of households with orphans in Ruchanyu are attributed to a significantly higher vulnerability index of sociodemographic profile ( $p \le 0.10$ ).

Nonetheless, minors and aging people in rural areas of Zimbabwe are frequently in-volved in household working, contributing to household income and food access (Irianti and Prasetyoputra,

2019). A high dependency ratio worsens the multi-faceted responsibilities of women who primarily provide labour in schemes (Matandare, 2015). There were moderate female-headed households among the three schemes of the study. This study supports the results that female house-hold heads who own plots in SISs actively participate in scheme farming (Matsa, 2012). Gender in-fluences farming decisions as women have limited influence and resources to make crucial decisions in response to the impacts of climate change (Makate et al., 2019). The gender of the house-hold head also has implications for the inequality of land allocation (Makate et al., 2019). Vulnerability to climate change and variability is gendered and socially constructed (Matandare, 2015). Women in rural areas face more challenges than their male counterparts because of their roles in societies that are more sensitive to climate change (Dube, 2016). Childrearing activities and household du-ties limit female household heads from exploring potential livelihood opportunities (Mazuru, 2019). However, the majority of female household heads are not married. Makate et al. (2019) postulate that marital status signifies the family system's strength, affecting decision-making, adoption of technology, productivity, and land use. In all the schemes, the majority of household heads have attained formal education with an average of 8.9 years; hence, integrating technology to adapt to climate change is likely to face minimum challenges. Formal education better positions them to access information, make better decisions, use effective land, embrace technologies and techniques, access support from more comprehensive sources and more livelihood strategies, and adapt to climate change (Abeje et al., 2019, Makate et al., 2019). However, the vulnerability index of the socio-demographic index is significantly higher in Ruchanyu due to the high dependency ratio and the high number of households with orphans.

Households in the three schemes have a high percentage of households with members working outside the scheme community. Members outside the irrigation communities improve the food security of their households through the provision of remittances (Nhundu *et al.*, 2010). Previous studies noted that the majority (76.7%) of Zimbabwean youth migrate from rural areas to foreign countries and they send remittances to their place of origin to reduce potential vulnerability (Sithole and Dinbabo, 2016). The households in the three schemes solely depend on agriculture for their livelihood since they all attained a very high vulnerability score for de-pendency on agriculture. The results from this study support previous research findings that majority of the households in rural areas of Zimbabwe directly depend on agriculture for their livelihoods (Chanza and Gundu-Jakarasi, 2020). Primary dependency on agriculture implies that scheme farmers are

more prone to climate change-induced disasters. Despite the three sub-components of livelihood strategies within the same vulnerability scores, Exchange was significantly more vulnerable in terms of livelihood strategies ( $p \le 0.01$ ).

Limited horizontal and vertical linkages among the communities in Insukamini have resulted in significantly high vulnerability in relation to social networks ( $p \le 0.01$ ). Reliable horizontal and vertical linkages strengthen the structural and functional relationships in an institution and beyond, improve institutional resilience, bond and bridge social capital, and create a space of exchange (Tompkins, 2005). The engagement of farmers in Insukamini with government and NGO programs was found to be very low compared to the other two schemes. Findings from this study support the findings by Mutambara and Munodawafa (2014) that government and NGO participation is dominant to other groups of farmers, disadvantaging others. Government and NGOs were emulated for providing support to farmers in rural areas. Many households in Exchange reported the ongoing participation of the Smallholder Irrigation Revitalization Programme (SIRP) in the maintenance of scheme infrastructure. Their limited engagement with government and NGOs may relate to commercial-oriented production, hence, limited reliance on handouts. Similarly, their participation within the community through resource sharing and engagement in cooperatives is still at its infant level.

Figure 3.4 shows the major components contributing to livelihood vulnerability of communities in the Exchange, Insukamini, and Ruchanyu irrigation schemes. Figure 3.4 reflects that communities in the Exchange irrigation scheme are more vulnerable to livelihood strategies, natural disasters and climate variability, socio-demographic profile, social networks, and food. In contrast, in Insukamini, they are more vulnerable to social networks, natural disasters and climate variability, livelihood strategies, social demo-graphic profile, and water. Furthermore, communities in Ruchanyu are more vulnerable to social networks, livelihood strategies, socio-demographic profile, natural disasters, and climate variability.


■ Natural Disaster and Climate variability

# Figure 3. 4: Major components contributing to vulnerability of communities in Exchange, Insukamini, and Ruchanyu irrigation schemes.

Given that SISs grow different crops does not mean that growing crops from the least vulnerable scheme will solve the situation of the most vulnerable scheme. As illustrated in Figure 3.4, the main influencing factors to vulnerability in Insukamini and Ruchanyu are social networks, while in Exchange are livelihood strategies. Social networks should be prioritized in Insukamini and Ruchanyu irrigation schemes due to their higher severity compared to other components. Livelihood strategies should be prioritized in Exchange due to its higher severity compared to other components. The focus area for development varies from one scheme to another. Focusing development and innovation on the key pro-file in each scheme will likely be an effective way of improving other profiles, given a close interconnection of the profiles and their subcomponents.

## **IPCC framework of calculating LVI**

Households in Insukamini have significantly high indices of adaptive capacity and sensitivity (Appendix 3.3). However, the LVI-IPCC score for Insukamini was significantly higher than that of households in Ruchanyu and Exchange. This implies that the Insukamini irrigation scheme is

overall more vulnerable to climate change and variability than the Ruchanyu and Exchange irrigation schemes. Considering that exposure was not significantly different, sensitivity and adaptive capacity significantly contribute to the variation in vulnerability to climate change among the three schemes. The possibility of reducing vulnerability to climate change should be through improving adaptive capacity and consequently addressing the sensitivity of the scheme communities. The dependency of the scheme households on the farm as a primary source of food is a significant setback in the face of increased water stress in irrigated agriculture due to climate change (Frischen *et al.*, 2020). Livelihood diversifying with both agricultural and non-agricultural activities will improve households' adaptation to the impacts of climate change.

Given that most household heads have attained formal education, their potential to adapt to innovations and livelihood options is very high. However, most of the farmers in the schemes are aged; hence, their likelihood to venture into new livelihood options is likely to be limited by their advanced age, which challenges coping with the rapidly changing technologies whenever needed. In addition, a generally high dependency ratio robs the farmers of potential investment income given that most of them also have an additional responsibility of caring for orphans.

#### **3.5.** Conclusions

This paper uses the LVI-IPCC to understand the vulnerability to climate change of households in SISs. This assessment is critical to understand the vulnerability to climate change of SISs in Zimbabwe and to develop a tailor-made intervention to make households in SIS more sustainable in the face of climate change. Our results indicate that households in the Insukamini irrigation scheme are more vulnerable to climate change and variability. Natural disasters and climate variability, social networks, and water security contribute to high vulnerability in Insukamini irrigation scheme. The LVI-IPCC shows that households in the Insukamini irrigation scheme have a higher vulnerability to climate change in Insukamini should prioritize strengthening social networks, improving water security, and raising awareness of pending natural hazards and future weather trends. There is a need to ensure that disseminating early warning information of natural disasters is carried out timeously, particularly in the Insukamini irrigation scheme. Broadcasting climate information using SMSs, radio, and TVs is wide-ranging and thus, unlikely to address the needs of a specific area. The role of extension workers of disseminating natural disaster and

weather information must be strengthened as farmers tend to be more reliant on them for a wide range of information.

#### References

- Abeje, M. T., Tsunekawa, A., Haregeweyn, N., Nigussie, Z., Adgo, E., Ayalew, Z., Tsubo, M., Elias, A., Berihun, D. and Quandt, A., 2019. Communities' livelihood vulnerability to climate variability in Ethiopia. *Sustainability*, 11, 6302.
- Adu, D. T., Kuwornu, J. K., Anim-Somuah, H. and Sasaki, N., 2018. Application of livelihood vulnerability index in assessing smallholder maize farming households' vulnerability to climate change in Brong-Ahafo region of Ghana. *Kasetsart Journal of Social Sciences*, 39, 22 – 32.
- Agyemang-Badu, A. A., Agyei, K. and Kwaku Duah, E., 2018. Financial inclusion, poverty and income inequality: Evidence from Africa. Agyemang-Badu, AA, Agyei. K. and Duah, EK (2018) Financial Inclusion, Poverty and Income Inequality: Evidence from Africa, Spiritan International Journal of Poverty Studies, 2.
- Amuzu, J., Kabo-Bah, A. T., Jallow, B. P. and Yaffa, S. 2018., Households' Livelihood Vulnerability to Climate Change and Climate Variability: A Case Study of the Coastal Zone, The Gambia. *Journal of Environment and Earth Science*, 8, 35 – 46.
- Belle, J., Sithabile, M. and Ogundeji, A. A., 2017. Assessing communal farmers' preparedness to drought in the Umguza District, Zimbabwe. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 22, 194 – 203.
- Bhaga, T. D., Dube, T., Shekede, M. D. and Shoko, C., 2020. Impacts of Climate Variability and Drought on Surface Water Resources in Sub-Saharan Africa Using Remote Sensing: A Review. *Remote Sensing*, 12, 4184.
- Bhatasara, S., 2017. Rethinking climate change research in Zimbabwe. *Journal of Environmental Studies and Sciences*, 7, 39 52.
- Botero, D. G. and Salinas, A. B., 2013. Assessing farmers' vulnerability to climate change: a case study in Karnataka, India. *Barcelona, Spain: UAB Universitat Autonoma de Barcelona, Spain.*
- Brown, D., Chanakira, R. R., Chatiza, K., Dhliwayo, M., Dodman, D., Masiiwa, M., Muchadenyika, D., Mugabe, P. and Zvigadza, S., 2012. *Climate change impacts,*

*vulnerability and adaptation in Zimbabwe*, International Institute for Environment and Development London.

- Chagutah, T., 2010. Climate change vulnerability and adaptation preparedness in Southern Africa: Zimbabwe Country Report. *Heinrich Böll Stiftung Southern Africa, Cape Town*.
- Chancellor, F. and Hide, J., 1997. Smallholder Irrigation: ways forward. *Guidelines for achieving appropriate scheme design*, 2.
- Chanza, N., 2018. Limits to climate change adaptation in Zimbabwe: Insights, experiences and lessons. *Limits to Climate Change Adaptation*. Springer.
- Chanza, N., Chigona, A., Nyahuye, A., Mataera-Chanza, L., Mundoga, T. and Nondo, N., 2019. Diagnosing barriers to climate change adaptation at community level: Reflections from Silobela, Zimbabwe. *GeoJournal*, 84, 771 – 783.
- Chanza, N. and Gundu-Jakarasi, V., 2020. Deciphering the climate change conundrum in Zimbabwe: an exposition. *Global Warming and Climate Change*. IntechOpen.
- Chigavazira, T. and Zandamela, H. L., 2021. Behaviour Change in Drought Response and Management: Case Study of Mudzi District, Zimbabwe. *Journal of Public Administration and Governance*, 11, 294316 – 294316.
- Chivandi, E., Cave, E., Davidson, B. C., Erlwanger, K. H., Moyo, D. and Madziva, M. T., 2012. Suppression of Caco-2 and HEK-293 cell proliferation by Kigelia africana, Mimusops zeyheri and Ximenia caffra seed oils. *in vivo*, 26, 99 – 105.
- Cook, C. and Bakker, K., 2012. Water security: Debating an emerging paradigm. *Global* environmental change, 22, 94 102.
- Davis, C. L. & Vincent, K. 2017. Climate risk and vulnerability: A handbook for Southern Africa. CSIR.
- Dechartres, A., Trinquart, L., Boutron, I. and Ravaud, P., 2013. Influence of trial sample size on treatment effect estimates: meta-epidemiological study. Bmj, 346.
- Dube, K., 2016. Implications of rural irrigation schemes on household economy. A case of Lower Gweru Irrigation Scheme, Zimbabwe. South African Journal of Agricultural Extension, 44, 75 – 90.
- Dube, K. and Nhamo, G., 2020. Vulnerability of nature-based tourism to climate variability and change: Case of Kariba resort town, Zimbabwe. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation and Tourism*, 29, 100281.

- Duker, A., Mawoyo, T., Bolding, A., De Fraiture, C. and Van Der Zaag, P., 2020. Shifting or drifting? The crisis-driven advancement and failure of private smallholder irrigation from sand river aquifers in southern arid Zimbabwe. *Agricultural Water Management*, 241, 106342.
- Frischen, J., Meza, I., Rupp, D., Wietler, K. and Hagenlocher, M., 2020. Drought risk to agricultural systems in Zimbabwe: A spatial analysis of hazard, exposure, and vulnerability. *Sustainability*, 12, 752.
- GoZ, 2016. National Budget Statement. Harare: Ministry of Finance and Economic Development. Harare.
- GoZ, 2020. Accelerated irrigation rehabilitation and development plan 2021 2025. *In:* Ministry Of Lands, Agriculture, Water And Rural Resettlement (ed.). Harare: Government Printers.
- Green, E., 2020. Innovations in Poverty Eradication in Zimbabwe. Available: https://borgenproject.org/innovations-in-poverty-eradication-in-zimbabwe/ (Accessed 27 May 2021).
- Gwimbi, P., 2009. Cotton farmers' vulnerability to climate change in Gokwe District (Zimbabwe): impact and influencing factors. *JAMBA: Journal of Disaster risk studies*, 2, 81 92.
- Hahn, M. B., Riederer, A. M. and Foster, S. O., 2009. The Livelihood Vulnerability Index: A pragmatic approach to assessing risks from climate variability and change—A case study in Mozambique. *Global environmental change*, 19, 74 88.
- Hettige, H., 2006. *When do rural roads benefit the poor and how?: an in-depth analysis based on case studies*, Asian Development Bank.
- IFAD, 2016. Smallholder Irrigation Revitalization Programme Final project design report. Republic of Zimbabwe. Harare: IFAD.
- IPCC, 2014. IPCC WGII AR5 Chapter 22. Africa.
- Irianti, S. and Prasetyoputra, P., 2019. The struggle for water in Indonesia: the role of women and children as household water fetcher. *Journal of Water, Sanitation and Hygiene for Development*, 9, 540 548.
- Jiri, O. and Mafongoya, P. L., 2018. Managing vulnerability to drought and enhancing small holder farmers resilience to climate change risks in Zimbabwe. *Handbook of climate change resilience*, 1 – 17.

- Jiri, O., Mafongoya, P. L. and Chivenge, P. 2017. Building climate change resilience through adaptation in smallholder farming systems in semi-arid Zimbabwe. *International Journal* of Climate Change Strategies and Management.
- Kotir, J. H. 2011., Climate change and variability in Sub-Saharan Africa: a review of current and future trends and impacts on agriculture and food security. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 13, 587 – 605.
- Kula, N., Haines, A. and Fryatt, R., 2013. Reducing vulnerability to climate change in sub-Saharan Africa: the need for better evidence. *PLoS Med*, 10, e1001374.
- Labarrere, C. A., Woods, J., Hardin, J., Campana, G., Ortiz, M., Jaeger, B., Reichart, B., Bonnin, J., Currin, A. and Cosgrove, S., 2011. Early prediction of cardiac allograft vasculopathy and heart transplant failure. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 11, 528 – 535.
- Leal Filho, W., Balogun, A.-L., Olayide, O. E., Azeiteiro, U. M., Ayal, D. Y., Muñoz, P. D. C., Nagy, G. J., Bynoe, P., Oguge, O. and Toamukum, N. Y., 2019. Assessing the impacts of climate change in cities and their adaptive capacity: Towards transformative approaches to climate change adaptation and poverty reduction in urban areas in a set of developing countries. *Science of the Total Environment*, 692, 1175 – 1190.
- Magrath, J., Tshabangu, L. and Mativenga, S., 2014. Irrigation Schemes and Weather Extremes: The challenge for Zimbabwe.
- Makate, C., Mango, N. and Makate, M., 2019. Socioeconomic status connected imbalances in arable land size holding and utilization in smallholder farming in Zimbabwe: Implications for a sustainable rural development. *Land Use Policy*, 87, 104027.
- Makore, G. and Zane, V., 2012. Mining Within Zimbabwe's Great Dyke: Extent, Impacts & Opportunities.
- Manyeruke, C., Hamauswa, S. and Mhandara, L., 2013. The effects of climate change and variability on food security in Zimbabwe: a socio-economic and political analysis. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 3, 270 – 286.
- Matsa, M., 2012. Crop diversity measurement at Dufuya gardens and Insukamini irrigation scheme in Lower Gweru communal lands. *Journal of Environmental Science and Engineering. B*, 1.

- Matandare, M. A., and Matandare, T. O., 2015. Effects of Water Management Practices on Crop Yields at Insukamini Irrigation Scheme, Lower Gweru, Zimbabwe. . *International Journal* of Scientific Engineering and Research (IJSER), 45 – 48.
- Matope, A., Zindove, T. J., Dhliwayo, M. and Chimonyo, M., 2020. Mitigating the effects of drought on cattle production in communal rangelands of Zimbabwe. *Tropical animal health and production*, 52, 321 – 330.
- Mavhura, E., Manatsa, D. and Mushore, T., 2015. Adaptation to drought in arid and semi-arid environments: Case of the Zambezi Valley, Zimbabwe. *Jàmbá: Journal of Disaster Risk Studies*, 7.
- Mavhura, E., Manyena, B., and Collins, A. E., 2017. An approach for measuring social vulnerability in context: The case of flood hazards in Muzarabani district, Zimbabwe. *Geoforum*, 86, 103 117.
- Mazuru, N., 2019. Chapter nine climate change in Zimbabwe: challenges and prospects for rural women in Bikita District. *Necroclimatism in a Spectral World (Dis) order?: Rain Petitioning, Climate and Weather Engineering in 21st Century Africa*, 255.
- Mhembwe, S., Chiunya, N. and Dube, E. 2019. The contribution of small-scale rural irrigation schemes towards food security of smallholder farmers in Zimbabwe. *Jàmbá: Journal of Disaster Risk Studies*, 11, 1 11.
- Moyo, M., Van Rooyen, A., Moyo, M., Chivenge, P. and Bjornlund, H., 2017. Irrigation development in Zimbabwe: Understanding productivity barriers and opportunities at Mkoba and Silalatshani irrigation schemes. *International Journal of Water Resources* Development, 33, 740 – 754.
- Mpambela, M. and Mabvurira, V., 2017. Effects of climate change and their indelible impact on social work profession in Zimbabwe. *African Journal of Social Work*, 7, 30 35.
- Mudasser, M., Hossain, M., Rahaman, K. R. and Ha-Mim, N. M., 2020. Investigating the Climate-Induced Livelihood Vulnerability Index in Coastal Areas of Bangladesh. *World*, 1, 149 – 170.
- Mukherjee, N. and Siddique, G., 2020. Assessment of climatic variability risks with application of livelihood vulnerability indices. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 22, 5077 – 5103.

- Mukwada, G. and Manatsa, D., 2018. Is climate change the Nemesis of rural development?: An analysis of patterns and trends of Zimbabwean droughts. *Climate change, extreme events and disaster risk reduction*. Springer.
- Musemwa, L. and Musara, J. P., 2020. Impacts of improved sorghum varieties intensification on household welfare in the mid-Zambezi Valley of Zimbabwe. *Agrekon*, 59, 254 267.
- Mushongah, J. and Scoones, I., 2012. Livelihood change in rural Zimbabwe over 20 years. *Journal* of Development Studies, 48, 1241 1257.
- Mutambara, J., Vandirayi, S., January, J. and Zirima, H., 2021. Factors that influence HIV status disclosure among the elderly: perspectives from Shurugwi, Zimbabwe. *AIDS care*, 1 6.
- Mutambara, S. and Munodawafa, A., 2014. Production challenges and sustainability of smallholder irrigation schemes in Zimbabwe. *Journal of biology, agriculture and healthcare*, 4, 87 96.
- Nhemachena, A. and Warikandwa, T. V., 2019. From African Peer Review Mechanisms to African Queer Review Mechanisms?
- Nhundu, K., Gwata, C. and Mushunje, A., 2010. Impacts of Zimbabwe European Union microproject programme (Zim/Eu MPP) in funding smallholder irrigation projects on food security and income levels: A case study of Mopane irrigation scheme in Zvishavane, Midlands province, Zimbabwe. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 5, 1759 – 1771.
- Nyamayevu, D., Sun, W. and Chinopfukutwa, G. L., 2015. An Assessment of the Reliability and Adequacy of Irrigation Water in Small Holder Irrigation Schemes.
- Perez, C., Jones, E., Kristjanson, P., Cramer, L., Thornton, P. K., Förch, W. and Barahona, C. A., 2015. How resilient are farming households and communities to a changing climate in Africa? A gender-based perspective. *Global Environmental Change*, 34, 95 107.
- Ribot, J., 2013. Vulnerability does not just fall from the sky: Toward multi-scale pro-poor climate policy. *Handbook on climate change and human security*. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Sadiq, M. A., Kuwornu, J. K., Al-Hassan, R. M., and Alhassan, S. I. 2019. Assessing maize farmers' adaptation strategies to climate change and variability in Ghana. *Agriculture*, 9, 90.
- Sarker, M. N. I., Wu, M., Alam, G. and Shouse, R. C., 2019. Livelihood vulnerability of riverineisland dwellers in the face of natural disasters in Bangladesh. *Sustainability*, 11, 1623.

- SEEDCO, 2020. farmers guide grain crops. Seed Co. Accessed on: https://www.seedcogroup.com/zw/sites/default/files/Agronomy%20Manual.pdf (Accessed 17/09/2021).
- Simane, B., Zaitchik, B. F. and Foltz, J. D., 2016. Agroecosystem specific climate vulnerability analysis: application of the livelihood vulnerability index to a tropical highland region. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 21, 39 – 65.
- Simba, F., Chikodzi, D. and Murwendo, T., 2012. Climate change scenarios, perceptions and crop production: a case study of Semi-arid Masvingo Province in Zimbabwe. *Journal of Earth Science and Climate Change*, 3, 2.
- Simba, F., Matorevhu, A., Chikodzi, D. and Murwendo, T., 2013. Exploring Estimation of Evaporation in Dry Climates Using a Class 'A'Evaporation Pan. *Irrigat Drainage Sys Eng*, 2, 2.
- Sithole, S. and Dinbabo, M. F., 2016. Exploring youth migration and the food security nexus: Zimbabwean youths in Cape Town, South Africa. *African Human Mobility Review* (*AHMR*), 2, 512 – 537.
- Sujakhu, N. M., Ranjitkar, S., He, J., Schmidt-Vogt, D., Su, Y. and Xu, J., 2019. Assessing the livelihood vulnerability of rural indigenous households to climate changes in Central Nepal, Himalaya. *Sustainability*, 11, 2977.
- Tawodzera, G., 2011. Vulnerability in crisis: urban household food insecurity in Epworth, Harare, Zimbabwe. *Food Security*, 3, 503 520.
- Thomalla, F., Downing, T., Spanger-Siegfried, E., Han, G. and Rockström, J., 2006. Reducing hazard vulnerability: towards a common approach between disaster risk reduction and climate adaptation. *Disasters*, 30, 39 48.
- Thuy, N. and Anh, H., 2021. Determinants of livelihood vulnerability of smallholder tea farmers in Lam Dong province, Vietnam. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science, 2021. IOP Publishing, 012094.
- Tompkins, E. L., 2005. Planning for climate change in small islands: insights from national hurricane preparedness in the Cayman Islands. *Global Environmental Change*, 15, 139 149.
- UNDP, 2007. Human Development Reports. In: UNDP (ed.). New York, NY, USA.

- Utete, B., Phiri, C., Mlambo, S. S., Muboko, N. and Fregene, B. T., 2019. Vulnerability of fisherfolks and their perceptions towards climate change and its impacts on their livelihoods in a peri-urban lake system in Zimbabwe. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 21, 917 934.
- Williams, P. A., Crespo, O. and Abu, M., 2020. Assessing vulnerability of horticultural smallholders' to climate variability in Ghana: Applying the livelihood vulnerability approach. *Environment, development and sustainability*, 22, 2321 2342.
- World Bank, 2019. World Population Prospects 2019. *In:* AFFAIRS, D. O. E. A. S. (ed.). World Bank. Washington, DC, USA
- World Bank, 2020. Zimbabwe: Agriculture Sector Disaster Risk Assessment. World Bank: Washington, DC, USA.
- Yulisa, M., Safrida, S. and Indra, I., 2021. Analysis of the Livelihood Vulnerability Index for Rice Farmers Households Due to Climate Change in Aceh Besar District. *International Journal* of Multicultural and Multireligious Understanding, 8, 188 – 196.

ZIMSTAT, 2016. Population Projections Thematic Report. Harare.

## **CHAPTER 4**

# SOCIO-DEMOGRAPHIC, INSTITUTIONAL AND GOVERNANCE FACTORS INFLUENCING ADAPTIVE CAPACITY OF SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES IN ZIMBABWE.<sup>3</sup>

## Abstract

The provision of resilience and adaptation to climate change in smallholder irrigation communities is a critical component in implementing common pool resource management. Institutions in many smallholder irrigation schemes in developing countries are diverse and they contribute to adaptation to climate change and improving livelihoods of scheme communities. Human behaviour, institutional capacity and culture play important roles in shaping vulnerability of communities to climate change. However, how these contribute to vulnerability of smallholder irrigation schemes to climate change need to be understood. In order to close this lacuna, this study seeks to explore how socio-demographic, governance and institutional factors influence adaptive capacity in Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu irrigation schemes. Questionnaire-based interviews, group discussions and key informant interviews were used for data collection. Adaptive capacity calculated using the livelihood vulnerability model was used as the dependent variable for this study. Ordinary least square regression was used to assess socio-demographic, institutional and governance factors influencing adaptive capacity in the smallholder irrigation scheme. The hypothesis that stronger institutions positively influence the adaptive capacity of smallholder irrigation systems was accepted. The study reveals that adaptive capacity is significantly (P  $\leq$  5%) influenced by a margin of 0.026 for age squared, 0.073 for gender, 0.087 for education, 0.137 for household size, -0.248 for satisfaction with irrigation committee, 0.356 for participation in irrigation water scheduling, and -0.235 for participation formulation of rules. Assessing factors influencing adaptive capacity help to improve the livelihoods of scheme farmers in the face of climate change.

Keywords: Climate change; livelihoods; vulnerability; scheme management; common-pool resource

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This chapter has been submitted in *PLOS ONE*. Liboster Mwadzingeni, Raymond Mugandani, Paramu L Mafongoya, Institutional and governance factors influencing adaptive capacity of smallholder irrigation schemes in Zimbabwe. ID: PONE-D-21-20299R1.

#### 4.1 Introduction

Climate change, characterised by changes in precipitation patterns, increased frequency and severity of droughts, threatens the viability of smallholder farming systems in arid and semi-arid regions (Kalele *et al.*, 2021) in the developing world. Thus, smallholder irrigation schemes (SISs) are promoted to increase the adaptive capacity of these marginal environments. These SISs are common-pool resources (CPRs); their success is dependent on the robustness of self-governing institutions and capacity to sustainably manage the productive resources as conditions change (Ma'Mun *et al.*, 2020, Villamayor-Tomas and García-López, 2017). The strength of the institutions governing socio-ecological systems like irrigation schemes is important to most smallholder farmers' livelihoods and food security (Thapa and Scott, 2019). However, socio-ecological systems have numerous complex variables that interact and affect how they operate at multiple levels (Cox *et al.*, 2010, Ostrom, 2011).

Previous studies have shown that the institutions in the SISs should be effective in collective decision-making, allocation of limited water resources, infrastructure maintenance, and conflict resolution (Villamayor-Tomas and García-López, 2017, Wang *et al.*, 2021). Institutions thrive on building and sustaining cooperation in the CPR system through satisfying both short-term self-interests and long-term group goals (Raub *et al.*, 2013) in an evolving ecological, socio-economic and political environment shaping its emergence, evolving and operation (Wang *et al.*, 2021). SISs are run by Irrigation Management Committees (IMCs), which are mainly governed by customary laws and water use rights that authorise scheme farmers to collectively manage water use (Villamayor-Tomas and García-López, 2017). Nevertheless, environmental change and increased water scarcity have added an extra burden on these functional socio-ecological systems that have shown mixed performances (Ma'Mun *et al.*, 2020). The relationship between CPRs management and adaptation calls for integrating climate and socio-ecological system management policies (Villamayor-Tomas *et al.*, 2020, Villamayor-Tomas and García-López, 2017) in SISs. Institutions can constrain or enable adaptation (Bisaro and Hinkel, 2016); hence, institutional analysis is essential in adapting socio-ecological systems to climatic change.

Climate change adaptation involves a change of human practices in anticipation of climate change (Villamayor-Tomas *et al.*, 2020). IPCC (2001) defines adaptation as changes in processes and practices to moderate potential damages or benefit from climate change opportunities. Adaptive

capacity is an individual or a system's predicted ability to prepare and adapt to future changes (Engle, 2011). Adaptation, which is the manifestation of adaptive capacity, is important to resilience and adaptive management, which are intertwined with institutional analysis (Villamayor-Tomas and García-López, 2017). Thus, institutional elements such as regulations, property rights, and rules change with climate adaptation (Villamayor-Tomas *et al.*, 2020).

Analysis of the role of institutional and adaptation in irrigation systems was inspired by Ostrom (2011) through her institutional analysis framework developed to understand and overcome uncertainties and complex social dilemmas. Reflections across different CPR systems show the success and failure of Ostrom principles (Wang et al., 2021, Anderies et al., 2016). This is not surprising given the myriad and complex relationship between institutions and adaptation in SISs. Globally, the findings from publications on the roles of institutions on adaptation in SISs have produced contrasting results under different settings (Wang et al., 2021). This shows that previous successful institutional actions may not be effective in a different context, creating a knowledge gap on patterns and dynamics of institutional changes in diverse socio-ecological and political contexts (Wang et al., 2021). Therefore, given the heterogeneity of the farming systems worldwide, especially in southern Africa, more evidence-based studies are required to explore the role of institutions in adaptation in SISs. This scientific inquiry is critical given that in the absence of unambiguous local knowledge, the role of institutions in adaptation in SISs would largely remain a conjecture. The CPRs nature of SISs highlights the need to understand the relation between institutions and adaptation to climate change. SISs in southern Africa and especially in Zimbabwe may differ from similar CPRs worldwide based on their biophysical, cultural and political context, challenging understanding of the performance of their institutions on adaptation based on existing studies.

In agriculture, a sensible conjecture is climate-proofing crop yields in smallholder farming systems given their vulnerability to climate change. By developing the targeted 350 000 ha for irrigation under the Zimbabwe National Development Strategy 1 (2021 - 2025), the country aims to increase agricultural output, particularly in smallholder farmers (GoZ, 2020). The IMCs running SISs are key to climate-proofing crop yields. Thus, policy strategies are required to strengthen institutions for reducing sensitivity while building resilience to climate change.

Based on the literature on the role of institutions on adaptation in the SISs (Villamayor-Tomas, 2018, Villamayor-Tomas *et al.*, 2020, Meinzen-Dick *et al.*, 2002, Lam, 2006, Cifdaloz *et al.*, 2010, Cox and Ross, 2011, Ma'Mun *et al.*, 2020), the following conjectures were made: a) Institution influence the adaptive capacity of SISs; b) Institutional elements such as scheme rules, governmental and private organization support, water sharing and scheme maintenance and, c) IMCs and participation of scheme member influence adaptive capacity.

Zimbabwean context is suitable for studying the relationship between institutions and adaptation in SISs due to multiple reasons. First; Irrigation schemes in the country have a linear relationship with higher food security and income that is compromised by drought-related challenges and limited investment in infrastructure maintenance (van Rooyen *et al.*, 2020). Secondly, the government of Zimbabwe and partners in irrigation development, including the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) and Smallholder Irrigation Revitalization Programme (SIRP), continue to invest in new SISs and rehabilitate existing ones. Lastly, through the recently availed Irrigation Policy, the Government of Zimbabwe intends to improve water use efficiency, improve access to finance, inputs, markets, overcome governance challenges, and improve policy and regulation environment in irrigation schemes. Thus, strong institutions in SISs are required to achieve these objectives. Therefore, this study seeks to assess the impact of institutional and governance factors on the adaptive capacity of SISs in Zimbabwe.

#### 4.2 Methodology

#### 4.2.1 Study area

This study was conducted in Midlands Province of Zimbabwe. It progressed from the identification of three research sites (Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu Irrigation schemes). The selection of the study sites was based on the diversity of their characteristics, as shown in Table 4.1.

Variable	Scheme			
	Exchange	Insukamini	Ruchanyu	
Year constructed	Year constructedFrom 1973 and from		1980s	
	1985 <sup>3</sup>			
Location	Zhombe communal	Lower Gweru	Shurugwi	
	area <sup>4</sup>			
Geo-coordinates	- 18°50'51: 29°4'36	- 19°21'31: 29°35'25	- 19°50'39: 29°58'45	
Land area	168.8 ha <sup>4,5</sup>	41 ha	27 ha <sup>5</sup>	
Distance from	60km from Kwekwe	41 km from Gweru	29 km from Shurugwi	
nearest town	80km from Gweru			
Agroecological zone	4 <sup>5</sup>	4 <sup>3</sup>	3	
Number of	982	125	85	
households				
Source of water	Exchange dam	Insukamini dam	River Sprinkler	
Water delivery	Concrete canals	Concrete canals		
Management system	Consultative and	Consultative and	Consultative and	
	democratic	democratic <sup>1</sup>	democratic	
Rainfall	$450-650\ mm$	$600 - 800 \text{ mm}^2$	$650-850 \text{ mm}^5$	
Temperature		16°C <sup>2</sup>	16°C <sup>5</sup>	
Soils	Clay loam <sup>5</sup>	Sand loam and clay	Sandy loam <sup>5</sup>	
		loam <sup>2</sup>		
Main crops and	Maize (7 t/ha)	Maize (4.4 t/ha)	Maize	
average yields	Beans (1 t/ha in	Beans (1.9 t/ha)		
	winter and 1.2 t/ha in	Onions, cabbages,		
	summer)	tomatoes, wheat, peas,		
		garlic and rape		

Table 4. 1: Characteristics of Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu Irrigation schemes

Data in the table was sourced from (<sup>1</sup> Matsa, 2012, <sup>2</sup>Chanza *et al.*, 2019, <sup>3</sup>Chancellor and Hide, 1997, <sup>4</sup>Nyamayevu and Chinopfukutwa, 2018, <sup>5</sup>Mhembwe *et al.*, 2019)

#### 4.2.2 Data collection

Questionnaire-based interviews, Focus Group Discussions (FGDs) and Key Informant Interviews (KIIs) were undertaken to collect data in Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu irrigation schemes. A pilot study was done to test the suitability of the questionnaire for this study. The scheme was fragmented into the head, middle and tail sections for the purpose of data collection.

This study used random sampling to identify respondents of this study. Random sampling is a probabilistic sampling method brought to the fore by Bowley (Bellhouse, 1988). A statistically significant sample of 317 households (192 from Exchange irrigation scheme, 88 from Insukamini irrigation scheme and 37 from Ruchanyu irrigation scheme based on proportional representation) was selected for the study ( $P \le 5\%$ ) as shown in Table 4.2. The formula below was used to determine the sample size of this study:

$$n = \frac{N}{Ne^2} \tag{1}$$

Where n – sample size, N – population and e – confidence interval

Six focus group discussions each composed of 10 -15 representatives, were also done to discuss rules, policies, strategies and governance issues in schemes. Key informant interviews were done with eleven officials that included extension workers, district and provincial Agricultural Technical and Extension Services (AGRITEX) officers, and Department of Irrigation (DIRR) staff to get their perspectives on climate change in irrigated agriculture.

Gender, marital status, age, years in formal education, number of years in irrigation farming and number of years in farming are the socio-demographic factors captured for this study. Institutional factors which were studied includes traditional leaders, cooperatives, academic institutions, irrigation management committees, NGOs and private organizations. Governance factors studied includes water scheduling, electing committee members and formulating of scheme rules.

Irrigation Scheme	<b>Population Size</b>	Sample Size
Exchange	982	192
Insukamini	125	88
Ruchanyu	85	37
Total	1 192	317

 Table 4. 2: Sampling design

#### 4.2.3 Data analysis

Firstly, adaptive capacity was computed from raw data set using weighted-balance and integrated approach. Weighted balance and integrated approach adapted after (Hahn et al., 2009) was used to calculate adaptive capacity. Major components of adaptive capacity (socio-demographic factors, livelihood strategies and social networks) consist of subcomponents, each contributing equally to the index and given equal weighting. The weighted balance and integrated approach are mainly used in calculating Livelihood Vulnerability Index (LVI) and Climate Vulnerability Index (Sarker et al., 2019). The use of weighted balance and integrated approach is recently increasing due to the increased need to analyse vulnerability climate-related disasters (Sarker et al., 2019). Ordinary least-square (OLS), one of the familiar statistical techniques in the social sciences used to predict the values of continuous response variables in multivariate analysis (Hutcheson, 2011), was applied. The Breusch-Pagan/Cook-Weisberg test for heteroskedasticity was applied to identify the existence of any linear form of heteroskedasticity of OLS. OLS satisfies the need of this study due to its ability to provide the best estimates with continuous and coded categorical variables (Hutcheson, 2011). Recently, OLS was used to assess the effects of climate change adaptation on livelihood vulnerability in Ghana (Azumah et al., 2021). Linearity of regression coefficients, absence of serial correlation, predictors being uncorrelated with coefficients, absence of multicollinearity and normality of residuals are the limitations met to have the best OLS estimates from this study.

Equation (2) was used to standardize specific components.

$$Index_{sv} = \frac{S_v - S_{min}}{S_{max} - S_{min}}$$
(2)

Where  $S_v$  – original subcomponent value;  $S_{min}$  and  $S_{mux}$  – minimum and maximum value of the subcomponent, respectively.

An average of each subcomponent was calculated using Equation (3)

$$M_{vj} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} Index_{svi}}{n}$$
(3)

Where  $M_{vj}$  – value of major component j for area v; Index<sub>svi</sub> – subcomponent value indexed by *i* of major component  $M_j$ ; n – number of subcomponents in major component Mj.

$$IndexAdaCap = \frac{W_{SDF}SDF + W_{LS}LS + W_{SN}SN}{W_{SDF} + W_{LS} + W_{SN}}$$
(4)

Where IndexAdaCap – adaptation capacity index;  $W_{SDF}$ ,  $W_{LS}$ ,  $W_{SN}$  – weight for sociodemographic factors (SDF, livelihood strategies (LS and social network (SN), respectively.

An OLS regression analysis was performed on vulnerability indices of Adaptive Capacity to assess governance and institutional factors influencing the adaptive capacity of scheme communities. OLS regression was performed with Adaptive Capacity as a dependent variable, while sociodemographic factors, governance and institutional variables.

$$Y_i = a + b_1 X_1 + b_2 X_2 + \dots + b_m b_m + c$$
(5)

Where  $Y_i$ - the dependent variable (Adaptive capacity);  $X_1, X_2, ..., X_m$  - the independent variables; a - constant;  $b_1, b_2, ..., b_m$  - multiple regression coefficients.

#### 4.3 Results

#### 4.3.1 Socio-demographic characteristics

Table 4.3 shows socio-demographic characteristics of households in Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu Irrigation Scheme. Based on this study, Ruchanyu Irrigation Scheme has the most male respondents and Insukamini have the least ( $P \le 0.05$ ). Among the three schemes, most of the respondents in Ruchanyu were significantly married than respondents in Ruchanyu and Exchange, given that over nine-tenth of the respondents were married ( $P \le 0.05$ ). Although marital status was generally high in the schemes, the majority of the female household heads (53.8%) were not married, as shown in Table 3. It was observed that Exchange is dominated by aging farmers (average age of 56 years) compared to Ruchanyu and Insukamini Irrigation schemes. Data from the questionnaire survey revealed that respondents from Insukamini Irrigation scheme acquired the highest level of formal education (10 years). In comparison, those in Exchange irrigation scheme attain the least educational level (8.5 years).

In respect of household size, respondents in Ruchanyu Irrigation Scheme have the largest household size (average of 7.42 members) while the respondents in Exchange Irrigation Scheme had the least (average of 4.52) as shown in Table 3. Respondents in Exchange Irrigation Scheme are more experienced farmers (average years in the farming of 31.24 years), while those in Ruchanyu had the least experience in farming (average years of farming of 20.15 years). Respondents in Exchange Irrigation Scheme are more experienced in irrigation farming (average of 23.59 years), while those in Ruchanyu Irrigation Scheme are last experienced (average of 9.36 years) (Table 4.3).

Variable	Frequency	Mean	Percentage	Significant	Standard	
				level	deviation	
Gander (Male)						
Exchange	122		63.5	*		
Insukamini	52		59.1			
Ruchanyu	70.3		70.3			
Marital Status (Marrie	ed)					
Exchange	135		70.3	*		
Insukamini	63		71.6			
Ruchanyu	35		94.6			
Marital status by gene	ler of househo	old heads (Ma	arried)			
Male			89.5	*		
Female			46.2			
Age						
Exchange		56.24			12.78	
Insukamini		52.30				
Ruchanyu		53.14				
Years of formal education						
Exchange		8.53			3.14	
Insukamini		10.02				
Ruchanyu		8.90				

Table 4. 3: Socio-demographic variables of scheme farmers

Size of household		
Exchange	4.52	2.22
Insukamini	5.85	
Ruchanyu	7.42	
Number of years in farming		
Exchange	31.24	14.38
Insukamini	20.45	
Ruchanyu	20.15	
Years in irrigation farming		
Exchange	23.59	12.74
Insukamini	11.23	
Ruchanyu	9.36	

Note: \* indicates significance level at 5%.

## 4.2 Governance and institutional factors

Across the three irrigation schemes in this study, there is a significant difference in satisfaction of participation of local institutional actors in the schemes ( $P \le 0.01$ ) as shown in Table 4.4.

Scheme	Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly	Significance
	disagree				agree	level ( $X^2$ )
		Effectivenes	s of traditi	onal leade	rs in irrigation far	ming
Exchange	1.6	5.7	30.2	53.6	8.9	*
Insukamini	6.8	6.8	72.7	13.6	0	
Ruchanyu	5.6	11.1	44.4	22.2	16.7	
			Effective	ness of coo	operatives	
Exchange	19.3	11.5	34.9	31.3	3.1	*
Insukamini	50.9	23.6	21.8	3.6	0	
Ruchanyu	0	25.0	18.8	12.5	43.8	
<b>Effectiveness of NGO and PVT Organizations</b>						
Exchange	0.5	0	0	28.1	71.4	*

 Table 4. 4: Ranking of effectiveness of institutional factors by Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu Irrigation Schemes Farmers

Insukamini	0	6	57.8	36.1	0		
Ruchanyu	13.3	40	10	16.7	20		
<b>Effectiveness of Academic Institution</b>							
Exchange	0	0.5	7.3	57.3	34.9	*	
Insukamini	1.6	18.8	65.6	12.5	1.6		
Ruchanyu	0	11.1	14.8	66.7	7.4		
		Eff	ectiveness o	of Irrigatio	on Committee		
Exchange	3.1	1.6	10.4	43.2	41.7	*	
Insukamini	1.1	2.3	2.3	62.5	31.8		
Ruchanyu	3.4	10.3	6.9	55.2	24.1		
		Effecti	veness of <b>C</b>	ommunity	/Fellow Farmers		
Exchange	0.5	0	1.6	40.6	57.3	*	
Insukamini	0	14.7	5.9	63.2	16.2		
Ruchanyu	3.3	10	16.7	30.0	40.0		
Effectiveness of Government Agencies (Extension Workers)							
Exchange	0	0	2.1	21.6	76.30	*	
Insukamini	0	0	2.4	48.2	49.4		
Ruchanyu	0	3.7	7.4	44.4	44.4		

Note: \* indicates significance level at 5%.

For the three schemes in this study, there is a significant difference in the participation of scheme farmers in irrigation water scheduling, electing/removing members, and water scheduling (P  $\leq$  0.01) (Table 4.5).

	Never	Sometimes	Always	Significance		
				Level		
Participate in irrigation water scheduling						
Exchange	8.9	42.7	48.4	*		
Insukamini	24.1	5.7	70.1			
Ruchanyu	3.1	9.4	84.4			

 Table 4. 5: Ranking of participation in Governance factors by Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu Irrigation scheme farmers

Participate in electing / Removing committee members					
Exchange	11.5	39.6	49.0	*	
Insukamini	1.1	13.6	85.2		
Ruchanyu	0	21.2	78.8		
Participation in formulating scheme rules					
Exchange	19.8	55.7	24.5	*	
Insukamini	18.2	12.5	69.3		
Ruchanyu	0.0	15.2	84.8		

Note: \* indicates significance level at 5%.

### 4.3 Factors affecting adaptive capacity

The results in Table 4.6 show that socio-economic, governance and institutional factors significantly influence scheme farmers' adaptive capacity. Adaptive capacity is significantly impacted by the following socio-economic factors: age squared (P < 0.05), gender (P < 0.05), education (P < 0.05), household size (P < 0.01), farming experience (P < 0.05) and livestock unit (P < 0.05). Institutional and governance factors influencing adaptive capacity are participation of cooperatives (P < 0.05), irrigation committee (P < 0.01) and governance agencies (P < 0.05). Participation of farmers in electing/removing committee members (P < 0.05), formulating rules (P < 0.05) and irrigation water scheduling (P < 0.05) are governance factors affecting adaptive capacity. The effect of age squared, gender, education, household size, years in farming, government agencies, and irrigation water scheduling on adaptive capacity are positive. Livestock unit, satisfaction with irrigation committee, electing/removing committee members and formulating rules negatively affect adaptive capacity.

	В	Std.	dy/dx
		Error	
Age Squared	0.026*	0.006	0.0004
Age	-0.002	0.003	-0.003
Gender	0.073*	0.011	0.074
Education	0.087*	0.020	0.125

 Table 4. 6: Effects of socio-demographic factors, governance and institutional factors on adaptive capacity

Household size	0.137*	0.026	0.145
Farming experience	0.011*	.006	0.007
Traditional Leaders	0.046	0.067	0.073
Cooperatives	0.104*	0.047	0.135
Private Organization and NGOs	-0.005	0.073	-0.013
Academic Institutions	0.077	0.074	0.132
Irrigation Management Committee	-0.248*	0.061	-0.261
Government agencies (Extension	0.212*	0.116	0.093
Officer)			
government initiatives and policies	0.009	0.134	0.075
Electing/removing committee	-0.165*	0.100	-0.052
members			
Formulating rules	-0.235*	0.098	-0.323
Irrigation Water scheduling	0.356*	0.112	0.357

Note: \* indicate significance level at 5%.

## 4.4 Discussion

The positive coefficient of age squared confirms the converse relationship between age and adaptive capacity (Haykir and Çelik, 2018). The convex relationship suggests that when the age of farmers reaches a certain age, the relationship between age and adaptive capacity changes and becomes positive. This means that as households head gets older, they become more adaptive to climate change. Mudombi-Rusinamhodzi *et al.* (2012) find similar results that aging farmers in Zimbabwe are more adaptive to climate change.

Similarly, the positive coefficient of gender means that males are more adaptive, while female farmers have a limited probability of obtaining higher adaptive capacity (Table 4.5). Climate change is gendered in nature; hence, most of the responsibilities of women are climate-sensitive, making them suffer more because of climate variability than men (Mazuru, 2019). Female farmers' lower adaptive capacity is attributed to limited access to production inputs (Azumah *et al.*, 2021). Women characteristically have limited access to productive resources (assets, inputs and services) compared to men (Patil and Babus, 2018, Raney *et al.*, 2011, Doss *et al.*, 2018), militating their

adaptation to climate change and variability. Mosello *et al.* (2017) find out that female-headed households in Zimbabwe are particularly vulnerable since they hold less land, produce lower yields, own fewer heads of livestock and are excluded from accessing services like extension and credit. Results obtained from the study further revealed that 53.8% of the female household heads were not married, while a majority of male household heads were married (89.5%). Women's marital status is a factor in determining their access to adaptive strategies compared to the case of men (Van Aelst and Holvoet, 2016). Findings by Van Aelst and Holvoet (2016) show that divorced and widowed women are disadvantaged in agricultural water management although they can pursue more income-earning activities outside the farming sector. A study in Mozambique suggests that female-headed households have a lower adaptive capacity (Panda *et al.*, 2013).

The positive coefficient of education implies that education is key for reducing uncertainties and ensure sustainable agricultural practices, hence increasing the adaptive capacity of smallholder farmers in SISs. Education is one of the generic capacities usually associated with development policies (Villamayor-Tomas and García-López, 2017). Oates et al. (2017) find that low educational levels and lack of skills and weak leadership undermine farmers' ability to manage their schemes effectively. More educated and experienced farmers have improved access to infrastructure and market, greater capacity to manage and analyse information and use it more efficiently (Sheng Tey et al., 2018, Choden et al., 2020). Educated farmers have a higher opportunity to improve their production, access information, and understand commercial farming concepts that are critical in adapting to climate change (Moyo et al., 2017, Mutambara and Munodawafa, 2014). Education may potentially positively influence the ability of the household to take advantage of risk management mechanisms, hence, improving the household's overall adaptive capacity. These results are consistent with others who suggest that education improves the adaptive capacity of households (Sheng Tey et al., 2018, Choden et al., 2020, Thathsarani and Gunaratne, 2018, Lemos et al., 2013). In a study in Ghana (Asante et al., 2012) revealed that education positively impacts households with low adaptive capacity.

In terms of household size, the results show that the average household members within the productive age group ranged between 4 to 8 persons in adult equivalent among the three schemes. The extensive and semi-extensive nature of irrigation farming in smallholder irrigation schemes in Zimbabwe demands more labour from the households. This work further demonstrates that

household size significantly increases adaptive capacity by a margin of 0.137 (p = 0.05) (Table 4.6). The effects of household size suggest that larger household sizes will have enough labour to venture into multiple livelihood options. Similarly, labour availability for agricultural tasks is determined by household size. Household size increases action flexibility, adaptive capacity and spreads the risk across diverse income sources (Li *et al.*, 2017). A study in China finds that household size complements non-agricultural income for apple farmers, and they acquire adaptive capital using non-agricultural income (Li *et al.*, 2017). These results concur with the finding that household size positively affects adaptation options due to a higher propensity to engage in multiple adaptation options (Panda *et al.*, 2013).

The study show that farming experience positively influences the adaptive capacity of scheme farmers. A year increase in farming experience leads to a 0.011 increase in adaptive capacity at a 5% significance level (Table 4.6). The results from this study imply that scheme farmers who have been into farming for an extended period are more likely to be better adaptive to climate change. These findings are consistent with a household survey from Zimbabwe, in which households with more farming experience are better adaptive to climate variability (Mudombi-Rusinamhodzi *et al.*, 2012). In Cameroon, farming experience is among the factors determining the adaptation decision of farmers (Yong, 2017).

The positive relationship between adaptive capacity and satisfaction with cooperatives in the scheme illustrates the importance of collective action on adaptation. These findings imply that farmers' access to support services that include credit, training and information from cooperatives is more likely to make them more adaptive to climate change. Farmers satisfied with cooperatives can potentially be members of cooperatives. Participating in cooperatives is potentially instrumental in shaping farmers' motivation and facilitating the decision to adapt to climate change through cooperatives (Frank *et al.*, 2011). Cooperative plays a pivotal role by enabling technological adaptation by promoting certain technologies in Zimbabwe (Mugabe *et al.*, 2010). Cooperatives promote effective exchange and co-production of local and scientific information and provide new arenas for social interaction (Frank *et al.*, 2011). Members of cooperatives potentially use the best practices approach as they are likely to receive climate change training and better access to financial assistance (Canevari-Luzardo *et al.*, 2020). The ability of individual actors to retain bonding enables members to gain the benefits of cooperatives.

The IMCs in SISs are responsible for conflict resolution, acquiring and managing funds, and maintaining and improving scheme infrastructure. The results from the study show that participants who were satisfied by the IMCs were less adaptive to climate change. A unit change in satisfaction results in reduced adaptive capacity by a margin of 0.25 at a 5% significant level (Table 4.6). The study shows that 86.2% of the participants were satisfied with the IMC. The study's findings support observations in the Makwe irrigation scheme in Zimbabwe, where 85% of the farmers were satisfied with the IMC (Ndlovu *et al.*, 2015). The positive relationship between satisfaction with IMCs and adaptive capacity implies that IMCs consider adaptation to climate change in their activities in water-related issues. The IMCs mobilize government support, donor funding, financial management, organise participation of members in scheme maintenance, ensure equitable distribution of water and information sharing, and facilitate the development of collective adaptation that is context-specific to the risk the scheme faces. Villamayor-Tomas and García-López (2017) postulate that IMCs can provide area-specific adaption to cope with water-related climate disturbances.

The results in Table 6 show that satisfaction with government agents including agriculture extension (AGRITEX) officers, ZESA, EMA and ZINWA significantly affects the adaptive capacity of scheme farmers. Although farmers were satisfied with government agencies, FGDs in Ruchanyu Irrigation scheme show that farmers were not satisfied with ZESA's regular load shading, high electricity fares and disconnection of electricity for non-payment. Further, in Exchange Irrigation Scheme, farmers were not satisfied with water allocation by ZINWA, particularly for household use. The positive effect of satisfaction with extension officers on adaptive capacity suggests that scheme farmers who are satisfied by extension officers have a higher probability of adapting to climate change. This is consistent with previous findings in Zimbabwe, in which households' adaptive capacity in rural communities is enhanced through extension information (Nyikahadzoi *et al.*, 2017, Makate and Makate, 2019). There is a significant variation of satisfaction with extension officers among schemes (Table 4.5). This implies that farmers in different schemes have a different adaptive capacity level in relation to their satisfaction with extension workers. Extension workers provide climate knowledge that could help farmers be more innovative in light of the negative impacts of climate change (Mutekwa, 2009).

Similarly, extension officers have access to information regarding output prices, road networks in the area, transport costs, and market intelligence (Makate *et al.*, 2016, van Rooyen *et al.*, 2020). Production information from extension officers gives farmers the necessary production knowledge to supply quality products to meet market demand (van Rooyen *et al.*, 2020). Extension services in Zimbabwe can provide production knowledge if provided appropriate capacity and resources (Mosello *et al.*, 2017). Analysis by Mosello *et al.* (2017) reveals that extension in Zimbabwe is inadequate to respond to numerous challenges faced by scheme farmers, which may likely affect their capacity to influence the adaptive capacity of scheme farmers. However, improving existing knowledge, models, and models' ability to predict climate change in Zimbabwe may help improve extension workers' provision of knowledge to farmers (Mutekwa, 2009).

The results from the study show that the participation of scheme farmers in electing committee members negatively affects adaptive capacity. This implies that participation in electing committee members would likely create a negative psychological capital endowment among scheme farmers. Psychological capital is individual mindset and attitude affecting motivation to take initiatives (Phakathi and Wale, 2018). A study by Phakathi and Wale (2018) found that psychological capital impacts the value of water in SISs in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Of the respondents, fewer scheme farmers did not participate in electing committee members compared to 62.4% who regularly attend meetings at a 1% significance level. A similar trend was observed among schemes in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa, where 65% regularly attend meetings (Mudhara and Senzanje, 2020). However, there is a need to explore why participation in electing irrigation committee contribute to negative psychological capital.

The negative relationship between participation in the formulation of scheme rules and adaptive capacity is worrying. These findings may imply the ineffectiveness of scheme rules in response to climate change. According to van Rooyen *et al.* (2020), the potential impact of changing rules is very powerful. Moreover, these findings contribute to the understanding that scheme farmers fail to develop regulations to implement generic and specific adaptation institutions to their context. Increasing monitoring and enforcement of rules is essential to improve the effectiveness of rules to improve adaptive capacity. Monitoring and sanctioning rules ensure compliance, improving institutional performance (Meinzen-Dick, 2007), creating trust among scheme members and facilitating collaborative planning. Meinzen-Dick *et al.* (2002) suggests that identifying factors

that create incentives for user participation is critical for developing better policies and effective implementation of any policy. Villamayor-Tomas and García-López (2017) assert that changing policies and political economy conditions are amongst socio-economic disturbances faced by the rural populations in developing countries.

Among the governance factors, participation in irrigation water scheduling positively contributes to adaptive capacity; this implies that farmers who participate more in water scheduling were more adaptive to climate change. Irrigation scheduling practices were emulated for improving water use efficiency on the farm as it dictates the frequency of irrigation and volume of water applied (Mudhara and Senzanje, 2020). Irrigation water scheduling is essential for the optimization of water allocation (Li *et al.*, 2018).

## 4.5 Conclusion

Climate change is disproportionately affecting food systems across developing countries, particularly smallholder farming systems in Sub-Saharan Africa. The adaptive capacity of farmers enables them to cope with the unprecedented impacts of climate change. This study illustrates how socio-demographic, institutional and governance factors influence the adaptive capacity of smallholder irrigation farmers in Zimbabwe. The hypothesis that stronger institutions influence adaptive capacity in smallholder irrigation systems was accepted. The adaptive capacity of scheme farmers was significantly influenced by socio-demographic, institutional and governance factors. For socio-demographic factors, adaptive capacity was higher for older farmers, male farmers, more educated farmers, larger households, and farmers more experienced farmers. The study identifies the positive impact of satisfaction by cooperatives and extension officers and the negative impact of satisfaction by the irrigation committee on farmers' adaptive capacity. This study also noted the negative effect of participation of scheme farmers on electing/removing committee members and formulating rules on their adaptive capacity and the positive effect of participation in irrigation water management on adaptive capacity. Admittedly, it is not clear why adaptive capacity is negatively affected by participation in electing committee members, and why formulating rules has a negative impact on adaptive capacity. However, our augment in this study is an eye-opener to explore the root cause of this relationship. Since higher adaptive capacity decreases livelihood vulnerability to climate change, understanding and addressing these factors will help scheme farmers cope with proposed extreme climate change and vulnerability cases. Therefore, it is

necessary to explore this relationship to reveal alternative ways of addressing livelihood vulnerability in SISs. Subsequently, considering low adaptive capacity and its role in addressing vulnerability, farmers are to engage with extension workers, participate in cooperatives and be involved in irrigation water scheduling. In order to improve adaptive capacity, scheme management should support the participation of youth in farming through facilitating their training and support the needs of female farmers. This article recommends further studies to explore the appropriate combination of factors that might improve the adaptive capacity of farmers in the schemes.

#### References

- Anderies, J., Janssen, M. and Schlager, E., 2016. Institutions and the performance of coupled infrastructure systems. *International Journal of the Commons*, 10.
- Asante, F. A., Boakye, A. A., Egyir, I. S. and Jatoe, J. B., 2012. Climate change and farmers' adaptive capacity to strategic innovations: The case of northern Ghana.
- Azumah, S. B., Adzawla, W., Donkoh, S. A. and Anani, P. Y., 2021. Effects of climate adaptation on households' livelihood vulnerability in South Tongu and Zabzugu districts of Ghana. *Climate and Development*, 13, 256 – 267.
- Bellhouse, D., 1988. 1 A brief history of random sampling methods. *Handbook of statistics*, 6, 1-14.
- Bisaro, A., and Hinkel, J., 2016. Governance of social dilemmas in climate change adaptation. *Nature Climate Change*, 6, 354 359.
- Canevari-Luzardo, L. M., Berkhout, F., and Pelling, M., 2020. A relational view of climate adaptation in the private sector: How do value chain interactions shape business perceptions of climate risk and adaptive behaviours? *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 29, 432 444.
- Chancellor, F. and Hide, J., 1997. Smallholder Irrigation: ways forward. *Guidelines for achieving appropriate scheme design*, 2.
- Chanza, N., Chigona, A., Nyahuye, A., Mataera-Chanza, L., Mundoga, T. and Nondo, N., 2019. Diagnosing barriers to climate change adaptation at community level: Reflections from Silobela, Zimbabwe. *GeoJournal*, 84, 771 – 783.

- Choden, K., Keenan, R. J. and Nitschke, C. R., 2020. An approach for assessing adaptive capacity to climate change in resource dependent communities in the Nikachu watershed, Bhutan. *Ecological Indicators*, 114, 106293.
- Cifdaloz, O., Regmi, A., Anderies, J. M. and Rodriguez, A. A., 2010. Robustness, vulnerability, and adaptive capacity in small-scale social-ecological systems: The Pumpa Irrigation System in Nepal. *Ecology and Society*, 15.
- Cox, M., Arnold, G. and Tomás, S. V., 2010. A review of design principles for community-based natural resource management. *Ecology and Society*, 15.
- Cox, M. and Ross, J. M., 2011. Robustness and vulnerability of community irrigation systems: The case of the Taos valley acequias. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, 61, 254 – 266.
- Doss, C., Meinzen-Dick, R., Quisumbing, A. and Theis, S., 2018. Women in agriculture: Four myths. *Global food security*, 16, 69 74.
- Engle, N. L., 2011. Adaptive capacity and its assessment. *Global environmental change*, 21, 647 656.
- Fanadzo, M. and Ncube, B., 2018. Challenges and opportunities for revitalising smallholder irrigation schemes in South Africa. *Water SA*, 44, 436 447.
- Frank, E., Eakin, H. and Lopez-Carr, D., 2011. Social identity, perception and motivation in adaptation to climate risk in the coffee sector of Chiapas, Mexico. *Global environmental change*, 21, 66 – 76.
- GoZ, 2020. National Development Strategy 1. Harare: Government Printers.
- Hahn, M. B., Riederer, A. M. and Foster, S. O., 2009. The Livelihood Vulnerability Index: A pragmatic approach to assessing risks from climate variability and change—A case study in Mozambique. *Global environmental change*, 19, 74 88.
- Haykir, Ö. and Çelik, M. S., 2018. The effect of age on firm's performance: evidence from familyowned companies. Ömer Halisdemir Üniversitesi İktisadi ve İdari Bilimler Fakültesi Dergisi, 11, 129 – 137.
- Hutcheson, G. D., 2011. Ordinary least-squares regression. L. Moutinho and GD Hutcheson, The SAGE dictionary of quantitative management research, 224 228.
- IFAD, 2016. Smallholder Irrigation Revitalization Programme Final project design report. Republic of Zimbabwe. Harare: IFAD.

- IPCC, 2001. Climate Change 2001: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability, A Summary for Policymakers and Technical Summary of the Working Group II Report. Geneva: IPCC.
- Kalele, D. N., Ogara, W. O., Oludhe, C. and Onono, J. O., 2021. Climate Change Impacts and Relevance of Smallholder Farmers' Response in Arid and Semi-Arid Lands in Kenya. *Scientific African*, e00814.
- Lam, W. F., 2006. Foundations of a robust social-ecological system: irrigation institutions in Taiwan. *Journal of Institutional Economics*, 2, 203 226.
- Lemos, M. C., Agrawal, A., Eakin, H., Nelson, D. R., Engle, N. L. and Johns, O., 2013. Building adaptive capacity to climate change in less developed countries. *Climate science for serving society*. Springer.
- Li, J., Song, J., Li, M., Shang, S., Mao, X., Yang, J. and Adeloye, A. J., 2018. Optimization of irrigation scheduling for spring wheat based on simulation-optimization model under uncertainty. *Agricultural Water Management*, 208, 245 – 260.
- Li, M., Huo, X., Peng, C., Qiu, H., Shangguan, Z., Chang, C. and Huai, J., 2017. Complementary livelihood capital as a means to enhance adaptive capacity: A case of the Loess Plateau, China. *Global Environmental Change*, 47, 143 152.
- Ma'mun, S. R., Loch, A. and Young, M. D., 2020. Robust irrigation system institutions: A global comparison. *Global Environmental Change*, 64, 102128.
- Makate, C. and Makate, M., 2019. Interceding role of institutional extension services on the livelihood impacts of drought tolerant maize technology adoption in Zimbabwe. *Technology in Society*, 56, 126 – 133.
- Makate, C., Wang, R., Makate, M. and Mango, N., 2016. Crop diversification and livelihoods of smallholder farmers in Zimbabwe: adaptive management for environmental change. *SpringerPlus*, 5, 1 – 18.
- Matsa, M., 2012. Crop diversity measurement at Dufuya gardens and Insukamini irrigation scheme in Lower Gweru communal lands. *Journal of Environmental Science and Engineering. B*, 1.
- Mazuru, N., 2019. Chapter nine climate change in Zimbabwe: challenges and prospects for rural women in Bikita District. *Necroclimatism in a Spectral World (Dis) order?: Rain Petitioning, Climate and Weather Engineering in 21st Century Africa*, 255.

- Meinzen-Dick, R., 2007. Beyond panaceas in water institutions. *Proceedings of the national* Academy of sciences, 104, 15200 – 15205.
- Meinzen-Dick, R., Raju, K. V. and Gulati, A., 2002. What affects organization and collective action for managing resources? Evidence from canal irrigation systems in India. *World development*, 30, 649 666.
- Mhembwe, S., Chiunya, N. and Dube, E., 2019. The contribution of small-scale rural irrigation schemes towards food security of smallholder farmers in Zimbabwe. *Jàmbá: Journal of Disaster Risk Studies*, 11, 1-11.
- Moyo, M., Van Rooyen, A., Moyo, M., Chivenge, P. and Bjornlund, H., 2017. Irrigation development in Zimbabwe: Understanding productivity barriers and opportunities at Mkoba and Silalatshani irrigation schemes. *International Journal of Water Resources Development*, 33, 740 – 754.
- Mudhara, M. and Senzanje, A., 2020. Assessment of policies and strategies for the governance of smallholder irrigation farming in Kwazulu-Natal province, South Africa. *Water Res. Commons.*
- Mudombi-Rusinamhodzi, G., Siziba, S. and Kongo, V., 2012. Factors affecting smallholder farmers' responsiveness to climate variability induced hazards in Zimbabwe. *African Crop Science Journal*, 20, 297 301.
- Mugabe, F., Munodawafa, A., Dimes, J., Nanja, D. and Carberry, P., 2010. Building adaptive capacity to cope with increasing vulnerability due to climate change: final technical report-Zimbabwe (30 September 2010).
- Mutambara, S. and Munodawafa, A., 2014. Production challenges and sustainability of smallholder irrigation schemes in Zimbabwe. *Journal of biology, agriculture and healthcare*, 4, 87-96.
- Mutekwa, V., 2009. Climate change impacts and adaptation in the agricultural sector: The case of smallholder farmers in Zimbabwe. *Journal of Sustainable Development in Africa*, 11, 237 – 256.
- Mutiro, J. and Lautze, J. 2015. Irrigation in southern Africa: Success or failure? *Irrigation and Drainage*, 64, 180 192.

- Ndlovu, T., Moyo, F., Zikhali, W. and Mabhena, C., 2015. Farmer participation: A drive towards sustainable agricultural production in Makwe irrigation scheme, Zimbabwe. *Glob. J. Agric. Econ. Ext. Rural Dev*, 3, 308 320.
- Nyamayevu, D. and Chinopfukutwa, G. L., 2018. An Assessment of the Reliability and Adequacy of Irrigation Water in Small Holder Irrigation Schemes. *International Journal of Scientific Engineering and Research (IJSER)*
- Nyikahadzoi, K., Mombo, O., Zamasiya, B. and Warinda, P., 2017. Enhancing household food security under changing climatic conditions: a case study of Gokwe North and Hurungwe Districts in Zimbabwe. *Journal of Agricultural & Food Information*, 18, 96 109.
- Oates, N., Mossello, B. and Jobbins, G., 2017. Pathways for irrigation development: policies and irrigation performance in Tanzania.
- Ostrom, E., 2011. Background on the institutional analysis and development framework. *Policy Studies Journal*, 39, 7 27.
- Panda, A., Sharma, U., Ninan, K. and Patt, A., 2013. Adaptive capacity contributing to improved agricultural productivity at the household level: Empirical findings highlighting the importance of crop insurance. *Global Environmental Change*, 23, 782 – 790.
- Patil, B. and Babus, V. S., 2018. Role of women in agriculture. Int J Applied Res, 4, 109-114.
- Phakathi, S. and Wale, E., 2018. Explaining variation in the economic value of irrigation water using psychological capital: a case study from Ndumo B and Makhathini, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Water SA*, 44, 664 673.
- Raney, T., Anríquez, G., Croppenstedt, A., Gerosa, S., Lowder, S. K., Matuschke, I. and Skoet, J., 2011. The role of women in agriculture.
- Raub, W., Buskens, V. and Frey, V., 2013. The rationality of social structure: Cooperation in social dilemmas through investments in and returns on social capital. *Social Networks*, 35, 720 732.
- Sarker, M. N. I., Wu, M., Alam, G. and Shouse, R. C., 2019. Livelihood vulnerability of riverineisland dwellers in the face of natural disasters in Bangladesh. *Sustainability*, 11, 1623.
- Sheng Tey, Y., Brindal, M., Li, E., Gill, G., Bruwer, J., Abdullah, A. M., Radam, A., Ismail, M. M. and Darham, S., 2018. Factors affecting the selection of information sources of sustainable agricultural practices by Malaysian vegetable farmers. *Journal of Agricultural & Food Information*, 19, 162 175.

- Thapa, B. and Scott, C. A., 2019. Institutional strategies for adaptation to water stress in farmermanaged irrigation systems of Nepal. *International Journal of the Commons*, 13.
- Thathsarani, U. and Gunaratne, L., 2018. Constructing and index to measure the adaptive capacity to climate change in Sri Lanka. *Procedia engineering*, 212, 278 285.
- Van Aelst, K. and Holvoet, N., 2016. Intersections of gender and marital status in accessing climate change adaptation: Evidence from rural Tanzania. *World development*, 79, 40 50.
- Van Rooyen, A. F., Moyo, M., Bjornlund, H., Dube, T., Parry, K. and Stirzaker, R., 2020. Identifying leverage points to transition dysfunctional irrigation schemes towards complex adaptive systems. *International Journal of Water Resources Development*, 36, S171 – S198.
- Villamayor-Tomas, S., 2018. Disturbance features, coordination and cooperation: an institutional economics analysis of adaptations in the Spanish irrigation sector. *Journal of Institutional Economics*, 14, 501 – 526.
- Villamayor-Tomas, S. and García-López, G., 2017. The influence of community-based resource management institutions on adaptation capacity: A large-n study of farmer responses to climate and global market disturbances. *Global Environmental Change*, 47, 153 166.
- Villamayor-Tomas, S., Iniesta-Arandia, I. and Roggero, M., 2020. Are generic and specific adaptation institutions always relevant? An archetype analysis of drought adaptation in Spanish irrigation systems. *Ecology and Society*, 25.
- Wang, R. Y., Lam, W.-F. and Wang, J., 2021. Irrigation Management in East Asia: Institutions, Socio-Economic Transformation and Adaptations. *Water Alternatives*, 14, 319 – 331.
- Yong, D. N., 2017. Factors affecting the choice of adaptation measures to climate change: the case of famers in the sudano-sahelian area of Cameroon. *Tanzania Economic Review*, 4.

## CHAPTER 5

# GENDERED PERCEPTIONS OF PEST PREVALENCE AND MANAGEMENT IN ZIMBABWE SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES<sup>4</sup>

## Abstract

A better understanding of gendered perception on the prevalence and management of pests in irrigated agriculture in the context of a changing climate can help recommend more gendersensitive policies, particularly in smallholder farming systems. Limited studies have been conducted to assess gender differences in perception of the prevalence and management of pests among smallholder irrigation schemes. This study seeks to understand gendered perceptions on the prevalence and management of pests in Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu irrigation schemes in Zimbabwe. Semi-structured questionnaires were administered using face-to-face interviews with participants. Data from Focus Group Discussions and Key Informant Interviews were used for validating data from questionnaire interviews. Mann-Whitney U test was employed to assess perception on the prevalence of pests between male and female farmers. Findings from this study depict that females perceived a higher prevalence of cutworms ( $P \le 0.01$ ), red spider mites (P  $\leq$  0.01), maize grain weevils (P  $\leq$  0.01), and termites (P  $\leq$  0.01) than males, while males perceive a higher prevalence of fall armyworms ( $P \le 0.01$ ), bollworms ( $P \le 0.01$ ) and whiteflies  $(P \le 0.1)$  than females. Perception of the prevalence of pests is based on farmers' experience and shapes how they manage pests. Understanding the gendered context and factors shaping the perception of the prevalence of pests is necessary to consider gender-sensitive approaches for improving pest management practices.

**Keywords:** pest control, female farmers, Mann Witney U test, food security, pesticides, pest management capacity

#### 5.1. Introduction

Crop production is threatened by climate change, particularly in arid and semi-arid regions of the world (Nhemachena *et al.*, 2020). Increase in temperature accelerates pests reproduction,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This chapter has been submitted to *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*. Liboster Mwadzingeni, Raymond Mugandani, Paramu L Mafongoya, Gendered perceptions of pest prevalence and management in Zimbabwe smallholder irrigation schemes. ID: ASDE-D-21-00554

development and movement, which can affect population dynamics by influencing fecundity, survival, generation time, population size, and geographic range (Skendžić et al 2021). Irrigation offers a credible entry point to adapt to the negative impacts of climate change in these regions. However, despite their enormous benefits in reducing moisture stress, irrigation might encourage the proliferation of new and emerging pests (Gullino *et al.*, 2021). Irrigation results in humid conditions that contribute to the build-up of pests, reaching an outbreak (Sithanantham *et al.*, 2002). In order to take advantage of the role played by irrigation in climate change adaptation, pest management is key to reducing pest-related losses and improving agricultural productivity. Therefore, understanding pest management from the lens of the farmer is important for the successful control of pests under irrigated agriculture, more so given that climate change has significant implications for pests in agriculture (Shrestha, 2019). Thus, perception of the prevalence of pests is increasingly becoming important in pest management in view of the economic damage caused by pests.

Globally, an average yield loss of 21.5% for wheat (*Triticum*, 30.0% for rice (*Oryza sativa*), 22.5% for maize (*Zea mays*), 17.2% for sweet potatoes (*Ipomoea batatas*), and 21.4% for soya bean (*Glycine max*) can be attributed to pests alone (Savary *et al.*, 2019, Gullino *et al.*, 2021). Pests are more economically relevant in Africa, where crop losses equivalent to approximately USD 4.4 billion were attributed to pests from 1980 to 1990 (Biber-Freudenberger *et al.*, 2016). Available evidence shows that climate change contributes to the increased risk of pests affecting crops across the agricultural systems of Africa (Dhanush *et al.*, 2015, Karuppaiah and Sujayanad, 2012, Bjorkman and Niemela, 2015). In sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), crop pests alone result in the loss of one-sixth of agricultural productivity (Dhanush *et al.*, 2015). More specifically, in 2018, an estimated yield loss of 11.6% was attributed to the fall armyworm (FAW) (*Spodoptera frugiperda*) in Zimbabwe, albeit from two districts only (Baudron *et al.*, 2019).

Irrigation development may exacerbate the agricultural losses attributed to pests. Empirical evidence shows that some pests, such as FAW, which cannot survive in cold conditions, favour warm moist conditions (Nagoshi *et al.*, 2012). However, for infection, fungi prefer high relative humidity or wet leaf surfaces (Cairns *et al.*, 2012). Thus, these might have implications for infection rates in irrigated agriculture. Numerous studies have evaluated the effects of climate change on pests distribution, occurrence, abundance, and severity of their risks in managed
systems (Gullino *et al.*, 2021). A global study concluded that the potential distribution of FAW will increase with increased rainfall (Zacarias, 2020). In another study in KwaZulu-Natal, the outbreak of pests was common in SISs (Matthews, 2017).

A study in Namibia acknowledges that irrigated areas are an environment where pest outbreaks are rampant (Charamba *et al.*, 2018). These studies show that irrigation has its own share of challenges as far as pests are concerned. The impacts of pests will be felt more by smallholder farmers, who have limited economic means to cope with the impact of climate change (Biber-Freudenberger *et al.*, 2016). For instance, a majority of farmers in Africa have limited capacity to purchase insecticides (Sisay *et al.*, 2019). Over the years, SSA has embarked on massive investment in irrigation systems (Xie *et al.*, 2014), including smallholder irrigation schemes. In Zimbabwe, 450 smallholder irrigation schemes on an area of 26 000 ha had been developed by 2020 in rural areas (GoZ, 2020).

In developing countries such as Zimbabwe, both men and women are involved in agriculture, but women provide 70% of the total labour force (FAO, 2017, Huyer and Nyasimi, 2017). Meanwhile, the level of participation of women in irrigated agriculture is high in Zimbabwe (FAO, 2017). Nonetheless, women have limited access to extension services, education, credit, agricultural inputs (Makate *et al.*, 2019), and capacity building due to structural barriers that create gender gaps and inequalities (Chibaya *et al.*, 2009). These gender inequalities, if not recognized, have severe repercussions on agricultural transformation and development (FAO, 2010). This is particularly relevant for a majority of countries in SSA, including Zimbabwe. In the majority of the region, women provide 50% of the labour force (Raney *et al.*, 2011).

Meanwhile, in Zimbabwe, women constitute 86% of the agricultural labour force (FAO, 2017). Paradoxically, female farmers in Africa "are excluded from conversations that determine agricultural policies, while discriminatory laws and practices deprive them of their land, their rights, and their livelihoods" (GFFW, 2015). Zimbabwe has embraced the concept of gender equality and policies to promote gender-sensitive agricultural training (FAO, 2017). Thus, it is crucial to understand the gendered dimension of the implications of climate change on pest prevalence in Zimbabwe to formulate policies that address the gendered aspect of pest management, including the effective allocation of human and financial resources.

Perception is a cognitive contact with the surrounding environment, based on an individual's primary awareness, learning, memory, expectation, and attention (Bernstein, 2018). Perception of the threat of environmental problems influences environmental attitude and ecological behaviour, hence determining the practices individuals engage in (Milfont *et al.*, 2010). Perception of the prevalence of pests translates into decisions on pest management practices in response to changing occurrence of pests (Awudzi *et al.*, 2021).

The gendered evaluation of pests specifically focusing on irrigation agriculture has received limited research attention. Such studies are particularly relevant in SSA and especially in Zimbabwe, considering the attention given to irrigated agriculture and the role played by women in these farming systems.

Unfortunately, to the best of our knowledge, the gendered perception of pest prevalence research is scarce in Zimbabwe. This is a paradox, given that a majority of women are farm laborers and involved in pest control. This article seeks to use the gendered perception on the prevalence of pests and pest management in the context of irrigated agriculture under climate change in smallholder irrigation schemes of Zimbabwe. It seeks to answer the following question: What is the gendered perception on the prevalence and management of pests in smallholder irrigation schemes given climate variability and change?

## **5.2 Methodology**

#### 5.2.1 Study area

To answer the objectives of this study, we conducted our research in three smallholder irrigation schemes that were randomly selected in Midlands Province, Zimbabwe (Figure 5.1). Midlands Province was selected for this study since it is among the top three provinces with the highest number of smallholder irrigation schemes (GoZ, 2020). Therefore, this study will be of significant reference to gendered perception on the prevalence and management of pests in relation to climate change in Zimbabwe and the SSA region.

Three schemes, namely Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu were considered for this study. Exchange irrigation scheme is located in Silobela communal area, Kwekwe District, approximately 60 km North-West of Kwekwe town. It has about 168.8 ha of irrigable land developed partly from 1973 and 1985 (SIRP, 2017, Nyamayevu *et al.*, 2015). A total of 982

households currently occupies Exchange irrigation scheme. The scheme is in an agroecological zone (AEZ) IV with semi-arid climatic conditions, receiving an average rainfall ranging from 450 – 650 mm (Manatsa *et al.*, 2020). The soils are highly fertile clay loams. Irrigation water is drawn from Exchange Dam. Maize (*Zea mays*) and sugar beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) are the main crops grown in Exchange irrigation scheme, yielding an average of 15t and 2.1t per ha, respectively (SIRP, 2017). Farmers in the scheme have challenges reaching a more reliable market due to poor road networks (SIRP, 2017).

Insukamini irrigation scheme is located in Lower Gweru communal area, Gweru District, Midlands province, Zimbabwe. It is nearly 45 km North-West of Gweru, the Midlands provincial town. It has a total of 41 ha developed in 1988 and is occupied by 125 households (Matsa, 2012). The scheme is located in AEZ IV, with annual rainfall ranging from 600 - 800 mm (Manatsa *et al.*, 2020). The soils in the scheme range from sandy loam to clay loam. Its water comes from Insukamini dam through a 1.6 km long concrete canal.

Ruchanyu irrigation scheme is located in Shurugwi district, about 62 km South-West of Gweru town. It has about 27 ha of irrigable land developed in the early 1980s (Mhembwe *et al.*, 2019). A total of 85 households currently operates the scheme (Mhembwe *et al.*, 2019). It is in AEZ III with annual rainfall ranging from 650 - 850 mm (Mhembwe *et al.*, 2019). The soils in the scheme are classified as sandy loam (Mhembwe *et al.*, 2019). Water is pumped from Mutevekwi River (Mhembwe *et al.*, 2019). Maize is the main crop grown by farmers in the scheme. The farmers do not have a well-established market for the crop, as the local market cannot purchase all the produce.



Figure 5. 1: Map of the study area

# 5.2.2 Data collection

A questionnaire-based survey was used to collect primary data for this study. Data was also collected using focus group discussions (FGDs) and eleven key informant interviews (KIIs) for triangulation of the findings from the questionnaire. Gender, social class, and age were considered when choosing participants from FDGs and KIIs for equal representation. A pilot study was done to test the suitability of the data collection tools for the study. Further, a random selection was used to select 317 participants (192 from Exchange irrigation scheme, 88 from Insukamini irrigation scheme and 37 from Ruchanyu irrigation scheme based on proportional representation) for this study. A sample selection formula in equation (1) below was used to calculate the sample size. Six FGDs were done with 10 - 15 randomly selected participants who didn't participate in questionnaire interviews. FGDs help to have a clear understanding of perception on the prevalence of pests in the schemes. KIIs provide expert information about changes in pests, pest control and crops affected by each type of pest.

$$n = \frac{N}{Ne^2} \tag{1}$$

Where: n – sample size, N – population and e – confident interval

For this study, semi-structured questionnaires were administered using face-to-face interviews with the respondents. The participants were asked to show their level of perception about the changes in pests over the given period using the following Likert Scale: Strongly Disagree (1), Disagree (2), Not Sure (3), Agree (4), Strongly Agree (5).

## 5.2.3 Data analysis

Data for this study was collected using a five Likert scale response. This was due to our interest in participants' perception of the prevalence of pests in response to climate change. For this study, data was collapsed to a binary response. Responses with Strongly Decrease, Decrease and No Change were coded (0), while those with Agree and Strongly Agree were coded (1). To determine the gendered perception of the prevalence of pests, a Mann-Whitney U test was used. Mann-Whitney U test was used to test if there are differences in perception on the prevalence of pests between male and female respondents. The Mann-Whitney U test was used to test the null hypothesis that there is an equal perception of the prevalence of pests between male and female respondents are from the same set of schemes. The differences in perception on the prevalence of pests were considered significant at p = 0.05.

## 5.3. Results

The socio-economic characteristics of respondents of this study are shown in Table 5.1. Results show that male farmers were significantly married than female farmers ( $P \le 0.05$ ). On average, both male and female participants in the schemes were literate. The schemes consist of aging scheme farmers averaging 55 years for males and 54 years for females.

There were statistically significant differences (P $\leq$ 0.05) between male and female farmers on knapsack sprayer ownership, where more males (64.1%) owned knapsack sprayers compared to their female (50%) counterparts. From a cultural perspective, property is owned under the name of the husband who is the head of the family. In addition, it is generally accepted that spraying for pests is a male job, similar to ox ploughing. Further, there were statistically significant differences (P $\leq$ 0.05) between male and female farmers on spraying frequency, where more males (53%) sprayed more than their female (42.1%) counterparts. In addition, there were statistically

significant differences (P $\leq$ 0.05) between male and female farmers on management, where more females (57.3%) poorly manage pests compared to their male (46.5%) counterparts.

Variable	Male	Female	Significant level	Standard
				deviation
Marital status (Married)	89.5	46.2	*	
Education (years)	9	8		3.14
Average Age	55.33	53.84		12.78
Fulltime farmer (%)	86.0	92.3	N/A	
Own Knapsack sprayers (%)	64.1	50	*	
Full time farmers	86.4	92.3		
Household Size	5	5	N/A	
Number of years in farming	27	27	N/A	
Raise livestock	94	93.5		

Table 5. 1. Socio-demographic factor	Table 5	5.1:	Soci	o-demo	graphic	factor
--------------------------------------	---------	------	------	--------	---------	--------

Note: Statistically significant at 5% level indicated by (\*).

Table 5.2 below shows crops grown in the schemes by gender.

Сгор	Male		Female	Female		
	Frequency	Percentage	Frequency	Percentage		
Maize	121	66.5	61	33.5		
Sugar Beans	18	72	7	28		
Wheat	18	86	3	14		
Cabbage	19	61	12	39		
Tomatoes	7	50	7	50		
Onion	8	62	5	38		
Cucumber	0	0	3	100		
Squash	6	100	0	00		

# Table 5. 2: Crops grown by gender

# 5.3.1 Perception of change on pest prevalence in irrigation schemes under climate change

In general, Figure 5.2 illustrates that scheme farmers perceive a rising prevalence of pests under climate change. Both male and female farmers perceive in increase in incidences of pests between 2010 and 2020.



■ Females ■ Males ■ Overal



# **Figure 5. 2:** Perceived changes in occurrence of pests during the period 2010 to 2020 in Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu Irrigation Schemes in the Midlands Province, Zimbabwe

## 5.3.2 Gendered perception on the prevalence of pests in SISs under climate change

The results for assessing the gendered perception of pest prevalence are shown in Table 5.3 and Table 5.4. The results reveal a gendered perception of pest prevalence in the three schemes considered for this study. The perception of pest prevalence shows that female farmers perceive a higher increase in the prevalence for most pests than males, who perceive a higher increase in the prevalence for only three types of pests (Table 5.3). Male and female farmers have a similar perception of the prevalence of aphids. Thus, in relation to male participants, female participants have a better perception of the prevalence of cutworms (U = 2100.50, p  $\leq$  0.05).

In contrast, male farmers perceive a higher increase in FAW prevalence than their female counterparts (U = 6362.00, p  $\leq$  0.05). On the other hand, female participants significantly perceive a higher increase in the prevalence of red spider mites than male participants (U = 5232.00, p  $\leq$  0.05). Similarly, female participants perceive a substantially rising prevalence of maize grain

weevils than male participants (U = 6596.50, p  $\le 0.05$ ). Nonetheless, males have a significant perception of a higher increase in the prevalence of bollworms than females (U = 4425.00, p  $\le 0.05$ ). Males have a considerable perception of a higher increase in whiteflies incidences than females (U = 7171.50, p  $\le 0.05$ ). However, female farmers perceive a higher increase in the prevalence of termites than male farmers (U = 3018.50, p  $\le 0.05$ ) (Table 5.3 and Table 5.4).

	Gender	Ν	Mean	Sum of
			Rank	Ranks
Aphids	Female	192	145.13	27865.00
	Male	88	130.40	11475.00
	Total	280		
Cutworms	Female	192	154.91	29743.50
	Male	88	109.05	9596.50
	Total	280		
Fall	Female	192	129.64	24890.00
Armyworms	Male	87	162.87	14170.00
	Total	279		
Red spider	Female	192	155.25	29808.00
mite	Male	86	104.34	8973.00
	Total	278		
Maize grain	Female	191	148.46	28356.50
weevils	Male	87	119.82	10424.50
	Total	278		
Bollworms	Female	192	119.55	22953.00
	Male	87	185.14	16107.00
	Total	279		
Whiteflies	Female	192	133.85	25699.50
	Male	85	150.63	12803.50
	Total	277		
Termites	Female	192	165.78	31829.50

 Table 5. 3: Ranks of gendered perception on pest prevalence

Male	85	78.51	6673.50
Total	277		

Armyworm Cutworms **Red spider 30**llworms Whiteflies weevils Termites Aphids Maize grain mite Fall 5232.00 Mann-Whitney U 7559.00 2100.50 6362.00 4425.00 7171.50 3018.50 6596.50 Wilcoxon W 11475.00 3375.50 24890.00 8973.00 10424.50 22953.00 25699.50 6673.50 Ζ -1.46 -4.79 -5.06 -2.94 -6.55 -1.68 -8.59 -3.32 0.094 Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) 0.146 0.000 0.001 0.000 0.003 0.000 0.000 Exact Sig. (2-tailed) 0.146 0.000 0.001 0.000 0.003 0.000 0.094 0.000 Exact Sig. (1-tailed) 0.073 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.002 0.000 0.047 0.000 Point Probability 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Table 5. 4: Mann-Whitney U test for perception on pest prevalence

Table 5.5 illustrates major pests, perception of pest prevalence and strategies used to control pests considered for this study. Several existing methods of control of pests are categorized under pesticides, cultural and integrated pest management. Although there was a generally high rate of pesticide use, farmers who did not perceive an increase in the prevalence of pests significantly use pesticides to control pests than those who perceive an increase in the prevalence of pests (p < 0.05). In contrast, farmers who perceive an increase in the prevalence of pests were more likely to use integrated pest management strategies than those who did not perceive an increase in the prevalence of pests. Some measures of pest control include field management, use of drought resistant varieties and crop rotation. However, pest management strategies were similar for two groups of farmers for maize grain weevils.

Pests	Perception of	Pest managen	Significant		
	pest	Pectcides Cultural		Integrated pest	level
	prevalence			management	
Aphids	0	93.20	3.40	2.30	***
	1	61.00	0.70	37.70	
Cutworms	0	85.10	2.00	10.90	***
	1	68.50	1.80	29.70	
Fall	0	91.20	0.00	8.80	***
Armyworms	1	69.30	1.00	28.20	
Red spider	0	90.10	0.00	7.00	***
mites	1	73.30	0.70	43.00	
Maize grain	0	81.30	0.90	15.90	NS
weevils	1	71.80	1.30	25.60	
Bollworms	0	86.20	10.30	10.30	***
	1	66.70	30.70	30.70	
Whiteflies	0	84.60	1.30	14.10	***
	1	67.90	0.70	30.60	
Termites	0	80.20	0.0	19.80	NS
	1	67.80	2.50	28.10	

Table 5. 5: Major pests, perception of pest prevalence and strategies used to control pest

Note: 0 - no increase in the prevalence of pests; 1 - an increase in the prevalence of pests. Statistically significant at 5% level indicated by (\*\*\*). NS – not statistically significant.

Figure 5.6 illustrates spraying frequencies to control different types of pests. As shown in Table 5.6, farmers who did not perceive an increase in the prevalence of pests use chemical pesticides more frequently compared to farmers who perceive an increase in the prevalence of pests. However, for maize grain weevils, the relationship is not significantly different for the two groups of farmers.

 Table 5. 6: Frequency of spraying chemical pesticides by scheme farmers

Pests	Frequency of spraying chemical pesticides

	Perception	Once a	Twice	Once a	Twice	Once	Significant
	of pest	week	a week	month	а	visible	level
	prevalence				month		
Aphids	0	19.30	49.70	10.20	17.00	3.40	***
	1	19.20	33.60	38.40	6.80	1.40	
Cutworms	0	25.70	45.50	10.90	14.90	1.00	***
	1	21.60	36.00	33.30	5.40	1.80	
Fall	0	15.80	70.20	8.80	5.30	0.00	***
Armyworms	1	21.30	30.70	32.20	10.90	2.50	
Red spider	0	21.10	45.10	9.90	16.90	4.20	***
mites	1	21.30	37.30	32.00	5.30	2.00	
Maize grain	0	17.80	46.70	17.80	13.10	1.90	NS
weevils	1	23.10	38.50	24.40	7.70	5.10	
Bollworms	0	19.00	65.50	12.10	0.00	0.00	***
	1	21.30	33.30	26.70	14.00	2.70	
Whiteflies	0	24.40	53.80	11.50	5.10	2.60	***
	1	16.40	36.60	32.10	12.70	1.50	
Termites	0	16.00	46.20	20.80	15.10	0.00	***
	1	22.30	35.50	35.50	3.30	1.70	

Note: 0 - no increase in the prevalence of pests; 1 - an increase in the prevalence of pests. Statistically significant at 5% level indicated by (\*\*\*). NS – not statistically significant.

# 5.4. Discussion

A changing trend of pests due to climate change is evident in Zimbabwe (Kutywayo *et al.*, 2013, Ch, 2013, Mafongoya *et al.*, 2019). The outbreak of pests is a constraint to agriculture production in Zimbabwe and climate change results in rising pest pressure (Mafongoya *et al.*, 2019). Female farmers are increasingly involved in controlling pests, which contributes to their awareness of the prevalence of pests. Earlier studies on pest prevalence have been based on simulations, laboratory and field experiments to determine the prevalence of pests (Kutywayo *et al.*, 2013, Gullino *et al.*, 2021), which may be of limited implications for pest management in the smallholder farming sector. This study will help policymakers to improve policies through understanding the differences in perception on the prevalence of pests between males and female farmers in

Zimbabwe. Results from this study found gender differences in perception on the prevalence of pests.

Generally, the respondents have perceived a rising prevalence of pests. The results are consistent with findings by Gullino *et al.* (2021), who found that the majority of studies in cereals like maize and horticultural crops indicate a spike in pest risks in subtropical agricultural systems under climate change. Increased pests result in rising plant health problems in agricultural systems (Gullino *et al.*, 2021). Studies like Juroszek *et al.* (2020) and Bjorkman and Niemela (2015) indicate that pest risks will increase in agricultural ecosystems under climate change, and impacts vary with the system's potential and natural ecosystem. Invasive expansion of pests results in economic and social damage by decimating crops (Juroszek *et al.*, 2020). According to Edmonds (2013), prevention, mitigation and adaptation are needed to reduce projected pest risks in agriculture.

The mean ranks in Figure 5.2 show that pests like aphids, cutworms, bollworms, red spider mites, whiteflies, and FAW are becoming more severe. This study supports the finding by Katsaruware-Chapoto et al. (2017) in Zimbabwe that aphids, cutworms and whiteflies have increased. Several studies acknowledge a changing trend of pests as temperature rises and rainfall decreases due to climate change (Mafongoya et al., 2019, Battisti and Larsson, 2015, Scherm, 2004, Andrew and Hill, 2017, Katsaruware-Chapoto et al., 2017, Halsch et al., 2021). A general increase in incidences of pests and the emergence of new pest species is projected for Southern Africa (Mafongoya et al., 2019). Kocmánková et al. (2009) eluded that behaviour, distribution, development, survival, and reproduction increase as temperature rises. According to Shaw and Osborne (2011), climate-driven crop management adaptations like irrigation have permitted yearround cultivation of maize, increasing pests and vector prevalence. The increase of crop pests reduces the availability and access to appropriate quality of food. Further, a rise in the prevalence of pests increases pesticide use, making food unhealthy for humans and livestock (Van der Fels-Klerx et al., 2016, FAO, 2008). There is also a danger of direct food losses and reduction of income in the absence of adequate control measures (FAO, 2008). However, perception of pest prevalence is essential to predict potential outbreak, their impacts on crop yields (Scherm, 2004, Andrew and Hill, 2017, Katsaruware-Chapoto et al., 2017). Thus, these perception studies on pest outbreaks in a changing climate can help inform pest management practices in SISs.

This study showed that the perception of the prevalence of pests significantly differs between male and female participants, creating winners and losers in the face of climate change. The food system in Zimbabwe lacks disaggregation of data by gender. FAO (2017) reported a high literacy rate for both males (98%) and females (97%) in Zimbabwe, which might imply that both male and female participants are equal observers of the prevalence of pests. Perception of the prevalence of pests is based on farmers' experience and shapes the way they manage the pests. The results showed that female farmers have a significant perception of the higher increase in the prevalence of cutworms, red spider mites, maize grain weevils, and termites. In contrast, male farmers perceive a higher prevalence of FAW, bollworms, and whiteflies (Table 5.2 and 5.3). This relates to women participation in production of crops like maize, tomatoes, and post-harvest processing of maize. The perception of the prevalence of pests is increasing due to climate change was also echoed by KIIs and FDGs. Relating to these findings, female farmers are equally aware of trends of pests as their male counterparts.

These findings imply that the gender of the person does not limit their perception of pest prevalence; hence views from both males and females on pest trends and climate change should be valued equally. Consequently, female farmers are equally observers of climate change and pest incidences as their male counterparts (Atreya, 2007, Whyte, 2014). Their context of observations should be well understood and considered during policy formulation and decision-making.

Our observation of the gendered perception of pest prevalence may relate to variation in gender roles, asset endowments, crop choices, pest management, asset endowments, and resource ownership (Sharaunga and Mudhara, 2021, Whyte, 2014, Atreya, 2007). In Zimbabwe, men have greater access, ownership and control of resources and services than women (FAO, 2017). Given that the majority of female household heads were single (Table 5.1), they own land and experience control over production decisions and expenditure (Badstue *et al.*, 2020). Single women in this study actively participate in all farming activities that are more aligned to males and make choices on crops grown. Hence, they are actively instrumental in monitoring and controlling pests as their male counterparts. However, considering that their education and involvement in full-time farming are similar to that of male farmers (Table 5.1), their perception of the occurrence of pests is of significant importance.

The significant relationship between gender and perception of the prevalence of maize grain weevils ( $p \le 0.01$ ), where women have a perception of a higher increase in the prevalence of maize grain weevils than men, might relate to the role of women in the household. In Zimbabwe, women are the overseers for grain and ensure that the grain does not have pests (FAO, 2017). Women are responsible for preparing food for the household, giving them better access to post-harvest storage facilities than men. Women in Zimbabwe are usually more confined in homes (FAO, 2017) and are responsible for preparing household meals (Savari *et al.*, 2020, Mclaughlin *et al.*, 2003, Mazuru, 2019). Nevertheless, this study shows that males significantly perceived the rising prevalence of aphids, FAW, bollworms, and whiteflies compared to females ( $P \le 0.01$ ).

Despite female farmers' perception of rising trends of pests, they have reported that they are facing challenges in pest management. Technological uptake by women in Zimbabwe depends on its ease to use and friendliness (FAO, 2017). Similarly, the spraying frequency of female farmers is lower than that of their male counterparts, despite their perception of increasing incidences of pests. According to FAO (2017), there is gendered ownership of valuable resources in rural Zimbabwe and access to training and extension services. Gender-sensitive training and extension services are critical in addressing gendered pest management challenges. According to Kawarazuka *et al.* (2020), women's failure to spray is due to limited financial resources, knowledge and access to information (Kawarazuka *et al.*, 2020). Further, females and males were found to adopt different pest control methods (Kawarazuka *et al.*, 2020); hence, there is a need to assess and consider gendered pest control methods. In a study in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa, poor capital asset endowments, socio-economic factors, livelihood strategies, and transforming structures and processes were blamed for challenging investment opportunities of female farmers in rural communities (Sharaunga and Mudhara, 2021).

From the findings of this study, gender stereotyping through expectations, roles and behaviour in the context of community, society, or field of study (Jule, 2016), which consider women as poor observers of the prevalence of pests, undermine their contribution to pest management. Sex has been considered to cover physiological characteristics and is a social construction of gender stereotyping (UN, 2021). This perpetuates gender-based stereotyping of the differences between men and females, resulting in gender-biased expectations, hence ignoring individual capacity and performance (Jule, 2016). UN (2021) suggests that identities and expressions vary or depart based

on preconceptions and misconceptions of societal objectives such that people adopt roles, forms of expression, and behaviour considered entitlements. Further, women must not embrace stereotyping of femininity, which undermines their perception of the prevalence of pests.

Pest prevalence can be worsened by climate change (Gullino *et al.*, 2021) and the condition of the scheme. Also, scheme farmers differ their crop rotation cycles across seasons, pose a challenge of rotating pests as they can shift from the host plot to the next across seasons given that plots are closer to each other. Further, growing the same crop across the scheme during the same season posed challenges as some farmers were not controlling pests, making pests more invasive and spreading faster. Mobilising farmers to grow the same crop during the same season interrupts market balance where some crops will flood the market while others will be under short supply. For instance, most of the harvested onions in Insukamini were not sold due to an increased supply. Implementing collective decisions on pest control in SISs is difficult due to the myriad of challenges that the scheme farmers face.

The results from the study support findings that farmers in Zimbabwe are reliant on a broad spectrum of insecticides to control the pest (Tibugari *et al.*, 2012). Nevertheless, the perception of an increase in the prevalence of pests makes farmers integrate chemical pesticides with cultural methods of controlling pests (Table 5). While the perception of an increase in the prevalence of pests makes farmers depend mainly on the regular application of chemical insecticides with limited use of integrated pest management. However, high chemical insecticides application rate is highly associated with insecticide resistance (Tibugari *et al.*, 2012). Although pesticides minimise crop loss, they result in contamination of the ecosystem and undesirable health effects (Barzman *et al.*, 2015). Nonetheless, Scott *et al.* (2018) recommend that the use of nanotechnology-produced pesticides may potentially improve the efficacy and safety of pesticides; however, its availability in developing areas is a limiting factor.

The results depict that the perception of the increasing prevalence of pests influences farmers' decision to use integrated pest management. Munkvold and Gullino. (2020) and Thomas *et al.* (2017) recommend integrated pest-management practices, among other strategies, to control pests in face of increasing threats from pests due to climate change. Therefore, farmers were recommended adopt integrated pest management strategies related to the diversity of their farming system, capacity, and agroecosystems' nature.

However, there is much room to improve pest management on farms resulting in cost-benefit improvements. Jactel *et al.* (2020) suggest using an interdisciplinary approach as an important way to manage the new and emerging pest species by considering knowledge gained from different disciplines. Crop insurance is also an attractive alternative to protect farmer's livelihood under climate change. It is evident that climate change is increasing the problem related to pests in managed ecosystems. Surveillance, monitoring and pest risk analysis are vital for evaluating the introduction, spread and economic consequences of pests, essentially identifying potential pest management options to reduce the risk of pests to acceptable levels (Gullino *et al.*, 2021). Climate-smart pest management based on selected existing management methods enhance mitigation and strengthen resilience. Pest management improvements are valuable, with or without climate change scenarios. Dilling *et al.* (2015) assert that there is much potential to improve on-farm and regional pest management systems. Building pest management capacity and managing financial risks. Adjusting plant-protection protocols to suit current and projected climate change scenarios is crucial to maintaining and preserving current and future food security (Gullino *et al.*, 2021).

Climate and pest monitoring, pest prevention approaches, adopting mechanical, cultural, biological and chemical pest control approaches, farmer networks and organisations, participatory appraisals, enhance accessibility of extension services for farmers, early warning systems, monitoring of existing pests and investment in training programmes, and infrastructure are among possible copying strategies against threat of pests (Heeb et al., 2019). Further, regulation of agro-inputs and agro-input suppliers, establish and enhance financial services, and facilitation of national and international funding mechanisms are key to improve copying against threat of pests (Heeb *et al.*, 2019).

# 5.4.1 Policy implications of the study

The increasing prevalence of pests due to climate change is transforming food safety policies (Carvalho, 2017), food security policies (Gregory *et al.*, 2009), phytosanitary measures (Eschen *et al.*, 2015), and pest management policies and practices (Heeb *et al.*, 2019). Hence, perception of the prevalence of pests is an integral element of policy formulation in recent years. Several studies encourage the need to understand the impact of pest prevalence on food safety (Carvalho, 2017),

food security (Savary *et al.*, 2019), and pesticide management strategies (Andrew and Hill, 2017) through understanding human perception, which shapes their behaviour and attitude of farmers.

Pests are an integral part of the food system and have negatively impacted crop production via crop yields losses (Gullino *et al.*, 2021). In the context of climate change, pests are believed to be expanding their range, increasing in population and increasing their generations (Gullino *et al.*, 2021, Biber-Freudenberger *et al.*, 2016). Male and female farmers participate in crop production (Akter *et al.*, 2016) and pest management (Wang *et al.*, 2017). Therefore, an improved understanding of the gendered perception of the prevalence of pests may enable policymakers to design policy control measures with respect to female farmers.

Findings from this study might be useful for organisations like Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO), International Plant Protection Convention (IPPC), Food Safety Authority (FSA), and national governments on designing pest control programs targeted for female farmers. The insights from this study can be extremely valuable for policymakers to facilitate policies to reduce the impacts of pests and address gender differences at the farm, regional and national levels.

# 5.4. Conclusions

This study sought to assess the gendered perception of the prevalence of pests and existing pest management practices under irrigation schemes. Our study results show that both male and female farmers were aware of trends of pests under climate change. Female participants perceived a higher increase in the prevalence of cutworms, red spider mites, maize grain weevils, and termites. While male participants have a distinct perception of the higher growth in the prevalence of FAW, bollworms and whiteflies. Participants in this study reported a rising number of aphids, cutworms, FAW, red spider mites, bollworms, whiteflies, and termites and a decrease in maize grain weevils. Perception of the prevalence of pests shapes the behaviour of farmers towards changing pest trends and pest management practices of farmers. Policymakers and researchers are recommended to acknowledge the gendered perception of the prevalence of pests in policy formulation. Based on the study findings, perception of the prevalence of pests of climate change in Zimbabwe and the region. Further, this study has implications for pest management practices and food security. It recommends surveillance and monitoring of pests, integrated pest management practices,

interdisciplinary approaches to managing pests, crop insurance, and building pest management capacity for farmers must be pursued by extension services and research organizations.

# References

- Ahmad, T., Hassan, M. W., Jamil, M. and Iqbal, J., 2016. Population Dynamics of Aphids (Hemiptera: Aphididae) on Wheat Varieties (Triticum aestivum L.) as Affected by Abiotic Conditions in Bahawalpur, Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Zoology*, 48.
- Akter, S., Erskine, W., Branco, L. V., Agostinho, O. F., Imron, J. and Spyckerelle, L., 2016. Gender in crop production in Timor-Leste. ACIAR Proceedings Series, 2016. Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR), 158 – 164.
- Andrew, N. R. and Hill, S. J., 2017. Effect of climate change on insect pest management. Environmental pest management: challenges for agronomists, ecologists, economists and policymakers, 197.
- Atreya, K., 2007. Pesticide use knowledge and practices: A gender differences in Nepal. *Environmental Research*, 104, 305 – 311.
- Awudzi, G. K., Adu-Acheampong, R., Avicor, S. W., Bukari, Y., Yeboah, M. A., Boateng, E. K.
  O. and Ahadzi, S. K., 2021. Farmers' knowledge and perception of cocoa insect pests and damage and the implications for pest management on cocoa in Ghana. *Journal of Plant Protection Research*, 145 155.
- Badstue, L., Petesch, P., Farnworth, C. R., Roeven, L. and Hailemariam, M., 2020. Women farmers and agricultural innovation: marital status and normative expectations in rural Ethiopia. *Sustainability*, 12, 9847.
- Barzman, M., Bàrberi, P., Birch, A. N. E., Boonekamp, P., Dachbrodt-Saaydeh, S., Graf, B., Hommel, B., Jensen, J. E., Kiss, J. and Kudsk, P., 2015. Eight principles of integrated pest management. Agronomy for sustainable development, 35, 1199 – 1215.
- Baudron, F., Zaman-Allah, M. A., Chaipa, I., Chari, N. and Chinwada, P., 2019. Understanding the factors influencing fall armyworm (Spodoptera frugiperda JE Smith) damage in African smallholder maize fields and quantifying its impact on yield. A case study in Eastern Zimbabwe. Crop Protection, 120, 141 – 150.

Bernstein, D., 2018. Essentials of psychology, Boston, USA, Cengage learning.

Biber-Freudenberger, L., Ziemacki, J., Tonnang, H. E. and Borgemeister, C., 2016. Future risks of pest species under changing climatic conditions. *PloS one*, 11, e0153237.

- Biswas, R. K., Kabir, E. and Khan, H. T., 2019. Causes of urban migration in Bangladesh: Evidence from the urban health survey. *Population Research and Policy Review*, 38, 593 – 614.
- Bjorkman, C. and Niemela, P., 2015. Climate Change And Insect Pests, Cabi.
- Cairns, J. E., Sonder, K., Zaidi, P., Verhulst, N., Mahuku, G., Babu, R., Nair, S., Das, B., Govaerts, B. and Vinayan, M., 2012. Maize production in a changing climate: impacts, adaptation, and mitigation strategies. *Advances in agronomy*, 114, 1 58.
- Carvalho, F. P., 2017. Pesticides, environment, and food safety. *Food and energy security*, 6, 48–60.
- Ch, M., 2013. Potential impact of climate change in sugarcane and mitigation strategies in Zimbabwe. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 8, 2814 2818.
- Chanza, N., Chigona, A., Nyahuye, A., Mataera-Chanza, L., Mundoga, T. and Nondo, N., 2019. Diagnosing barriers to climate change adaptation at community level: Reflections from Silobela, Zimbabwe. *GeoJournal*, 84, 771 – 783.
- Charamba, V., Thomas, B. and Charamba, B., 2018. Relative importance analysis of the factors influencing maize productivity at Olushandja and Etunda irrigation Schemes of Namibia: a secondary analysis of data from farm household survey. *International Science and Technology Journal of Namibia*, 033 – 047.
- Chazovachii, B., 2012. The impact of small scale irrigation schemes on rural livelihoods: the case of Panganai irrigation scheme Bikita District Zimbabwe. *Journal of Sustainable Development in Africa*, 14, 217 231.
- Chabaya, O., Rembe, S. and Wadesango, N., 2009. The persistence of gender inequality in Zimbabwe: Factors that impede the advancement of women into leadership positions in primary schools. South African Journal of Education, 29(2), pp.235 – 251.
- Choithani, C., Van Duijne, R. J. and Nijman, J., 2021. Changing livelihoods at India's rural–urban transition. *World Development*, 146, 105617.
- Dhanush, D., Bett, B. K., Boone, R. B., Grace, D., Kinyangi, J., Lindahl, J. F., Mohan, C. V., Ramírez Villegas, J., Robinson, T. P. and Rosenstock, T. S., 2015. Impact of climate change on African agriculture: focus on pests and diseases.

- Dilling, L., Daly, M. E., Travis, W. R., Wilhelmi, O. V. and Klein, R. A., 2015. The dynamics of vulnerability: why adapting to climate variability will not always prepare us for climate change. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, 6, 413 – 425.
- Edmonds, R. L., 2013. General strategies of forest disease management. *Infectious Forest* Diseases. CAB International, Wallingford, 29 49.
- Eschen, R., Britton, K., Brockerhoff, E., Burgess, T., Dalley, V., Epanchin-Niell, R., Gupta, K., Hardy, G., Huang, Y. and Kenis, M., 2015. International variation in phytosanitary legislation and regulations governing importation of plants for planting. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 51, 228 – 237.
- FAO, 2008. Climate Related Transboundary Pests and Diseases. Food and Agriculture Organization Rome.
- FAO, 2010. Gender dimensions of agricultural and rural employment: Differentiated pathways out of poverty Status, trends and gaps. Rome: FAO.
- FAO, 2017. National gender profile of agriculture and rural livelihoods Zimbabwe: Country gender assessment series. Harare.
- Fidelis, E. G., Farias, E. S., Lopes, M. C., Sousa, F. F., Zanuncio, J. C. and Picanço, M. C., 2019. Contributions of climate, plant phenology and natural enemies to the seasonal variation of aphids on cabbage. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, 143, 365 – 370.
- Fu, X. and Akter, S., 2016. The impact of mobile phone technology on agricultural extension services delivery: Evidence from India. *The Journal of development studies*, 52, 1561 – 1576.
- GFFW, 2015. Keeping Food On The Table In Sub-Saharan Africa. San Francisco, USA: Global Fund for Women. Available: https://www.globalfundforwomen.org/latest/article/keepingfood-on-the-table-in-sub-saharan-africa/ (Accessed 01/10/2021).
- GoZ, 2020. Accelerated irrigation rehabilitation and development plan 2021 2025. *In:* Ministry of Lands, Agriculture, Water and Rural Resettlement (ed.). Harare: Government Printers.
- Gregory, P. J., Johnson, S. N., Newton, A. C. and Ingram, J. S., 2009. Integrating pests and pathogens into the climate change/food security debate. *Journal of experimental botany*, 60, 2827 – 2838.
- Gullino, M., Albajes, R., Al-Jboory, I., Angelotti, F., Chakraborty, S., Garrett, K., Hurley, B., Juroszek, P. and Makkouk, K., 2021. Scientific review of the impact of climate change on

plant pests. Scientific review of the impact of climate change on plant pests-A global challenge to prevent and mitigate plant pest risks in agriculture, forestry and ecosystems.

- He, L., Zhao, S., Ali, A., Ge, S. and Wu, K., 2021. Ambient Humidity Affects Development, Survival, and Reproduction of the Invasive Fall Armyworm, Spodoptera frugiperda (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), in China. *Journal of Economic Entomology*, 114, 1145 – 1158.
- Heeb, L., Jenner, E. and Cock, M. J., 2019. Climate-smart pest management: building resilience of farms and landscapes to changing pest threats. *Journal of Pest Science*, 92, 951 969.
- Huyer, S. and Nyasimi, M., 2017. Climate-smart agriculture manual for agriculture education in Zimbabwe.
- Jactel, H., Desprez-Loustau, M. L., Battisti, A., Brockerhoff, E., Santini, A., Stenlid, J., Björkman, C., Branco, M., Dehnen-Schmutz, K. and Douma, J. C., 2020. Pathologists and entomologists must join forces against forest pest and pathogen invasions. *NeoBiota*, 58, 107.
- Jule, A., 2016. Gender, participation and silence in the language classroom, Springer.
- Jung, J. M., Byeon, D. H., Jung, S. and Lee, W. H., 2019. Effect of climate change on the potential distribution of the common cutworm (Spodoptera litura) in South Korea. *Entomological Research*, 49, 519 – 528.
- Juroszek, P., Racca, P., Link, S., Farhumand, J. and Kleinhenz, B., 2020. Overview on the review articles published during the past 30 years relating to the potential climate change effects on plant pathogens and crop disease risks. *Plant pathology*, 69, 179 193.
- Karuppaiah, V. and Sujayanad, G., 2012. Impact of climate change on population dynamics of insect pests.
- Katsaruware-Chapoto, R. D., Mafongoya, P. L. and Gubba, A., 2017. Farmer knowledge of climate change impacts and adaptation strategies in the management of vegetable insect pests in Zimbabwe. *J Agric Sci*, 9, 194.
- Kawarazuka, N., Damtew, E., Mayanja, S., Okonya, J. S., Rietveld, A., Slavchevska, V. and Teeken, B., 2020. A gender perspective on pest and disease management from the cases of roots, tubers and bananas in Asia and sub-Saharan Africa. *Frontiers in Agronomy*, 2, 7.
- Kutywayo, D., Chemura, A., Kusena, W., Chidoko, P. and Mahoya, C., 2013. The impact of climate change on the potential distribution of agricultural pests: the case of the coffee white stem borer (Monochamus leuconotus P.) in Zimbabwe. *PLoS One*, 8, e73432.

- Makate, C., Makate, M., Mutenje, M., Mango, N. and Siziba, S., 2019. Synergistic impacts of agricultural credit and extension on adoption of climate-smart agricultural technologies in southern Africa. Environmental Development, 32, p.100458.
- Mafongoya, P., Gubba, A., Moodley, V., Chapoto, D., Kisten, L. and Phophi, M., 2019. Climate Change and Rapidly Evolving Pests and Diseases in Southern Africa. New Frontiers in Natural Resources Management in Africa. Springer.
- Matsa, M., 2012. Crop diversity measurement at Dufuya gardens and Insukamini irrigation scheme in Lower Gweru communal lands. *Journal of Environmental Science and Engineering. B*, 1.
- Matthews, S., 2017. Smallholder irrigation-Recipe for success: exploring the tools farmers need to succeed. *Water Wheel*, 16, 16 18.
- Mazuru, N., 2019. Chapter nine climate change in Zimbabwe: challenges and prospects for rural women in Bikita District. *Necroclimatism in a Spectral World (Dis) order?: Rain Petitioning, Climate and Weather Engineering in 21st Century Africa*, 255.
- Mclaughlin, C., Tarasuk, V. and Kreiger, N., 2003. An examination of at-home food preparation activity among low-income, food-insecure women. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 103, 1506 1512.
- Mhembwe, S., Chiunya, N. and Dube, E., 2019. The contribution of small-scale rural irrigation schemes towards food security of smallholder farmers in Zimbabwe. *Jàmbá: Journal of Disaster Risk Studies*, 11, 1 11.
- Milfont, T. L., Duckitt, J. and Wagner, C., 2010. A cross-cultural test of the value–attitude– behavior hierarchy. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 40, 2791 – 2813.
- Mohammed, S. A. R., 2019. Participation of Female Farmers in Water Management in Rahad Irrigation Project. *European Journal of Social Sciences*, 58, 317 – 321.
- Munkvold, G. P. and Gullino, M. L., 2020. Seed and propagative material. *Integrated pest and disease management in greenhouse crops*, 9, 331.
- Murrell, E. G., 2017. Can agricultural practices that mitigate or improve crop resilience to climate change also manage crop pests? *Current opinion in insect science*, 23, 81 88.
- Nagoshi, R. N., Meagher, R. L. and Hay-Roe, M., 2012. Inferring the annual migration patterns of fall armyworm (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) in the United States from mitochondrial haplotypes. *Ecology and evolution*, 2, 1458 – 1467.

- Nhemachena, C., Nhamo, L., Matchaya, G., Nhemachena, C. R., Muchara, B., Karuaihe, S. T. and Mpandeli, S., 2020. Climate Change Impacts on Water and Agriculture Sectors in Southern Africa: Threats and Opportunities for Sustainable Development. *Water*, 12, 2673.
- Nyamayevu, D., Sun, W. and Chinopfukutwa, G. L., 2015. An Assessment of the Reliability and Adequacy of Irrigation Water in Small Holder Irrigation Schemes.
- Raney, T., Anríquez, G., Croppenstedt, A., Gerosa, S., Lowder, S. K., Matuschke, I. and Skoet, J., 2011. The role of women in agriculture.
- Savari, M., Sheykhi, H. and Amghani, M. S., 2020. The role of educational channels in the motivating of rural women to improve household food security. *One Health*, 10, 100150.
- Savary, S., Willocquet, L., Pethybridge, S. J., Esker, P., Mcroberts, N. and Nelson, A., 2019. The global burden of pathogens and pests on major food crops. *Nature ecology & evolution*, 3, 430–439.
- Scherm, H., 2004. Climate change: can we predict the impacts on plant pathology and pest management? *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology*, 26, 267 273.
- Scott, N. R., Chen, H. and Cui, H., 2018. Nanotechnology applications and implications of agrochemicals toward sustainable agriculture and food systems. ACS Publications.
- Sharaunga, S., and Mudhara, M., 2021. Analysis of Livelihood Strategies for Reducing Poverty Among Rural Women's Households: A Case Study of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Journal of International Development*, 33, 127 – 150.
- Shaw, M. W. and Osborne, T. M., 2011. Geographic distribution of plant pathogens in response to climate change. *Plant Pathology*, 60, 31 43.
- Shrestha, S., 2019. Effects of climate change in agricultural insect pest. *Acta Sci. Agric*, 3, 74 80.
- SIRP, 2017. Smallholder Irrigation Revitalisation Program Participatory Rapid Appraisal for Exchange Irrigation Project Midlands Province Zimbabwe.
- Sisay, B., Simiyu, J., Mendesil, E., Likhayo, P., Ayalew, G., Mohamed, S., Subramanian, S. and Tefera, T., 2019. Fall armyworm, Spodoptera frugiperda infestations in East Africa: Assessment of damage and parasitism. *Insects*, 10, 195.
- Sithanantham, S., Seif, A., Ssennyonga, J., Matoka, C. and Mutero, C., 2002. Integrated pest management (IPM) issues in irrigated agriculture: Current initiatives and future needs to promote IPM adoption by smallholder farmers in Eastern Africa. *The Changing Face of*

Irrigation in Kenya: Opportunities for Anticipating Changes in Eastern and Southern Africa. P, 231.

- Skendžić, S., Zovko, M., Živković, I.P., Lešić, V. and Lemić, D., 2021. The impact of climate change on agricultural insect pests. Insects, 12(5), p.440.
- Thomas, J. E., Wood, T. A., Gullino, M. L. and Ortu, G., 2017. Diagnostic tools for plant biosecurity. *Practical Tools for plant and food biosecurity*. Springer.
- Tibugari, H., Jowah, P., Mandumbu, R. and Karavina, C., 2012. Tackling diamondback moth Plutella xylostella (L.) resistance: A review on the current research on vegetable integrated pest management in Zimbabwe. *Archives of Phytopathology and Plant Protection*, 45, 2445 – 2453.
- Ullah, M. I., Arshad, M., Khan, M. I., Afzal, M., Khan, A. A., Zahid, S. M. A., Saqib, M., Abdullah, A., Kousar, S. and Riaz, M., 2019. Plant water stress affects the feeding performance of american bollworm, helicoverpa armigera (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) on cotton plants. *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Research*, 32, 629 – 635.
- UN 2021, Report of the Independent Expert on protection against violence and discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity. *In:* ASSEMBLY, G. (ed.). Rome: UN.
- Van Der Fels-Klerx, H., Liu, C. and Battilani, P., 2016. Modelling climate change impacts on mycotoxin contamination. *World Mycotoxin Journal*, 9, 717 726.
- Wang, W., Jin, J., He, R. and Gong, H., 2017. Gender differences in pesticide use knowledge, risk awareness and practices in Chinese farmers. *Science of the Total Environment*, 590, 22 – 28.
- Whyte, K. P., 2014. Indigenous women, climate change impacts, and collective action. *Hypatia*, 29, 599 616.
- Xie, H., You, L., Wielgosz, B. and Ringler, C., 2014. Estimating the potential for expanding smallholder irrigation in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Agricultural Water Management*, 131, 183 – 193.
- Yigezu, G., Wakgari, M. and Goftishu, M., 2019. Assessment of Two-spotted Spider Mite (Tetranychus urticae) on Potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) in Eastern Hararghe, Ethiopia. *International Journal of Environment Agriculture and Biotechnology*, 4, 1862 – 1873.

Zacarias, D. A., 2020. Global bioclimatic suitability for the fall armyworm, Spodoptera frugiperda (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), and potential co-occurrence with major host crops under climate change scenarios. *Climatic Change*, 161, 555 – 566.

# **CHAPTER 6**

# CROP WATER PRODUCTIVITY AND NUTRIENT DENSITY IN SMALLHOLDER IRRIGATION SCHEMES OF ZIMBABWE<sup>5</sup>

# Abstract

The opportunity for addressing food and nutritional security under water stress is very narrow. Scientists need to inform decision-makers on nutrition-dense crops with low water footprints. This is crucial in light of the need to keep within the planetary freshwater boundary. There is a massive potential that smallholder irrigation farming can improve food and nutritional security in sub-Sahara Africa, a region projected to experience water stress due to climate change. This chapter seeks to identify the water footprint and nutrient-density of crops grown in SISs in Zimbabwe. Here, a water footprint approach is used to assess the water metrics and nutrient-water matrix of food crops grown in Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu irrigation schemes in Midlands Province, Zimbabwe. The average crop yield ranges from 1.04t/ha for sugar beans to 30.60t/ha for cucumber, the water footprint ranges from 278.85m<sup>3</sup>/t for cucumber to 4762.98m<sup>3</sup>/t for sugar beans. Maize and wheat are energy and carbohydrates rich crops with lower water footprints. Sugar beans have a higher protein content and water footprint, okra have high zinc content and low water footprint, while wheat has higher iron cortent and low water footprints. Interventions should focus on improving water footprint and opt for crops with the higher nutrient value of key nutritional elements like zinc and iron to fight hidden hunger.

Keywords: food system; nutritional security; food security; undernourishment

# **6.1 Introduction**

Identifying nutrient-dense crops with a low water footprint is a global problem that requires urgent attention from the international community. Malnutrition, which is linked to rising illness, mortality and huge healthcare costs, is increasingly becoming a world health concern (Vassilakou, 2021). The global pressure of hunger and undernutrition is increasing under the shadow of Covid-19, challenging the attainment of Sustainable Development Goals 1 (No poverty), 2 (Zero Hunger) and 3 (Good health and well-being) by 2030. Worldwide, approximately 768 million people faced

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This chapter has been submitted to Science of the Total Environment. Liboster Mwadzingeni, Raymond Mugandani, Paramu L Mafongoya, Crop water productivity and nutrient density in smallholder irrigation schemes of Zimbabwe. ID: STOTEN-D-21-26091

hunger in 2020 (FAO *et al.*, 2021), compared to about 650 million people in 2019 (FAO *et al.*, 2021). Undernutrition has grave consequences in children, including diminished physical growth and cognitive impairment (Lemoine and Tounian, 2020, Berhe *et al.*, 2019).

In 2020, stunting affected approximately 22% of children below the age of five years, while wasting affected 6.7% and 5.7% were obese (FAO *et al.*, 2021), intensifying the challenge of achieving the 2025 and 2030 global nutrition targets (UNSCN, 2017). Nutrient is a substance that an organism must obtain from its surroundings for growth and the sustenance of life (Burlingame, 2001). Approximately two billion people suffer from micronutrients deficiencies (FAO, 2017). The majority of them are in rural communities, relying on rain-fed agriculture for their livelihoods (Chikozho, 2010).

Undernourishment is of particular concern in African and Asian countries, accounting for more than one-third (282 million) and more than 50% (418 million) respectively of the global undernourished people in 2020 (FAO *et al.* 2021). Further, these two continents, which account for 90% of stunted children, 90% of children with wasting, and 70% of overweight children, are the 'world champions' of children with malnutrition (UNESCO, 2020, FAO *et al.*, 2021). In Africa, sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) is the region with the highest level of malnutrition. Of the global population that experienced undernutrition in 2020, approximately 24% were from SSA (FAO *et al.*, 2021). Furthermore, in 2020, the region accounted for about 37% of the world's children that suffered from stunting and nearly one-quarter of wasted children (FAO *et al.*, 2021).

In SSA, the uptake of inadequate calories, protein, and micronutrients is highly prevalent among women between 15 and 49 years and children under five years of age (Chawafambira *et al.*, 2021). The World Health Organisation (WHO) emphasizes iron deficiency and iron-deficiency anaemia as public health issues in SSA (Lemoine and Tounian, 2020). The prevalence of anaemia in the paediatric population of SSA exceeds 60% in some countries (Lemoine and Tounian, 2020, Muriuki *et al.*, 2020, Mwangi *et al.*, 2017). This has grave consequences for brain development, behavioural and cognitive performance, morbidity, and mortality (Lemoine and Tounian, 2020). On the other hand, zinc deficiency, which affects 33.5% of the population in developing countries, results in 14.4% diarrheal deaths, 10.4% malaria deaths, and 6.7% pneumonia deaths among children under five years in Africa (Berhe *et al.*, 2019). Micronutrient deficiencies have broader and varied effects depending on the micronutrient of interest. Micronutrient deficiencies have

negative implications on growth and development, disability and poor productivity (Chiromba *et al.*, 2020). Further, micronutrient deficiencies have severe negative impacts.

Climate change, particularly increasing water stress, complicates the challenge of attaining food and nutritional security. Previous studies have shown that food and nutritional insecurity are linked to growing water scarcity (Mustafa *et al.*, 2019). Global water use has grown at approximately 1% per year with rising population, economic development, and shifting consumption patterns (UNESCO, 2020). Concurrently, groundwater depletion has doubled between 1960 and 2000 to 280km<sup>3</sup> per year in 2000 (Ligtvoet *et al.*, 2014). Despite a predefined planetary freshwater boundary lower than 4000km<sup>3</sup> per year, global water withdrawal from some sectors, agriculture included, has already surpassed the 4000km<sup>3</sup>/year threshold (Leng and Hall, 2021, Sokolow *et al.*, 2019, Gleeson *et al.*, 2020). Climate change will increase water stress in agriculture. The world is anticipated to face a 40% water deficit under a business-as-usual scenario as the global average temperature is projected to surpass pre-industrial levels by over 1.5°C by 2050 (Allen *et al.*, 2018). Global water scarcity poses a significant challenge for climate adaptation, given that water mediates most climate change impacts (UNESCO, 2020).

There will be limited scope to raise the quantity of water used for irrigation, accounting for 70% of global freshwater withdrawals in the face of competing demands (FAO, 2011, Damerau *et al.*, 2019). Irrigation water withdrawals are estimated to rise by 5.5% by 2050 to meet increasing food demands and global dietary change (UNESCO, 2020, FAO, 2011). Irrigated land accounts for 20% of total cultivated land, generating 40% of the world's agricultural output (UNESCO, 2020). The share of the blue water footprint is highest in arid and semi-arid regions (Mekonnen and Hoekstra, 2011). Mekonnen and Hoekstra (2011) highlighted the water footprint variation across crop categories and regions.

Sustainably increasing nutritional security (SDG 2) and sustainable management of freshwater resources (SDG 6) for human health and security are part of the international agenda. Despite the crucial role of an integrated method in analysing nutritional and water insecurity for informing the adaptation planning-related studies and decision making, especially in communal areas (Bacon *et al.*, 2021), these two issues are often considered in separately (Brewis *et al.*, 2020). Thus, improved scholarship literature is required to simultaneously address nutritional deficiency and water security (Bacon *et al.*, 2021, Borras Jr *et al.*, 2020, Venkataramanan *et al.*, 2020, Sokolow *et al.*,

2019) in smallholder farming systems to transform food systems sustainably. This work will make an important contribution to the growing literature on assessing nutritional deficiency and water insecurity in smallholder farming systems (Bacon *et al.*, 2021, Borras Jr *et al.*, 2020, Venkataramanan *et al.*, 2020, Sokolow *et al.*, 2019). This research is more appropriate in Zimbabwe where to the best of our knowledge, little effort has been made to link nutritional security and freshwater resources management. Hence, there is a need to explore the relationship between nutrient density and water footprint to inform policy and practice on improving its simultaneous contribution to ecological sustainability, malnutrition and water insecurity.

In the context of Zimbabwe, nutrient-sensitive agriculture is key to reducing micronutrient deficiency (Chiromba *et al.*, 2020). Furthermore, the agricultural sector provides the "last chance salon" to safeguard human nutrition than any other sector. Unfortunately, the sector is threatened by growing water scarcity due to climate change. Thus, GoZ (2020) is making significant investments in the sector to increase food and nutritional security in a highly variable climate. Suppose the investments in smallholder irrigation are to meet the current and future food, water, and nutritional security challenges of the growing world population. In that case, significant progress will be required to identify, document and promote nutrient-dense crops with a low water footprint.

Reflecting on the national nutritional deficit and projected climate change-related decrease in freshwater resources, this study seeks to identify the nutrient density and water footprint of crops grown in Zimbabwe's smallholder irrigation schemes (SISs). Firstly, a profile of freshwater requirements for the crops grown in the SISs is provided. Secondly, the yields for crops grown in the SISs are assessed. Thirdly, the water footprint and nutrient content for the crops grown in the schemes are evaluated.

## 6.2 Methodology

## 6.2.1 Study site

To assess the water footprint, three SISs in Midlands province of Zimbabwe were considered. The Midlands province is among the provinces with the majority of SISs in Zimbabwe (IFAD, 2016). Slightly less than half (47%) of SISs in the province are reportedly unfunctional (IFAD, 2016). Climate change, especially water stress, is increasingly threatening the SISs in the schemes in the

Midlands province (Dube and Nhamo., 2020). Consequently, this study will be an essential reference to improve water footprint in face of climate change among SISs in Zimbabwe and SSA.

This study focus on three SISs. First, Exchange irrigation scheme in Zhombe communal land, Silobela in Kwekwe District is around 60 km North-West of Kwekwe town and 80 km North-West of the provincial town of Gweru (Nyamayevu and Chinopfukutwa, 2018). Exchange irrigation scheme has 168.8 ha irrigable area with 982 farmers engaged in irrigation farming. The scheme is in agro-ecological Zone 4, characterized by semi-arid climatic conditions, with average rainfall ranging from 450 – 650 mm (Chanza *et al.*, 2019). Soils in Exchange are predominantly fertile clay loams (Nyamayevu and Chinopfukutwa, 2018). Irrigation water is drawn from Exchange Dam into its temporary storage. Water is delivered to the plots by concrete-lined channels. Farmers in the scheme mainly grow maize (*Zea mays*) and sugar beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris*). On average, yields of 7t/ha, 1t/ha, and 1.2t/ha are obtained for maize, winter beans, and summer beans, respectively (SIRP, 2017). The market for high-value crops is challenging due to long-distance to nearest towns and compromised road networks.

Insukamini irrigation scheme is the second scheme considered for this study. It is located in Lower Gweru community, which is 46km North-West of Gweru town. Insukamini has 125 farmers on a total irrigable area of 41 ha. Insukamini is in agro-ecological 4, with average annual rainfall ranging from 600 to 800 mm (Matsa, 2012). The predominant soils in Insukamini range from sandy loam to clay loam. Farmers in the scheme grow cereals (wheat and maize), pulses (peas (*Pisum sativum*) and sugar beans), and vegetables (rape (*Brassica napus*), onions (*Allium cepa*), cabbages (*Brassica oleracea var. capitata*), tomatoes (*Solanum lycopersicum*), and garlic (*Allium sativum*)). The scheme was developed in 1988 by the national government after DANIDA finished the construction of Insukamini Dam in 1986 (Matsa, 2012). It draws its water from Insukamini Dam and is delivered gravitationally via a 1.6km long open concrete canal. In Insukamini irrigation scheme, an average yield of 4.4t/ha and 1.9t/ha were attained for maize and sugar beans, respectively (Chanza *et al.*, 2019). Farmers sell their produce to Gweru and Bulawayo (Matsa, 2012).

The third site is Ruchanyu irrigation scheme in Shurugwi district; it is nearly 29km South-West of Shurugwi town. Ruchanyu irrigation scheme had 85 farmers who used sprinkler irrigation technique on total irrigable of 27. Ruchanyu irrigation scheme is in agro-ecological zone 3 with

average annual precipitation ranging 650 from 850mm (Mhembwe *et al.*, 2019). The scheme was developed in the early 1980s. It pumps water from Mutevekwi River (Mhembwe *et al.*, 2019). Soils are mainly fertile sandy loam soils. Farmers sell their crops locally, either on farm-gate and in Shurugwi town. Yields are low due to the challenges of pumping water. Farmers in the scheme mainly grow maize.

## 6.2.2 Data collection

Questionnaire-based face-to-face interviews were conducted together with six Focus Group Discussions (FGDs) and eleven Key Informant Interviews (KIIs). Data on crops grown, water application rate, and crop yields, was collected to address the objectives of this study. Water application rates were obtained from the Department of Irrigation (DIRR). Data from FDGs and KIIs was used for triangulation purposes. A pilot study was done to validate the questionnaire for the study. Random sampling was used to select households to participate in the survey. A sample size of 317 households was selected from the three schemes at a statistically significant level (P  $\leq$  5%). A total of 192 were selected from Exchange irrigation scheme, 88 from Insukamini irrigation scheme and 37 from Ruchanyu irrigation scheme based on proportional representationThe FGDs were conducted with about 10 – 15 household heads that were randomly selected to help understand water use in SISs. Expert information relating to water use and crop yields was obtained from KIIs. Data on standardized crop water footprint and nutrition density in crops were sourced from the literature.

## 6.2.3 Data analysis

The computation of blue water footprints of crops production used in this paper was done in line with the calculation framework of Hoekstra *et al.* (2011). Blue water footprint is defined as the volume of water consumed for the production of goods (Mekonnen and Hoekstra, 2011, Sokolow *et al.*, 2019).

$$WF_{blue,cropx} = \frac{CWU_{blue.cropx}}{Y}$$

Where  $WF_{blue,cropx}$  – blue water footprint of crop x (m<sup>3</sup>/t),  $CWU_{blue,cropx}$  – crop water use (m<sup>3</sup>/ha) over the growing period and Y – yield (t/ha). For the case of this study, water application rate per crop was used to determine crop water use. The yield was obtained from yield statistics provided during the household survey. Crop water use for crops considered in this study was

obtained from the KIIs. These findings were verified using existing literature on yield and crop water use.

# 6.3 Results

The results from the analysis show water footprints and nutrient content for the crops considered in this study. Table 6.1 below shows crop yields and their related blue water footprint. Results illustrate that cucumber has the highest yield (30.60t/ha) and the lowest blue water footprint  $(278.85m^3/t)$ , while sugar beans with a lower yield of 1.04t/ha have the highest blue water footprint of  $6370.67m^3/t$ .

Сгор	Yield (Std Min Max Water footprint		Min	Max (t/ha)		
	Dev) (t/ha)	(t/ha)	(t/ha)	(Std Dev) (m <sup>3</sup> /t)	(t/ha)	
Maize	5.58 (3.21)	0.75	9.00	1911.07	282.33	11293.33
				(1427.71)		
Okra	10.68 (2.93)	6.82	18.53	782.39 (12.83)	571.38	819.84
Cucumber	30.60 (3.12)	27.00	32.40	278.85 (30.19)	261.42	313.70
Squash	2.77 (0.47)			3061.45 (95.76)	1979.36	3592.80
Cabbage	13.40 (6.14)	1	30	1136.15	282.33	8470.00
				(1684.29)		
Wheat	5.43 (1.50)	2.5	7.50	1683.76 (738.76)	978.26	3388.00
Onions	6.68 (4.62)	1.00	15.00	2511.50	562.50	8470.00
				(2630.31)		
Sugar beans	1.04 (1.08)	0.00	1.70	6370.67	3125.00	22586.67
				(3469.08)		

Table 6. 1: Yield and blue water footprint of crops grown by scheme farmers

# 6.3.1 Blue water footprint and nutrition content of crops grown in the schemes

Figures 6.1 to 6.6 demonstrate the relationship between blue water footprint and the nutrient content of each crop. Each figure includes eight crops that were considered for this study.

Figure 6.1 shows the relationship between water footprint and energy content of crops grown in the three SISs in this study.



Figure 6. 1: Blue water footprint and energy content of crops grown in schemes

Figure 6.2 shows the relationship between water footprint and iron content of crops grown in SISs. Figure 6.2 illustrates that wheat has the highest iron content and relatively low water footprint.



Figure 6. 2: Blue water footprint and iron content

Figure 6.3 illustrates the relationship between the water footprint and zinc content of crops grown in the schemes. Figure 6.3 shows that okra has a lower water footprint and high zinc content. Wheat and maize are alternative sources for zinc, given that they have relatively high levels of zinc and a moderate water footprint.



# Figure 6. 3: Blue water footprint and zinc content of crops grown in schemes

Figure 6.4 illustrates the average protein-water footprint of crops grown in the SISs. Sugar beans have both higher protein content and a higher water footprint. Figure 6.4 below shows that wheat has a viable amount of protein content and has a relatively low water footprint.





Figure 6.5 shows that squash has both higher vitamin A content and a water footprint of around 3000m<sup>3</sup>/t. The rest of the crops in the study have extremely lower vitamin A content.





## 6.4 Discussion

This paper assesses the relationship between blue water footprint and nutrient content of food crops grown in SISs. Nutrient content is the level of a nutrient contained in a food (FAO *et al.*, 2021). The study aims to understand how the two aspects can be combined to improve water efficiency,

food and nutrition security, and sustaining environments in SISs and their communities. Comparing these footprints highlights the effective way to improve nutritional security by maximizing water usage. The relationship between blue water footprint and nutrient content will enable humans to prioritize the production of food crops which produce higher nutrient content scores while using less water. This helps to make responsible use of water in crop production while ensuring that water is available for other competing uses, thereby improving human and environmental health.

## 6.4.1 Yield and water footprint

Generally, the water footprint of the crops in this study was higher than their standard global water footprint by Mekonnen and Hoekstra (2011) (Table 6.1). Relative to the water footprints of the crops, their average yield was below the average of the region (SEEDCO, 2020) (Table 6.1). Although the global average water footprint by Mekonnen and Hoekstra (2011) was computed based on the statistics of 1996 to 2005 data, the average water footprint for all crops in this study was higher than their average projected water footprints due to relatively lower yield. Therefore, water footprint is highly compromised by crop yields. Results from this study support Nyambo and Wakindiki (2015) findings in South Africa that sugar bean has the highest water footprint. According to Sokolow et al. (2019) and Mekonnen and Hoekstra (2011), pulses have a relatively higher water footprint compared to other crops. However, the water footprint of sugar bean in this study was higher than projected by Nyambo and Wakindiki (2015), Mekonnen and Hoekstra (2011) and Sokolow et al. (2019). Cucumber has a lower water footprint, although extremely higher than the water footprint projected by Mekonnen and Hoekstra (2011) and Sokolow et al. (2019). The low yield attained by smallholder farmers was attributed to a higher water footprint, given that water footprint has an inverse relationship with yield (Nyambo and Wakindiki, 2015, Mekonnen and Hoekstra, 2011). Potential environmental impacts contribute to the water footprint (Sokolow et al., 2019, Nyambo and Wakindiki, 2015). The amount and timing of precipitation determine irrigation requirements and refill of catchment areas. According to Clagett-Dame and Knutson (2011), agricultural management practices influence water footprint without impacting evaporation. Agriculture management practices such as mulching and conservational tillage, which can retain or increase soil organic matter, increasing water holding capacity while decreasing evaporation (Sokolow et al., 2019), were limited.
The poor yield reflects on the efficiencies of the irrigation schemes. Based on the findings from the FGDs and KIIs , in Ruchanyu efficiency of the irrigation scheme was challenged by load shading, together with switching off of electricity by ZESA as farmers fail to pay electricity fares. Among the three schemes, participants in FGDs indicate that efficiency of the scheme was attributed by poor state of the scheme infrastructure. However, in Exchange Irrigation Scheme, the state of the infrastructure was expected to improve following its maintenance by Smallholder Irrigation Revitalization Programme (SIRP). Such challenges were reported across other schemes in the country and across the region (Dube and Sigauke, 2015, Hanjra and Williams, 2020, Matsa, 2012, Mhembwe *et al*, 2019, Nyamayevu and Chinopfukutwa, 2018, SIRP, 2017).

Given that water footprint is loosely linked to yield (Bocchiola *et al.*, 2013, Sokolow *et al.*, 2019), the best way to improve water use efficiency is to develop strategies to improve water productivity. According to Sokolow *et al.* (2019), crop yields can be influenced by factors such as water availability, nutrient supply, crop variety, access to agricultural inputs, pest and diseases prevalence, among several other factors. Sokolow *et al.* (2019) further stressed that water footprint could be influenced by effective nutrient, water, and soil management determined by agricultural management, climatic and soil factors. In SISs considered for this study, there were limited agricultural approaches like mulching, use of manure, conservation tillage, retaining soil organic matter, which can improve water retention and lower evapotranspiration. Further, the dilapidated state of some canals affects water conveyance efficiency. However, the common pool resource nature of SISs makes it notoriously difficult to address these challenges due to participation of multiple users with a wide range of goals (Cox *et al.*, 2010). Climate variability and change could have added an extra burden to the functionality of these socio-ecological systems, which already have mixed performance, making it impossible to address such factors.

#### 6.4.2 Water footprint and nutrient content

The relationship between water footprint and nutrient content could be an effective way to select crops that should be grown to improve the nutritional security of the community without exceeding the planetary freshwater boundary. Given that nutrient-water footprint is influenced by several factors like yield, NCS, crop varieties, pests, and input usage by farmers, further analysis might be necessary to improve the productivity of the crop. Although yields of irrigated crops are expected

to be higher than rainfed farming, this does not determine the efficiency of the irrigated farming systems, especially under smallholder irrigation farming.

The energy and carbohydrate contents were higher for maize and wheat among crops grown in the scheme (Figures 6.2 and 6.3). Wheat and maize are cereals; hence, they have a high NCS of carbohydrates (Chitsiku, 1989). Although energy and carbohydrates contents were higher for maize and wheat, they were compromised by low yield levels compared to the projection of the same regions (SEEDCO, 2020). Healthy diets need to have sufficient carbohydrates to provide adequate dietary energy to maintain body growth, development, and good health (UNESCO, 2020). Innovations to improve yields will improve the water footprint for maize and wheat, reducing food insecurity in households.

Iron content was higher in wheat, followed by maize. Wheat is the best crop for improving access to iron among schemes households given its comparative water footprint and high iron content. Production of crops with low water footprint and iron content increases subsequent production of iron, its availability, and access in diets. Improving water footprint and producing crops rich in iron is more effective when combined with promotion and education interventions. The problem with the production of iron-rich food crops in SISs in Zimbabwe is the lack of implementation and promotion of the efficient production of iron-rich crops. According to UNESCO (2020), iron fortification and biofortification of wheat and maize are cost-effective methods of increasing iron availability and reducing iron deficiency in rural communities. Iron biofortification with crops like maize and wheat consumed daily and in large quantities meets the daily dietary need. Zimbabwe was emulated for its adaption of iron-biofortified crop varieties (UNESCO, 2020); however, the adaptation of the technology in SISs is not well documented. Food of animal origin is a good source of iron, but they are often unaffordable for rural households in developing countries (Lokeshwar et al., 2011); hence growing crops rich in iron is the best alternative to ensure reduction of iron deficiency. Iron deficiency continues to be a major health problem in Zimbabwe and has far-reaching consequences on the health of children between 6 months and five years and women between 15 and 49 years, with over 72% and over 60% of them suffering from iron deficiency (FNC, 2018). Iron is essential for production of red blood cells, which is essential for transferring oxygen from the lungs to the tissues, a critical feature in human survival (Abbaspour et al., 2014).

Okra has a low water footprint and high zinc content compared to the rest of the crops grown in the schemes. Okra has a relatively higher zinc content of more than 3.83mg/100g compared to other crops grown in the scheme (Gemede et al., 2016). Okra is recommended to be grown in SISs to meet zinc requirements in rural communities in a water-saving way. Improving water footprint and the production of crops rich in zinc is more effective if well promoted. The problem with the production of zinc-rich food crops in SISs in Zimbabwe is the limited implementation and promotion of efficient production of zinc-rich food crops. Zinc fortification and biofortification of widely consumed food, including wheat (Wang et al., 2020), sugar beans (Philipo et al., 2021), and maize (Moretti et al., 2014), is a cost-effective way of increasing zinc production and reducing zinc deficiency in rural communities. The Zimbabwe National Food Fortification Strategy, in line with the Food and Nutrition Security Policy, targets zinc fortification in wheat and maize (Chiromba et al., 2020, MoHCC, 2014). According to (Manzeke et al., 2020), most plant-based diets in Africa are often zinc deficient. Manzeke-Kangara et al. (2021) postulate that smallholder farmers in Zimbabwe can improve zinc concentration in maize and legumes through improving fertility management and agronomic biofortification. Growing crops rich in zinc is an important intervention to reduce zinc deficiency in rural communities.

Although sugar bean has a high protein content, its water footprint was extremely high compared to all other crops grown in the scheme. In general, sugar beans have a higher protein content than other crops grown in SISs (Chitsiku, 1989). Given that protein is required in extremely large quantities, it will not be sustainable to base its supply on crops with low protein content, although they have a relatively low protein-water footprint compared to beans. Although crops like wheat and maize have a lower protein content, their production and consumption will positively contribute to reducing protein deficiency in rural communities (Setimela *et al.*, 2017). According to Setimela *et al.* (2017), the limited adoption of high-yielding of quality protein maize varieties results in high levels of stunting and kwashiorkor in SSA.

Farmers in the SISs are recommended to grow squash given its high vitamin A content, despite its relatively higher water footprint than other crops. Generally, squash is an excellent source of vitamins compared to other crops (Alam *et al.*, 2020, Salehi, 2021, Lee *et al.*, 2018). Squash production ensures improved access to vitamin A to Zimbabwe's rural communities. Lowering the water footprint of squash by improving yield will immensely contribute to improving access to

vitamin A in a water-saving way. Onion can reach 54.5 t/ha under irrigation (Hussain et al., 2018), while squash can yield 33.9t/ha with irrigation (Wetzel and Stone, 2019). Squash and carrots, which are orange or dark yellow-fleshed, are rich in Vitamin A (Sokolow et al., 2019); introducing crops like carrots may improve vitamin-water footprint and access to essential micronutrients like vitamin A among rural communities. Vitamin A supports cell growth (Clagett-Dame and Knutson, 2011), immune function (Ross, 2012), foetal and reproduction development (Clagett-Dame and Knutson, 2011), and eye health (Zhong et al., 2012). Based on these findings, there is potential for improving the yield of cucumber, onion, and squash, hence lowering the water footprint of these crops as well as the vitamin-water footprint. Given that maize is an important staple food crop in Zimbabwe, extensively consumed across the nation (Gracia-Romero et al., 2018), its biofortification with vitamin A will improve vitamin content in maize. UN (2016) reported that 48% of the children aged 6 - 59 months in SSA have high vitamin A deficiency. Further, the potential of biofortification of maize with iron (UNESCO, 2020), zinc (Chiromba et al., 2020, MoHCC, 2014), protein (Hossain et al., 2019), and provitamin A (Hossain et al., 2019, UN, 2016), is an entry point to reduce overall water footprint. Biofortification will ensure food and nutritional security (Hossain et al., 2019), improving diets in rural areas. However, there is a need to explore whether the penetration of such technology can strengthen income generation and empower indigenous communities.

In order to solve food, water and nutritional challenges in rural communities, identifying and growing crops with low water footprints and high nutrient content for two or more nutrients like wheat is essential to improve human health while conserving the environment. This will help to fight hunger, especially hidden hunger, while conserving the environment. Production of nutrient-rich food crops with a low water footprint will improve water use efficiency and ensure food and nutritional security (Damerau *et al.*, 2019). Production of crops with lower water footprints contributes to SISs' ability to compart current and future food and nutrition insecurities, which can be worsened in the coming decades as climate change is expected to result in water scarcity (Damerau *et al.*, 2019).

Farmers in the schemes produce crops to meet the market demand other than ensuring food and nutritional needs of the local community, hence attractive markets as far as Gweru town and Bulawayo were their preference. However, there was no criteria used to select the crops grown. Further, this study does not explore the level of acceptability economically. Therefore, there is need to explore the level of economically and culturally acceptability of crops grown in the scheme. Sokolow *et al.* (2019) noted that supply chain influences land-use changes resulting in trade-offs between environmental, social, and economic factors. Although authors agree that schemes were developed to ensure food and nutritional security among the rural community (Dube and Sigauke, 2015, Hanjra and Williams, 2020), their contribution to household income is irrefutable. Hence, farmers opt for crops that meet market demands. There is a need to explore the dynamics of crop utilization by scheme households and sales of crops produced in the schemes.

Further, there is a need to explore the contribution of income from crop sales towards the scheme household nutritional security. Adjusting fertilizer application can be considered based on the costs and benefits of the scheme farmers (Sokolow *et al.*, 2019). Lowering the water footprint and enhancing water productivity in SISs requires collaborative efforts of various stakeholders (breeders, agronomists, policymakers, and donors) (Sokolow *et al.*, 2019).

This study sought to provide context-specific information on the ground circumstances of water footprint and nutrition content among SISs. The findings from this study are essential to address malnutrition and food security without compromising the global freshwater boundary. Based on this study's findings, there is a need for the nation to implement the national-based dietary guidelines, suggesting the production of food crops with limited use of freshwater while providing adequate essential nutrients. Sokolow *et al.* (2019) postulate water footprint analysis as a starting point to understand complex food systems. Thus, exploring policies related to nutritional security and water use efficiency and their implementation in irrigation schemes is necessary. The matrix of water footprint and nutrient content offers a sustainable way of addressing multiple Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) related to health and wellbeing, food and nutritional security, and environmental sustainability. The finding from this study contributes to an interdisciplinary approach of the food system to addressing food and nutritional insecurity, given high-level water requirements for irrigation farming.

### 6.5 Conclusion

This study assessed the water footprint and nutrient content of crops grown in three SISs (Exchange, Insukamini, and Ruchanyu) in Midlands province of Zimbabwe. The study sought to find water-efficient alternatives for ensuring an adequate supply of essential nutrients to rural

communities. Smallholder irrigation farmers produce a wide range of crops. Poor yield contributes to the higher water footprint of most crops, given that yield was below the standard of the region. This study concluded that cucumber, okra, and cabbages have low water footprints, while sugar beans has a high-water footprint. For crops grown in the scheme, sugar beans have high protein content; wheat has high iron content, squash has high vitamin A content, while okra has high zinc content. The matrix of water footprint and nutrient content differs among the crops grown in the scheme; hence, it is environmentally sustainable to produce crops with lower nutrient-water footprints. Prioritizing the production of food crops with a lower nutrient-water footprint will ensure SDGs relating to health and wellbeing, food and nutrition, and environmental sustainability are met.

### References

- Abbaspour, N., Hurrell, R. and Kelishadi, R., 2014. Review on iron and its importance for human health. *Journal of research in medical sciences: the official journal of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences*, 19, 164.
- Alam, M. K., Sams, S., Khan, M. S., Azmir, J., Ahsan, M., Akhtaruzzaman, M. and Islam, S. N., 2020. Profiling of minerals, water soluble vitamins and carotenoid in selected unconventional leafy and non-leafy vegetables of Bangladesh. *Natural Product Research*, 1-5.
- Allen, M., Babiker, M., Chen, Y., De Coninck, H., Connors, S., Van Diemen, R., Dube, O., Ebi, K., Engelbrecht, F. and Ferrat, M., 2018. Summary for policymakers global warming of 1.5 C: an IPCC special report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5 C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emissions pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change. *World Meteorological Organization*, 1 24.
- Bacon, C. M., Sundstrom, W. A., Stewart, I. T., Maurer, E. and Kelley, L. C., 2021. Towards smallholder food and water security: Climate variability in the context of multiple livelihood hazards in Nicaragua. *World Development*, 143, 105468.
- Banovic, M., Arvola, A., Pennanen, K., Duta, D. E., Brückner-Gühmann, M., Lähteenmäki, L. and Grunert, K. G., 2018. Foods with increased protein content: A qualitative study on European consumer preferences and perceptions. *Appetite*, 125, 233 – 243.

- Berhe, K., Gebrearegay, F. and Gebremariam, H., 2019. Prevalence and associated factors of zinc deficiency among pregnant women and children in Ethiopia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *BMC public health*, 19, 1 – 11.
- Bhutta, Z. A., Berkley, J. A., Bandsma, R. H., Kerac, M., Trehan, I. and Briend, A., 2017. Severe childhood malnutrition. *Nature reviews Disease primers*, 3, 1 18.
- Bocchiola, D., Nana, E. and Soncini, A., 2013. Impact of climate change scenarios on crop yield and water footprint of maize in the Po valley of Italy. *Agricultural water management*, 116, 50 – 61.
- Borras Jr, S. M., Mills, E. N., Seufert, P., Backes, S., Fyfe, D., Herre, R. and Michéle, L., 2020. Transnational land investment web: land grabs, TNCs, and the challenge of global governance. *Globalizations*, 17, 608 – 628.
- Brewis, A., Workman, C., Wutich, A., Jepson, W., Young, S., Household Water Insecurity Experiences–Research Coordination Network (HWISE-RCN), Adams, E., Ahmed, J.F., Alexander, M., Balogun, M. and Boivin, M., 2020. Household water insecurity is strongly associated with food insecurity: Evidence from 27 sites in low-and middle-income countries. *American Journal of Human Biology*, 32, e23309.
- Burlingame, B., 2001. What is a nutrient?. Journal of Food Composition and Analysis, 14(1), p.1.
- Butnariu, M. and Butu, A., 2015. Chemical composition of Vegetables and their products. *Handbook of Food Chemistry*, 627 – 692.
- Chancellor, F. and Hide, J., 1996. Smallholder irrigation: ways forward. Guidelines for achieving appropriate scheme design. Volume 2 Summary of case studies.
- Chanza, N., Chigona, A., Nyahuye, A., Mataera-Chanza, L., Mundoga, T. and Nondo, N., 2019. Diagnosing barriers to climate change adaptation at community level: reflections from Silobela, Zimbabwe. *GeoJournal*, 84, 771 – 783.
- Chawafambira, A., Nyoni, Q. and Mkungunugwa, T., 2021. The potential of utilizing Provitamin A-biofortified maize in producing mutwiwa, a Zimbabwean traditional fermented food. *Food Science & Nutrition*, 9, 1521 – 1529.
- Chikozho, C., 2010. Applied social research and action priorities for adaptation to climate change and rainfall variability in the rainfed agricultural sector of Zimbabwe. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C*, 35, 780 – 790.

- Chiromba, A. K., Ncube, T. N., Teta, I. N. and Nyadzayo, T. K., 2020. Addressing Micronutrient Deficiencies in Zimbabwe: Achievements, Challenges and Future Actions. *Journal of Health Science*, 8, 116 – 125.
- Chitsiku, I. C., 1989. Nutritive value of foods of Zimbabwe. Zambezia, 16, 67 97.
- Clagett-Dame, M. and Knutson, D., 2011. Vitamin A in reproduction and development. *Nutrients,* 3, 385 428.
- Cox, M., Arnold, G. and Tomás, S. V., 2010. A review of design principles for community-based natural resource management. *Ecology and Society*, 15.
- Damerau, K., Waha, K. and Herrero, M., 2019. The impact of nutrient-rich food choices on agricultural water-use efficiency. *Nature Sustainability*, 2, 233 241.
- Dube, K. and Sigauke, E., 2015. Irrigation Technology for smallholder farmers: A strategy for achieving household food security in Lower Gweru Zimbabwe. South African Journal of Agricultural Extension, 43, 1 – 11.
- Dube, K. and Nhamo, G., 2020. Vulnerability of nature-based tourism to climate variability and change: Case of Kariba resort town, Zimbabwe. Journal of Outdoor Recreation and Tourism, 29, p.100281.
- FAO, 2011. The state of the world's land and water resources for food and agriculture. Rome, Italy.
- FAO, 2017. The Future of Food and Agriculture: Trends and Challenges. Rome: FAO.
- FAO, IFAD., UNICEF., WFP. and WHO., 2021. The state of food security and nutrition in the world 2020: Transforming food systems for food security, improved nutrition and affordable healthy diets for all., Rome, FAO.
- FNC, 2018. Zimbabwe national nutrition survey. Harare: Food and Nutrition Council.
- Gemede, H. F., Haki, G. D., Beyene, F., Woldegiorgis, A. Z. and Rakshit, S. K., 2016. Proximate, mineral, and antinutrient compositions of indigenous Okra (Abelmoschus esculentus) pod accessions: implications for mineral bioavailability. *Food science & nutrition*, 4, 223 – 233.
- Gleeson, T., Wang-Erlandsson, L., Zipper, S. C., Porkka, M., Jaramillo, F., Gerten, D., Fetzer, I., Cornell, S. E., Piemontese, L. and Gordon, L. J., 2020. The water planetary boundary: interrogation and revision. *One Earth*, 2, 223 – 234.
- GoZ, 2020. National Development Strategy 1. Harare: Government Printers.

- Gracia-Romero, A., Vergara-Díaz, O., Thierfelder, C., Cairns, J. E., Kefauver, S. C. and Araus, J. L., 2018. Phenotyping conservation agriculture management effects on ground and aerial remote sensing assessments of maize hybrids performance in Zimbabwe. *Remote sensing*, 10, 349.
- Hanjra, M. A. and Williams, T. O., 2020. Global Change and Investments in Smallholder Irrigation for Food and Nutrition Security in Sub-Saharan Africa. *The Role of Smallholder Farms in Food and Nutrition Security*. Springer, Cham.
- Hoekstra, A. Y., Chapagain, A. K., Mekonnen, M. M. and Aldaya, M. M., 2011. *The water footprint assessment manual: Setting the global standard*, Routledge.
- Hossain, F., Muthusamy, V., Zunjare, R. U. and Gupta, H. S., 2019. Biofortification of maize for protein quality and provitamin-a content. *Nutritional Quality Improvement in Plants*. Springer.
- Hussain, S., Cheema, M. J. M., Waqas, M. S. and Waqas, A., 2018. Effect of potash application on growth and yield of onion crop with drip system. *Proceedings of 2nd International Conference on Horticultural Sciences*, 195 – 201.
- IFAD, 2016. Smallholder Irrigation Revitalization Programme Final Project Design Report. Harare, Zimbambwe: IFAD.
- IPC, 2020. Food insecurity driven by poor harvests, reduced income & high food prices partially mitigated by increased humanitarian food assistance. Available: https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/IPC\_Zimbabwe\_Acute\_Food\_Insec urity\_2020Oct2021Mar\_Report.pdf (Accessed 18/09/2021).
- Lee, S., Choi, Y., Jeong, H. S., Lee, J. and Sung, J., 2018. Effect of different cooking methods on the content of vitamins and true retention in selected vegetables. *Food science and biotechnology*, 27, 333 342.
- Lemoine, A. and Tounian, P., 2020. Childhood anemia and iron deficiency in sub-Saharan Africarisk factors and prevention: A review. *Archives de Pédiatrie*.
- Leng, G. and Hall, J. W., 2021. Where is the Planetary Boundary for freshwater being exceeded because of livestock farming? *Science of the Total Environment*, 760, 144035.
- Ligtvoet, W., Hilderink, H., Bouwman, A., Puijenbroek, P., Lucas, P. and Witmer, M., 2014. Towards a world of cities in 2050. *An outlook on water-related challenges. Background*

report to the UN-Habitat Global Report. PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency.

- Lokeshwar, M., Mehta, M., Mehta, N., Shelke, P. and Babar, N., 2011. Prevention of iron deficiency anemia (IDA): How far have we reached? *The Indian Journal of Pediatrics*, 78, 593 – 602.
- Manzeke-Kangara, M. G., Joy, E. J., Mtambanengwe, F., Chopera, P., Watts, M. J., Broadley, M.
  R. and Mapfumo, P., 2021. Good soil management can reduce dietary zinc deficiency in Zimbabwe. *CABI Agriculture and Bioscience*, 2, 1 12.
- Manzeke, M. G., Mtambanengwe, F., Watts, M. J., Broadley, M. R., R Murray, L. and Mapfumo, P., 2020. Nitrogen effect on zinc biofortification of maize and cowpea in Zimbabwean smallholder farms. *Agronomy Journal*, 112, 2256 – 2274.
- Matsa, M., 2012. Crop diversity measurement at Dufuya gardens and Insukamini irrigation scheme in Lower Gweru communal lands. *Journal of Environmental Science and Engineering. B*, 1.
- Mekonnen, M. M. and Hoekstra, A. Y., 2011. The green, blue and grey water footprint of crops and derived crop products. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 15, 1577 1600.
- Mekonnen, M. M. and Hoekstra, A. Y., 2014. Water footprint benchmarks for crop production: A first global assessment. *Ecological indicators*, 46, 214 223.
- Mhembwe, S., Chiunya, N. and Dube, E., 2019. The contribution of small-scale rural irrigation schemes towards food security of smallholder farmers in Zimbabwe. *Jàmbá: Journal of Disaster Risk Studies*, 11, 1 – 11.
- MOHCC, 2014. Zimbabwe National Food Fortification Strategy 2014-2018. *In:* CARE, M. O. H. A. C. (ed.). Harare: MoHCC.
- Moretti, D., Biebinger, R., Bruins, M. J., Hoeft, B. and Kraemer, K., 2014. Bioavailability of iron, zinc, folic acid, and vitamin A from fortified maize. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1312, 54 65.
- Muriuki, J. M., Mentzer, A. J., Webb, E. L., Morovat, A., Kimita, W., Ndungu, F. M., Macharia, A. W., Crane, R. J., Berkley, J. A. and Lule, S. A., 2020. Estimating the burden of iron deficiency among African children. *BMC medicine*, 18, 1 – 14.

- Mustafa, M., Mayes, S. and Massawe, F., 2019. Crop diversification through a wider use of underutilised crops: A strategy to ensure food and nutrition security in the face of climate change. *Sustainable solutions for food security*. Springer.
- Mwangi, M. N., Phiri, K. S., Abkari, A., Gbané, M., Bourdet-Sicard, R., Braesco, V. A., Zimmermann, M. B. and Prentice, A. M., 2017. Iron for Africa—Report of an Expert Workshop. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- Nuss, E. T. and Tanumihardjo, S. A., 2010. Maize: a paramount staple crop in the context of global nutrition. *Comprehensive reviews in food science and food safety*, 9, 417 436.
- Nyamayevu, D. and Chinopfukutwa, G. L., 2018. An assessment of the reliability and adequacy of irrigation water in small holder irrigation schemes. *International Journal Scientific & Engineering Research*, 6, 14 19.
- Nyambo, P. and Wakindiki, I. I., 2015. Water footprint of growing vegetables in selected smallholder irrigation schemes in South Africa. *Water SA*, 41, 571 578.
- Philipo, M., Ndakidemi, P. A. and Mbega, E. R., 2021. Importance of common bean genetic zinc biofortification in alleviating human zinc deficiency in sub-Saharan Africa. *Cogent Food* & Agriculture, 7, 1907954.
- Pojić, M., Mišan, A. and Tiwari, B., 2018. Eco-innovative technologies for extraction of proteins for human consumption from renewable protein sources of plant origin. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 75, 93 – 104.
- Ross, A. C., 2012. Vitamin A and retinoic acid in T cell–related immunity. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 96, 1166S 1172S.
- Salehi, F., 2021. Quality, physicochemical, and textural properties of dairy products containing fruits and vegetables: A review. *Food Science & Nutrition*.
- SEEDCO, 2020. farmers guide grain crops. Seed Co. Available: https://www.seedcogroup.com/zw/sites/default/files/Agronomy%20Manual.pdf (Accessed 17/09/2021).
- Setimela, P., Gasura, E. and Tarekegne, A. 2017. Evaluation of grain yield and related agronomic traits of quality protein maize hybrids in Southern Africa. *Euphytica*, 213, 1 14.
- SIRP, 2017. Smallholder irrigation revitalisation program participatory rapid appraisal for Exchange irrigation project Midlands Province Zimbabwe. Harare, Zimbabwe: SIRP.

- Sokolow, J., Kennedy, G. and Attwood, S., 2019. Managing Crop tradeoffs: A methodology for comparing the water footprint and nutrient density of crops for food system sustainability. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 225, 913 – 927.
- Soriano, J. M., Rubini, A., Morales-Suarez, M., Merino-Torres, J. F. and Silvestre, D., 2020. Aflatoxins in organs and biological samples from children affected by kwashiorkor, marasmus and marasmic-kwashiorkor: A scoping review. *Toxicon*.
- UN, 2016. Zimbabwe facing worst malnutrition rates in 15 years UNICEF. Available: https://news.un.org/en/story/2016/03/524402-zimbabwe-facing-worst-malnutrition-rates-15-years-unicef (Accessed 10/07/2021).
- UNESCO, 2020. Water and climate change: Facts and figures. The United Nations World Water Development Report 2020. Perugia, Italy: UNESCO.
- UNSCN 2017, By 2030, end all forms of malnutrition and leave no one behind. UNSCN.
- Vassilakou, T., 2021. Childhood Malnutrition: Time for Action. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- Venkataramanan, V., Collins, S. M., Clark, K. A., Yeam, J., Nowakowski, V. G. and Young, S. L., 2020. Coping strategies for individual and household-level water insecurity: A systematic review. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water*, 7, e1477.
- Wang, M., Kong, F., Liu, R., Fan, Q. and Zhang, X., 2020. Zinc in wheat grain, processing, and food. *Frontiers in nutrition*, 7, 124.
- Wetzel, J. and Stone, A., 2019. Yield response of winter squash to irrigation regime and planting density. *HortScience*, 54, 1190 1198.
- Wong, K. W., Yap, C. K., Nulit, R., Omar, H., Aris, A. Z., Cheng, W. H., Latif, M. T. and Leow,
  C. S., 2019. Zn in vegetables: A review and some insights. *Integr. Food Nutr. Metab*, 6, 1-7.

Zhong, M., Kawaguchi, R., Kassai, M. and Sun, H., 2012. Retina, retinol, retinal and the natural history of vitamin A as a light sensor. *Nutrients*, 4, 2069 – 2096.

# **CHAPTER 7**

## **CONCLUSIONS, RECOMMENDATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH**

### 7.1 Conclusions

This thesis assesses the a) vulnerability of farmers in SISs to climate change, b) gender perception on pest management, c) crop and nutrient water footprint, and d) socio-demographic, governance and institutional factors influencing adaptive capacity in SISs, namely Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu located in the Midlands Province, Zimbabwe. These are essential topics that require significant research attention given the poor performance of SISs in majority of countries in SSA, including Zimbabwe.

Results of the institutional and governance factors influencing adaptive capacity in Chapter 4 illustrate how socio-demographic, institutional and governance factors influence the adaptive capacity of smallholder irrigation farmers in Zimbabwe. The hypothesis that stronger institutions influence adaptive capacity in smallholder irrigation systems was accepted. Institutional elements influence adaptive capacity. This study shapes the adaptation of institutions in SISs by identifying areas where improvements are needed. Further, strengthening institutions in SISs will improve adaptation to climate change. This can be achieved by understanding factors that affect adaptation to climate change at the local level. Findings from this study reveal that adaptive capacity of scheme farmers was significantly influenced by socio-demographic, institutional and governance factors. Nevertheless, there is need to explore the root cause of this relationship. Understanding and addressing such factors will help scheme farmers to cope with the projected weather extreme which decrease their adaptation to climate change. Subsequently, farmers can engage with extension workers, participate in cooperatives and irrigation water scheduling to increase adaptive capacity.

Results for gendered perceptions of pest prevalence and management in Chapter 5 shows awareness of both male and female farmers on the outbreaks under climate change trends. Female participants perceived a higher increase in the prevalence of cutworms, red spider mites, maize grain weevils, and termites. Nevertheless, male participants perceive a higher prevalence of FAW, bollworms and whiteflies. A rising number of aphids, cutworms, FAW, red spider mites, bollworms, whiteflies, and termites and a decrease in maize grain weevils was perceived. These perception on the prevalence of pests shapes the behavior of farmers towards changing pest management practices. Furthermore, policymakers should consider gender views on the prevalence of pests in policy formulation. Perception on the prevalence of pests will likely improve our understanding of the possible impacts of climate change on pest and diseases in SISs of Zimbabwe and the SSA region in general.

Unique agro-ecological factors need to be considered in designing tailored recommendations for improving water and nutrient-water footprints at local, national, and regional scales. Variation of climatic conditions, soil characteristics, catchments area, and water management attribute differences in the water footprints of the same crops. Further, water footprint is constrained by factors such as pests, disease, and weeds. Moreover, some farmers have well-established and hard-to-change dietary patterns, making it difficult for them to adopt crops with lower water and nutrient-water footprints to address food and nutritional insecurities by incorporating sustainable diets.

The last result chapter concludes that cucumber, okra, and cabbages have low water footprints, while sugar bean has a high water footprint. However, sugar bean has a high protein content; wheat has high iron content, squash has high vitamin A content, while okra has high zinc content. The study shows that crops such as wheat, squash, and okra have high nutrient content as well as low water footprint; such crops can be recommended for growing in schemes. The water footprint and nutrient content varies across the crops grown in the scheme; hence it is environmentally sustainable to produce crops with lower nutrient-water footprints. The research also proved that some crops have a low nutrient water footprint for two or more nutrients. This study shows that water-nutrient matrix is essential for recommending nutrient-rich crops that are water saving.

Our study is without some limitations. For instance, the approach could have extended a little bit more into the social-economic dimensions including the amount of rainfall received in the areas and the possible impacts irrigation of irrigation on stabilising crop yields, the suitability of soils for the selected crops and economic viability and acceptability of the crops. Further, taking a few on-site measurements such as yield, and water application could have been used to validate responses from interviews and questionnaires. Thus, future studies should consider these as crucial areas of further scientific inquiry. This study find out that scheme communities are vulnerable to climate change and variability. However, vulnerability varies from schemes to the other, particularly due to variation in natural disasters, social networks and water security. Adaptation to climate change in SISs in influenced by socio-demographic, governance and institutional factors. Further, the findings from this study shows that there is a gendered perception on pest prevelance among the schemes in Zimbabwe. Results show that some nutrient rich crops have low water footprint for example maize, okra and squash.

### 7.2 Recommendations

- There is a need to ensure that disseminating early warning information of natural disasters is carried out timeously.
- The role of extension workers in disseminating natural disaster and weather information must be strengthened as farmers tend to be more reliant on them for a wide range of information.
- In order to improve adaptive capacity, scheme management should support the participation of youth in farming and support the needs of female farmers.
- There is a need for surveillance and monitoring of pests, integrated pest management practices, interdisciplinary approaches to managing pests, crop insurance, and building pest management capacity for farmers must be pursued by extension services and research organizations.

There is a need to prioritize the production of food crops with a lower nutrient-water footprint to ensure SDGs relating to health and well-being, food and nutrition, and environmental sustainability, are met.

### 7.3 Implications

- This study has implications on interventions to address vulnerability to climate change in schemes, strengthen social networks, improve water security, and raise awareness of pending natural hazards and future weather trends.
- Further, this study has implications for pest management practices and food security.
- The study also has implications on water use, environmental protection and access to essential nutrients.

## 7.4 Areas of future research

- 1. The researchers should explore the appropriate combination of factors that might improve the adaptive capacity of farmers in the scheme.
- 2. Future research has to look into the participation of women in pest control contributes to pest management.
- 3. There is a need to explore the dynamics of crop utilization by households and crops sales in SISs.
- 4. It is essential for scientists to identify technologies that can be adapted to improve nutritional securities in a water-saving way in SISs.
- 5. Researchers need to examine national-based dietary guidelines suggesting the production of crops with low water footprint and high essential nutrients and their possible implementation.

Sub-Components	Explanation	Survey Question	Relationship with vulnerability				
Adaptive capacity							
Dependence ratio	Ratio of HH members less than	How many HH members	(+)				
	15 years and elderly 65 and above	are below 15 years and 65	Vulnerability increases				
	to working population $(15 - 64)$	and above?	with increase in				
			dependence ratio				
Female HH	HH being headed by female.	What is the gender of	(+)				
	Either single or husband mostly	HH?	Females are more				
	work in other communities.		vulnerable than males				
HH did not attend	Number of years of formal	How many years of	(+)				
school	education have the HH attained	formal education have the	Illiterate HH are more				
		HH attained?	vulnerable				
HH with orphans	HH members under 15 years with	How many HH member	(+)				
	deceased parents	under 15 years with	HH with orphans are				
		deceased parents	more vulnerable				
Average age of	Age of HH	How old is HH?	(-/+)				
HH			Vulnerability increases				
			with age				
<b>F</b> 11 1		Strategies					
Family members	HH with family members	Do any HH member work	(-)				
working outside	gainfully working in other	in other community for	HH with members				
the community	community	wage?	working in other				
			communities are less				
Dononding cololy	UU primarily abtain their income	What is the main source	vuinerable				
on agriculture	from agriculture	of HH income?	$(\top)$				
on agriculture	nom agriculture	of fiff income?	agriculture are more				
			vulnerable				
Livelihood	1/(Total livelihood activities + 1)	What livelihood activities					
diversification	in(Total inventiood derivities + 1)	is your HH perform?	Higher I DI improve				
Index		is your mit perform.	adaptive capacity and				
maon			reduce vulnerability				
	Fa	od	100000 (0000000000000000000000000000000				
HH dependent on	HH that get most of their food	What is the main source	(+)				
family farm for	from family farm	of HH food?	HH that solely depend on				
food	2		family farm for food are				
			more vulnerable				
Crop	1/(crops grown + 1)	State crops you have	(-)				
Diversification		grown in the past year	High CDI, better adaptive				
Index			capacity and reduced				
			vulnerability				
HH that save	HH that save the crops they	Does your HH save	(-)				
crops for food	harvest for future consumption	crops?	Saving more food reduce				
			vulnerability				
HH that save seed	HH that save seed for future	Does your HH save seed?	(-)				
	farming season		Saving more seed reduce				
			vulnerability				
	Wa	iter					
water conflicts	Conflicts which HH experience in	Does your HH experience	(+)				
	accessing water	conflicts when accessing	More water conflicts,				
		water?	more vulnerability.				

# Appendix 3. 1. Variable selection for LVI-IPCC.

Time to water source	Time that a HH take to access water.	What time do your HH take to get to water source?	(+) Higher distance to water source increase	
HH not have constant water supply	HH face challenge to access water	Does your HH have constant water supply?	vulnerability (+) Limited access to water increases vulnerability	
m' 1 1.1	Hea	alth		
facility	the nearest health facility	How much time do you take to reach to the nearest health facility	(+) More distance to health facility led to more vulnerability	
HH with chronically ill members	HH with members who are chronically ill	Is anyone in your family chronically ill	(+) HH with chronically ill members are more vulnerable	
HH with members who have been sick in the last 2 weeks	HH with members who have been sick last month that they had missed work or school.	Has anyone in your HH been so sick in the past 2 weeks that they missed work or school?	(+) HH with sick members are more vulnerable	
Households not satisfied with irrigation infrastructure maintenance	Households not satisfied with irrigation infrastructure maintenance	Are you satisfied with irrigation infrastructure maintenance?	(+) HH not satisfied with irrigation infrastructure are more vulnerable	
Household not satisfied with water distribution in scheme	Household not satisfied with water distribution in scheme	Are you satisfied with water distribution in scheme?	(+) HH not satisfied with water distribution are more vulnerable	
Households reporting poor conflict resolution in scheme	Households reporting poor conflict resolution in scheme	Are satisfied with conflict resolution in scheme?	(+) HH reporting poor conflicts resolution in scheme are more vulnerable	
Household reporting a decline in irrigation water supply	Household reporting a decline in irrigation water supply	Has water supply to your plot decline over the past 10 years?	(+) HH reporting decline in irrigation water supply are more vulnerable	
Households not participating in water scheduling	Households not participating in water scheduling	Do you participate in water scheduling?	(+) HH not participating in water scheduling are more vulnerable	
Households not participating in water related trainings	Households not participating in water related trainings	Have you participated in water related training?	(+) HH not participating in water related trainings are more vulnerable	
D C	Social N	etworks		
Receive : Give ratio	Ratio of number of HH who receive to number of HH who give in the past year	Did your HH receive help relative or friends in the past year? Did your HH help relatives and friends in the	( - ) Higher receive : give ratio reduces vulnerability	

past year?

Borrow : Lend ratio	Ratio of number of HH who borrow to number of HH who	Did your HH borrow in the past year?	( - ) High receive : give ratio
	lend in the past year	Did your HH lend in the past year?	reduces vulnerability
HH that have not	HH that did not receive assistance	Have your HH get	(+)
get assistance	from the government or NGOs in	assistance from	Not receiving assistance
from government	the past years	government or NGOs in	from NGOs and
or NGOs		the past year?	government increases vulnerability
HH with members	HH with members in cooperatives	Is any of your HH	(+)
not in	-	member part of the	Not participating in
cooperatives		cooperative	cooperatives will increase vulnerability
	Natural Disaster and	l Climate Variability	5
HH that do not	HH that do not receive warning	Did you receive early	(+)
receive warning	about pending natural hazard.	warning about natural	HH that do not receive
about pending	1 0	hazards before they	early warning are more
natural hazard		occur?	vulnerable
Average number	Average number of natural	How many times were	(+)
of natural hazards	hazards in the past 10 years.	you affected by natural	More natural disasters
in the past 10		hazards in the past 10	increase exposure and
years		years?	vulnerability
Percentage of HH	Percentage of HH that lost	Did your livestock die due	(+)
that lost livestock	livestock due to floods and	to climate change in the	Higher percentage of HH
due to floods and droughts	droughts in the past 10 years.	past 10 years?	that loss livestock result in higher vulnerability
Percentage of HH	Percentage of HH with members	Did your HH member get	(+)
with members	injured or decease due to floods	injured or die due to	Loss or injury of family
injured or decease	or droughts in the past 10 years.	floods or droughts in the	member increases
due to floods and		past 10 years?	vulnerability
Percentage of HH	Percentage of HH who reported a	Did occurrence of	(+)
who reported a	rise in drought incidences in the	droughts increase in the	Increase in drought
rise in drought	past 10 years.	last 10 years?	increases exposure and
incidences			vulnerability
Mean standard	Mean standard deviation of		(-)
deviation of	monthly rainfall		Increase in monthly
monthly rainfall			rainfall reduces
			vulnerability
Mean standard	Mean standard deviation of		(+)
deviation of	monthly average maximum		Increase in temperature,
monthly average	temperature		increases vulnerability
temperature			
Mean standard	Mean standard deviation of		(+)
deviation of	monthly average minimum		L' J Increase in temperature
monthly average	temperature		increases vulnerability
minimum	emperature		mercuses vunieraomity
temperature			

# Appendix 3. 2: LVI sub-component values, minimum and maximum for Exchange, Insukamini and Ruchanyu

	Unit	Exchange	Insukamini	Ruchanyu	Max	Min	
Socio-Demographic profile							
Dependency ratio	Percent	80.2	68.9	80.4	100	0	
Female HH	Percent	0.365	0.409	0.297	100	0	
HH did not attend school	Percent	0.5	1.2	0.000	100	0	
HH with orphans	Percent	0.193	0.364	0.568	100	0	
Average age of HH	Years	56.2	52.3	53.1	87	18	
	Liveliho	od Strategies		0.000			
Percentage of HH with members working outside	Percent	0.661	0.529	0.608	100	0	
Percentage HH depending solely on agriculture	Percent	0.922	0.830	0.811	100	0	
Average livelihood diversification	1/ no livelihoods	0.070	0.080	0.070	0.5		
Index	nvennoods	Food					
Percentage of HH dependent on family farm for food	Percent	0.870	0.727	0.946	100	0	
Average number of months without	Month	0.062	0.118	0.101	7	0	
Average crop diversification index	1/ no crops	0.37	0.08	0.300	0.5	0.11	
Demonstrate of IIII that do not source	grown	0.042	0.069	0.091	100	0	
food	Percent	0.042	0.068	0.081	100	0	
Percentage of HH that do not save seed	Percent	0.302	0.136	0.054	100	0	
	V	Vater					
Water conflicts	Percent	0.265	0.364	0.378	100	0	
Average time to water source	Minutes	73.7	74.2	26.4	180	0	
Percentage HH do not have constant water supply	Percent	6.8	35.2	8.1	100	0	
Households not satisfied with	Percent	0.196	0.452	0.616	100	0	
mintenance							
Household not satisfied with water	Percent	0.309	0.484	0.487	100	0	
Households reporting poor conflict	Percent	0.377	0.459	0.481	100	0	
resolution in scheme	<b>D</b>		0.050	0.007	100	0	
Household reporting a decline in irrigation water supply	Percent	0.823	0.859	0.687	100	0	
Households not participating in water scheduling	Percent	0.698	0.722	0.189	100	0	
Households not participating in water related trainings	Percent	0.268	0.853	0.311	100	0	
Health							
Hours to health facility	Minutes	60.2	34.3	35.1	180	3	
Percentage of HH with members	Percent	6.8	6.8	29.7	100	0	
Percentage of HH with members	Percent	7.8	33.0	29.7	100	0	
who have been sick in the last 2 weeks							
Social Networks							
Average Receive: Give ratio	Receive/Give	0.954	0.840	0.846	1	0	
Average Borrow: Lend money ratio	Borrow/Lend	0.302	0.409	0.405	1	Õ	

Percentage of HH that have not get assistance from government and NGOs	Percent	0.5	38.6	24.3	100	0
Percentage HH with members not in cooperatives	Percent	7.8	83.0	54.1	100	0
n Na	tural Disaster an	nd Climate va	ariability			
Percentage of HH that do not receive warning about pending natural hazard	Percent	19.3	33.0	16.2	100	0
Average number of floods, droughts events in the past 10 years	disasters	3.2	5.5	4.0	10	0
Percentage of HH with members lost or hurt due to floods or drought in the past 10 years	Percent	53.1	61.4	51.4	100	0
Percentage of HH that lost livestock due to floods or drought in the past 10 years	Percent	2.6	3.4	10.8	100	0
Percentage of HH who report a rise in drought incidences	Percent	94.3	95.5	81.1	100	0
Mean, standard deviation of monthly rainfall	mm/month	59.58	59.58	59.58	396.8	0
Mean, standard deviation of monthly average maximum daily temperature	°C	0.536	0.536	0.536	24	2.7
Mean, average of monthly average minimum daily temperature	°C	0.393	0.393	0.393	31.8	19.3

# Appendix 3. 3: Contributing factors to LVI-IPCC

IPCC contributing factors to vulnerability	Exchange	Insukamini	Ruchanyu	Test Statistic (p-value)
Exposure	0.419	0.500	0.478	0.106
Adaptive Capacity	0.275	0.330	0.294	0.000
Sensitivity	0.444	0.503	0.442	0.013
LVI-IPCC	0.071	0.087	0.071	0.059